~~ -

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD
B KIS EREHH R E

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RHESEEFMRILNERAR)

Stock code Rg{31t5% : 6162

"

B
i ‘h 4

!

S———

X 30

TIAN RUI




Corporate Information

Financial Summary

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
Corporate Governance Report

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Directors’ Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

]
ol
A\t
Lf

M BHE

ITEHRES

BIEE 5T R R DT

EEXEREREERBREE

TEELRRS

RE-HEREARS

EFERS

BUZBENRS

Contents

ANNUAL REPORT

B &%

Pages
B

15
21
40
97

109

118

119
120
122
124

126

FIR 2024

1



Corporate Information
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No. 6 Weihua Road North

Jingwei Xincheng

Xi’an Economic & Technological Development Zone

Xi’an City

Shaanxi Province

China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Room 602, 6/F, Kai Yue Commercial Building

NO.2C, Argyle Street

Kowloon, Hong Kong

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre
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Hong Kong
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Financial Summary

MEHE

HE12B31HLEE
For the Year Ended December 31

20244 20234 20224 20214 20204

AR¥ETRE AREFRT ARETT AREFT ARETR

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

Revenue A 242,902 245,833 176,094 295,776 379,555

Gross profit £ 43,935 47119 12,675 70,553 116,906

Gross profit margin EVIES 18.1% 19.2% 7.2% 23.9% 30.8%

Profit/(loss) before taxation BrIAEER (E518) 1,377 3,316 (30,333) 8,937 63,255
Profit/(loss) attributable NE) R R R

to equity shareholders / (58)
of the Company 1,966 3,746 (26,010) 7,329 50,874
®12831H
As at December 31

20245 20234 20224 20214 20204

ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARBTRT ARBTR

RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

Total assets BEEME 623,562 528,933 518,034 572,316 625,908

Total liabilities afE4EsE 375,964 283,487 276,468 305,644 355,836

Total equity R 4B 2R 247,598 245,446 241,566 266,672 270,072

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE



Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of Directors of China
Tianrui Automotive Interiors Co., LTD (the “Company”), |
am pleased to present the annual report of the Company
together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”), for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”).

In 2024, with the improvement of the economic situation
and the gradual restoration of norm of living, heavy truck
sale volume descend 1% as compared with 2023, with the
annual sales volume of 902,000 units. This also reinforced
the Company’s strategic direction of adherence to the
“dual-wheel” drive for passenger vehicles and commercial
vehicles, and the Company will continue to consolidate the
leading position in Northwest China’s largest heavy truck
market while actively developing the passenger vehicle
market. The Group recorded revenue of approximately
RMB242.9 million in 2024, down by 1.2% compared with
2023 (2023: RMB245.8 million); The profit attributable to
shareholders of the Company was approximately RMB2.0
million (2023: RMBG3.7 million). The Company does not
recommend declaring the final dividend for 2024 to
shareholders.

In 2024, the Group has been managed by factory-based
operations, conducted relatively independent research and
management and manufacturing according to the product
process, maintained the specialization and sophistication
of the product line, promoted the independent contracting
and profit sharing as the main direction, encouraged the
enthusiasm and independent initiative of the management
and employees, and completed the Company’s system
informatization and comprehensive reform under the
main line of “market, products, TES, organization, and
mechanism”, so as to help the Group create a win-win
situation.

Chairman’s Statement

FTRHBRES

NEHMEIURR :

EANERXRFEXBEAERNBEBRA T
(TxrE) BE5g (TEEg ) BEE2EX QT
REWBRE (TREHE]) 8 1L2024F128
S1HLEEE (KRFEE)) 2EHK-

2024F BERBREBNEFENEZNR
E’J%*ﬁlrg,D—L_fﬁ%fﬁ%%s)o.z%ﬁm’ﬁtt
2023F THE1% - EHEMEBEE T A B E
FRRBHEUEmBEERBEHNHREK
Bi#EZEPEALIRAEE FEDHHS
M UNBER  BiGMABRBEMIE - zls%
BR2024FE B TBRANARKE242.988
7T A EE20283FE FE1.2% (2023F | AR
Woas.8EETT) ; BENRALRAEGRE
FEEHA N AREE2. 0B B T (20234F © A
EB37TEEBT) AABAFTEZEORREIK
2024FFKHARR B ©

2024 > AEBUIHLELEEEE  WER
TEZDHEEBINHENNE  ME MG
miF > UBERE - FBEIBRAETER S
bféﬁ)\gﬁuglaﬂﬁﬁlﬁéai BEBN % -
UTHBZ - ER TES B #5154
ESHRABNBRAEELNE2EEE  BRE
EoHA -
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Chairman’s Statement

FEHRES

For the trend of heavy truck industry in 2025, it is
estimated that the scale of heavy truck industry will be
between 900,000 and 1 million vehicles in the whole
year. In this year, the whole country will continue to
adhere to the general principle of seeking progress while
maintaining stability, vigorously boost market confidence,
implement the strategy of expanding domestic demand,
actively promote the overall improvement of economic
performance, and achieve effective improvement in
quality and reasonable growth in quantity. In this year, the
passenger vehicle market will continue to be supported by
relevant policies and will have huge potential. In particular,
the self-owned brand passenger vehicles are expected to
achieve growth in both market share and sales.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would
like to express my sincere gratitude to our honorable
shareholders, global partners and all employees of the
Tianrui Group. Under the accelerated reshuffle of the
industry, the Group will respond to it with the development
concept of “focusing on the principal business, keeping
innovation, and achieving steady progress (FREF %
FIEAIF 17 E=)", and take priority in promoting
sustainable development and constantly improving
business management. By implementing the TES (K &= it
EIEREZR) and further enhancing its competitiveness, the
Group is committed to promoting its long-term and sound
development, so as to create greater value to reward the
support of the shareholders.

Hou Jianli
Chairman

Xi’an, the PRC, 27 March 2025

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Looking back on 2024, with the improvement of economic
situation and the gradual recovery of social order, the
whole automobile interior parts market tends to pick up.
Taking into account the composition of the market alone,
China’s automobile market is dominated by passenger
cars, and the proportion of commercial vehicle market
is gradually decreasing. Based on the Company’s
management’s judgment on the market prospect and the
adjustment of the Company’s business strategy, the sales
of heavy trucks business sector decreased by 14.7% in
2024, and the passenger car business sector increased
by 139.5%. It is estimated that the sales of heavy truck
business sector will be around RMB150-180 million
in 2025, accounting for about 40%; while the sales of
passenger car business sector will be about RMB200-250
million, accounting for about 60%.

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are the largest heavy trucks’ interior decorative
components and parts manufacturer in North West China
with a market-leading position. Our products primarily
comprise a wide array of automotive interior decorative
components and parts and to a lesser extent exterior
decorative components and parts, which are designed to
be installed on heavy trucks or passenger vehicles. We
offer design and development solutions tailored to meet
our customers’ specific requirements of automotive interior
decorative products including functional specifications and
appearance.

BB E D h

TEME

ClEE2024F  BERKRERBHNTFEMEZ
HEERLME  BESE NS H TS
BREEBBR BENXMBEBRE RER
HEMmBEURBEATE HHREMBGLE
L BN AT EEEBH DB AN A
MABIRKRESHEWAEE ) 2024FFFEH
HERLETRE14.7% TR EEXEHERLEE
139.5% c FAFt2025FE BB R £ HKHE150-
180E B TAA hHEE&40%; RBEER
200-250B Bt LA HEEA60%

7% [o] B8
ZPEERAASPTEHALZEANER FE
MEF T RED  EEHHBRLMAL
flWERTECRERFEARAERE
ANERAERNMZTEHMG HREBEIINGE
B - HABERELFHAEANHERNE
MERIINESEBERRHETHREN
P RLE-
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEREAmASH

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and
sale of automotive interior decorative components and
parts. The breakdown of our revenue by product category
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as
follows:

AEBTEREAENANRSHHFRHERE
Eo NREHHEE20245F K2023FE 12831
HIEFEZEREHNS D ZHMIUKA :

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31HLEE
2024 % 2023
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARBT T % ARBTT %
Heavy trucks’ decorative BN REEMTEH
components and parts 191,469 78.83 224,354 91.26
Passenger vehicles’ decorative AR EEHT 4 K&
components and parts, and fH#E A
related moulds 51,433 21.17 21,479 8.74
Total 4t 242,902 100.0 245,833 100.0

Revenue from sales of heavy trucks’ decorative
components and parts

The revenue from the sale of decorative parts of heavy
trucks decreased from about RMB224.4 million in the year
ended 31 December 2023 to about RMB191.5 million in
the year ended 31 December 2024, with a decrease of
about 14.7%.

The decrease is mainly due to the impact of the overall
real estate cycle in China, which has led to a decline in the
market for commercial vehicles such as heavy trucks.

Revenue from sales of passenger vehicles’ decorative
components and parts, and related moulds

The revenue from the sale of decorative parts for passenger
cars increased from approximately RMB21.5 million in
the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB51.4 million in the year ended 31 December 2024,
with an increase of approximately 139.5%. The increase
was mainly attributable to our adjusted business strategy,
namely the expansion into the passenger cars sector in
2023; operation and delivery of the newly established
decorative parts of passenger cars production line in 2024.
As a result, our revenue from sale of decorative parts of
passenger cars increased significantly.

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE

BERFEEMTHHHEEEZRA

HEEBEE FEEHESBHELENRAH
B E2023F12B31HLEEEMNY AR
224 ABB TRV EEE2024%F12H31H
FEENHNARBIOI. 5B T BIBA A
14.7% o

ZRLODITERHEANRRERNEREEMERH
WEE EFFHRERATHE TBMA®-

BRAEEMZTHGREMERFEEEEZ
KA
HERBEEMTSBHEEENKRABREERE
2023F12HA31HIEEEMNHY AR K21.5
BB T EHE2024F12B31HIEEEMN
ARSI 48 BT IBRBAA139.5%
ZEMTZEHANRMAELSEEE 1
2023 FHA¥E AR BB B W E2024 F 3
BRANRBEEREERENRN > BEE
HEBHNWKAKRBEEERE-



Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue decreased from about RMB245.8 million in the
year ended 31 December 2023 to about RMB242.9 million
in the year ended 31 December 2024, with a decrease of
about 1.2%. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease
in sales of decorative parts for our heavy trucks.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit decreased from approximately RMB47.1 million
in the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB43.9 million in the year ended 31 December 2024,
with a decrease of approximately 6.8%. Gross profit margin
decreased from about 19.2% as of 31 December 2023
to about 18.1% as of 31 December 2024, which was
mainly due to the fact that the newly invested passenger
car production line was in a period of capacity ramp up,
resulting in significant fixed cost investment.

Other income

Other income decreased from about RMB4.1 million in the
year ended 31 December 2023 to about RMB4.0 million
in the year ended 31 December 2024, with a decrease of
about 3.1%. This change was mainly due to the increase in
the losses from disposal of subsidiaries in 2024 compared
with 2023.

Selling and distribution expenses

The sales expenditure was about RMB2.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, which was unchanged
from about RMB2.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenditure decreased from about
RMB35.6 million in the year ended 31 December 2023 to
about RMB32.2 million in the year ended 31 December
2024, with a decrease of about 9.5%. The decline was
mainly due to the decrease in business hospitality and R&D
expenses in 2024.

BB E D h

Bt %% [0] B8

N
WAREE2023FE12A31HILEEENH A
RIE245. EE TRV EEE2024F128
STHIEFEENNOAR®,242. 98 &7t MBI
A1 2% ZBLVETERZBHRAMIWEER
FEHEMSTIMHHEER L

EMNREFE

EMREEE2023F 12831 HIEEEMNH A
K47 1BETRLVEE2024F12H31H
FTEENYARBIZOTET BIBHAA
6.8%° EFEXWYEHE2023F12H31HH
H19.2% B/ L EEH E2024F12831HHH
18 1%  TEHNMBANTKREEERZRER
EEMKE  BEMEATARKE-

Hag A

HMKARE E2023F12831HLEEEDN
WARBA41BETRDE#IE20245F 128
SIHEFENNARKIOBEE T BIEX
B3 1% - ZEBEBTERHN22024FEREET
NE B FERK2023FE M -

HEMX

HERXH E2024F12B31HBLEEENY
ARE2 88T B E2023F12H31
HEEEMNHYARK2 sEE THLRES
1k o

THAX
THEXEE2023F12831HLEEEN
MARMKIS.cEBTRLVEEHE2024512
B31HLEEENHNARMKI2 2B & FiE
HNAEIL% ZEBETERNREE2024F 8
ENBEEMMEERR LR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEREAmASH

Finance costs

The financial cost decreased from about RMB9.4 million
in the year ended 31 December 2023 to about RMB7.5
million in the year ended 31 December 2024, with a
decrease of about 20.1%. The decrease was mainly due to
the decrease in interest expenses.

Income tax

The income tax credit for the year ended 31 December
2024 was about RMBO0.6 million, while the income tax
credit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was about
RMBO0.4 million. The income tax credit was mainly a result
of confirmation of deferred tax assets.

Profit for the year

For the above reasons, the profit for the year ended 31
December 2024 was about RMB2.0 million, while the profit
for the year ended 31 December 2023 was about RMB3.7
million.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL

STRUCTURE

The operating capital of the Group was mainly from cash
from operating activities and bank and other loans. As at
31 December 2024 and 2023, cash and cash equivalents
of the Group were approximately RMB95.5 million and
RMB67.5 million respectively.

The Group monitors the cash flows and cash balance on a
regular basis and seeks to maintain optimal level of liquidity
that can meet the working capital needs while supporting a
healthy level of business and its various growth strategies.

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE

BF 7% o s

M EE2023F12831HLEEEDN
WMANRBOABBE TRV E#BME20245%F12H
S1THEFEENNARK7 SEE T BIEXN
Z201%  ZB L ETEEZHARAEER R L
Ffr 2 o

FRi878
REE2024F12831HILEEENFRERIK
RHAHBARBO6EE T MNEE20234F
12B31HLEEENMERERENA ARE
DAEB T FIEREBEECSTEEZERR T EIL
FREMEE-

HA P9 i F

BN ERER REZE2024F128318 1t
FEMNGEMNAOAARE2 0BE T MPNE
FE2023F12A81HILEFEMNEROASAR
3. 7TEE T

RBEE MBERRERRE

AEBENERERLEESTEREBRLEETH
FTBRE - RBROKEMER NR2024F K
2023F12R31H Zx&EBEREAREE
BYORNAARBISSABETRARKE
67.5B87T

AEBEMERREAERREEH B R
BRBELRBERBEAT BT HREE
AeHER ABDILREBRERERS
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Bank and Other Loans

Bank and other loans increased from approximately
RMB102.1 million as at 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB163.7 million as at 31 December 2024.
Among them, the loans guaranteed by a third party, the
ultimate controlling party of the Company, or a subsidiary of
the Company amounted to approximately RMB92.0 million
(2023: RMB47.5 million), and the secured bank and other
loans in the amounts of approximately RMB63.7 million
(2023: RMB54.6 million) were secured by trade and bills
receivables, property, plant and equipment, and cash at
bank of the Group, and the bank and other loans in the
amounts of approximately RMB8.0 million (2023: RMB Nil)
were guaranteed by the ultimate controlling party of the
Company and secured by trade and bill receivables.

Gearing Ratio
The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2023 and 2024 were
at 41.6% and 66.1% respectively.

Gearing ratio equals total debts divided by total equity as
at the end of the respective year. Total debts include all
interest-bearing bank and other loans.

Inventories

Inventory decreased from about RMB60.6 million on
31 December 2023 to about RMB53.1 million on 31
December 2024, with a decrease percentage of about
12.3%. The decrease was mainly due to the improvement
of the Group’s supply chain and production management
capabilities in 2024, and the reduction of inventory scale.

Prepayments for Acquisitions of Property, Plant and
Equipment

Our prepayment for acquisitions of property, plant and
equipment increased from approximately RMB9.4 million
as at 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB12.6 million
as at 31 December 2024, representing an increase of
approximately 33.2%. The increase was mainly due to the
investment in new projects of the Group in 2024.

BB E D h

RITREMER

BT REMERN2023F12H31HHH A
RI102. 1 BB T E2024FE12831HW
HMARIKEI63.TEEBT - BEF  E=ZHER
BRERERAREAFADERERAOA
R#92.08 B T(2023F | ARM47T5EE
7T S REBEEERNBRT EMEROARRE
63.7HE T(2023F : AR M54 6B ET)
HAEENESERARERERER Y
¥ RBOER BEARRBEE, AARK
ERAEFRIHAEEANEZEERANER
EREEEFNEROARKS. 0OBEE T
(2023F | ARBZIT) ©

BEARBMELEE
R2023F K2024%F12A31H  BXx&E!L
TP A41.6%%66.1% o

EXEBRUEXESREFRANEHBELR
UmBR RHERECEEMASBRTR
HtEm™me

78
FEN2023FE128A31HMHY AR ¥60.6
BB TR/ E2024FE 12831 AR
5318t BENA12.3% ZBLEE
EHR2024FE R BN HEREMEESER
NEFA > EERERK-

BEVME -BERRBEZEMRE

BEYVE BEAXBZFANHEN2023
F12A3THHNNWAREBKIO4BEE TR
2024F12831HHNAOAREBI12.6BE T
BIBH A3 2% ZIENMETEEHRERE
2024FHIBERAFTE °
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEREAmASH

Charged Assets BIREEE

Certain of the Group’s bank and other loans are secured by AEBMNETRTAREMETAHEAERW

the following assets of the Group: UTEEMEER:
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TIT AREF T
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BREREE 85,071 109,855
Trade and bills receivables BRI R EREE 14,096 298
Cash at bank RITHEM 10,880 5,000
110,047 115,153

Capital Expenditure

As at 31 December 2024, the capital expenditures were
approximately RMB33.0 million (2023: approximately
RMB21.4 million). The capital expenditures incurred for
the year ended 31 December 2024 primarily related to the
purchase of new machineries and equipments.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the capital commitments in
respect of property, plant and equipment contracted were
approximately RMB25.5 million (2023: approximately
RMB22.4 million).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
material contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE

BEARE

R2024F12B31H EARIZNAARE
33.0H B T(2023F : N ARME21. 48 E
To) B E2024FE12A31HIEFEEEENE
AR FTEEENMEERRETR-

B AR EKIE

R2024FE12B31H  AEBETHNYE
BEREZBNERENAAREK25. 6B 8 T
(2023F : Y AR 22,4 E L) ©

NE&E
R2024F12B31H "EBITEEME K
HEEE (20234 : M) o



Management Discussion and Analysis

FLUCTUATION OF RMB EXCHANGE RATE AND

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISKS

The majority of the Group’s business and all bank
borrowings are denominated and accounted for in RMB.
Therefore, the Group does not have significant exposure to
foreign exchange fluctuation.

The Board does not anticipate that the fluctuation of RMB
exchange rate and other foreign exchange fluctuations
will have any material impact on the business operations
or financial results of the Group. The Group will closely
monitor the foreign exchange market and take appropriate
and effective measures from time to time to reduce any
negative impact from exchange-rate risk to the furthest
extent.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group had no significant investments held or material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 321 full-time
employees (2023: 361). For the year ended 31 December
2024, the total staff cost incurred by the Group was
approximately RMB42.0 million (2023: approximately
RMB39.8 million), an increase of approximately 5.6%
compared with 2023. The increase was mainly due to the
increase in the per capita salary of employees.

The remuneration policy of our Group to reward its
employees and executives is based on their performance,
qualifications and competence displayed and is
comparable to the market. A remuneration package is
typically comprised of salaries, discretionary bonuses,
retirement scheme contributions, and other benefits.

BB E D h

AR BE R IK B K E R AR

AEENBRABOEFTRE2MHRITERT
UARBERZ RAR SEERIIERE R

B o
AN

EFQUARPARBER K RAECH
KER KNS EHAEBRANEFTHAEFET K
EFHERFE - AEBBRUBERINETS
I ARG ER MBI > E B e 0H
REREXRRBRERNNEERE-

FENEAKRE - EXRUNBETERLEE
FIF

HE2024F 12831 HIEEFEE  AER T &
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEREAmASH

In order to retain and develop the knowledge, skill and
competence of our employees, the Group places a strong
emphasis on training our employees. In addition, the Group
offers a competitive remuneration package to retain elite
employees, and reviews the package annually according
to industry benchmark and financial results, as well as the
individual performance of employees.

MAJOR SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no major events
subsequent to 31 December 2024 which would materially
affect the Group’s operating and financial performance as
of the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED

SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this report, neither our Company, nor its subsidiaries
have purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities (including the sale of treasury shares).

TREASURY SHARES
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did
not hold treasury shares.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2025, China’s economy will continue to
recover steadily, and the long-term positive fundamentals
of the macro-economy will not change. The annual demand
of heavy truck market will show a trend of lower demand
at the beginning and higher demand afterwards, and the
competition in the existing market will become the new
norm. The passenger cars market with policy support is of
promising prospect and can help increase the market share
and sales volume of Chinese brand passenger cars. We will
firmly promote the parallel operation in passenger cars and
commercial vehicles sectors, maintaining our market share
and expanding the external market.

We will continue to improve and continue to promote the
“TES” (Tianrui Excellence Management System) to make
the “Tianrui Basic Law” a standardized model of group
management. Through benchmarking, we will complete
digitalization of the Company’s system, complete the
incentive mechanism for key employees, and achieve a
win-win situation for Tianrui community.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Hou Jianli 2##)), aged 61, is one of the founders
of our Group, our Executive Director, the chairman of our
Board, the chief executive officer and the general manager
of our Group. Mr. Hou is mainly responsible for the overall
management, operations, strategic development and
business planning of our Group. Mr. Hou joined our Group
in May 2009 and has been acting as executive director and
general manager of Xi’an Tianrui Automotive Interiors Co.,
Ltd. (AL XIHAEAMEBRAE) (“Xi'an Tianrui”) since
then. He was appointed as our Director on 27 April 2017
and was redesignated as our Executive Director on 9 May
2018. Mr. Hou is also the director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Hou is also the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Hou also possesses over 30 years of experience in
the manufacturing industry. From August 1985 to January
2000, Mr. Hou successively served as technician, workshop
deputy director, branch manager, chief engineer and head
of the composite packaging materials research institute of
PR PR A s MR (Shaanxi Province Pioneer Machinery
Factory*). Since January 2000, Mr. Hou served as legal
representative and director of B M X F BEH B ER AR
(Baoji Tianxiang Packaging and Printing Co., Ltd.*) .

Mr. Hou graduated from Shaanxi Institute of Technology (Bt
7 T2 5%) (how known as Shaanxi University of Technology
(BRAEE T AZ)) in the PRC with a bachelor’s degree in
industrial electronic automation in July 1985.

Mr. Xu Yunhua (BFE %), aged 47, was our former
Executive Director and the sales director of Xi’an Tianrui,
which is a subsidiary of our Group. He was mainly
responsible for sales management of Xi'an Tianrui. He
joined our Group in September 2010 and had successively
worked as sales supervisor and the head of the sales
department of Xi’an Tianrui. He was then promoted to
the sales director of Xi’an Tianrui in February 2019. Mr.
Xu was also the director of a subsidiary of the Company.
Mr. Xu was appointed as our Executive Director and on 7
November 2022, and resigned on 19 April 2024 a member
of the remuneration committee of the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREERREE

Mr. Xu had over 19 years of experience in the sales
industry. From August 2003 to September 2010, he
worked successively as a salesman, the assistant section
head of the sales department and the head of the plastic
production factory of Baoji Wanhe Enterprise Co., Ltd (&
HHBESEXEMRAT). He was mainly responsible for
market development and overall management of the plastic
production factory.

Mr. Xu obtained his technical secondary school diploma in
industrial electronic automation from Baoji Industrial School
(BT LEERK) (now known as Baiji Vocational and
Technical College (2 % B 2= £ 1722 F%) ) in July 1997.

Mr. Xu is the nephew-in-law of Ms. Chen Bierui, who is
our Controlling Shareholder. Mr. Xu is also the nephew-in-
law of Mr. Hou Jianli, who is our Controlling Shareholder,
Executive Director, the chairman of our Board, the chief
executive officer and the general manager of the Group.

Ms. Zhang Jingrong, aged 50, is the general manager of
a subsidiary of Xi’an Tianrui Automotive Interiors Co., LTD.
(“Xi’an Tianrui”), a subsidiary of the Group, since December
2023. She is mainly responsible for the comprehensive
management of this subsidiary company. She joined the
Group in August 2007, and has successively served as the
finance minister, finance director and purchasing director
of Xi’an Tianrui until December 2023. Ms. Zhang was
appointed as an executive director and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company on 19 April 2024.

Ms. Zhang has over 28 years of financial management
experience. From July 1995 to July 2007, she successively
worked as an auditor in the Audit Office of Shaanxi Coking
Plant, as a cashier and general ledger accountant in Baoji
Radio No. 3 Plant, and as an accountant and financial
director in Baoji Teaching Center of Network Education
College of Southwest Jiaotong University.

Ms. Zhang graduated from Xi’an University of Architecture
and Technology in July 1996 with a Junior College Degree
in Industrial Accounting, and obtained an Intermediate
Accountant Certificate in 2004, and in January 2009 with a
bachelor degree in Computer Science and Technology from
Xi’an University of Electronic Science and Technology.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Honggiang (%4158) , aged 55, was appointed as
our Independent Non-executive Director on 18 December
2018 and is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee of the Company and a member of the audit
committee of the Company. Mr. Zhu has over 20 years of
experience in legal practice in the PRC. He joined Shaanxi
Yongjia Law Firm (BR P X EREMEFFT) in October 2001 as
a lawyer and the deputy director and is currently a partner
of the law firm.

Mr. Zhu obtained a diploma in law from Northwest College
of Political Science and Law (FILEUEZER) (now known
as Northwest University of Political Science and Law (FG 3t
B %A K E)) through self-study higher education examination
(B5EHEE2%5)in the PRC in June 1998. Mr. Zhu
obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from Evening College
of Xi'an Technological Institute (7% T2 E[%) (now known
as Xi’an Technological University (FAZ T# A&)) in the
PRC in July 2005. Mr. Zhu was admitted as a PRC lawyer
by the Shaanxi Provincial Department of Justice (FXFE & B
75 BE) in October 2001.

Mr. Zhou Genshu (AiR#l), aged 60, was appointed as
our Independent Non-executive Director on 18 December
2018 and is also the chairman of the audit committee of
the Company and a member of each of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Zhou has over 27 years of experience in the education
industry. Since November 1995, he worked in the School
of Materials Science and Engineering of Xi’an Jiaotong
University (A& 2 8 A2 MR R 8 B T 72 20%) successively
as associate professor, professor and doctorial supervisor
and is mainly responsible for lecturing and material science
research. During such period, he has hosted several
important scientific research projects and published
academic papers on reputable scientific journals.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREERREE

Mr. Zhou obtained a bachelor’s degree in foundry
engineering and a master’s degree in foundry engineering
from Tsinghua University GBEAZ)in July 1986 and
August 1989 respectively. He obtained a doctoral
degree in foundry engineering from Northwestern Poly-
technical University (Fa3b T K2)in October 1993. He
obtained a post-doctoral certificate in material science
and engineering from National Post-Doctoral Regulatory
Committee (ZEIE+HREIEZEZEF)in December 1995.
He serves as the committee member and secretary of the
Typical Component Heat Treatment Technology Committee
of the Chinese Mechanical Engineering Society (& Bl 52
B2 HRAREFMZEZEF)since October 20086,
the standing committee member of the Heat Treatment
Branch of Chinese Mechanical Engineering Society (A Bl 1
TR E2 T EIEN ) since July 2015 and the chairman
of the Material and Heat Treatment Branch of the Shaanxi
Provincial Mechanical Engineering Society (PR 78 2 #4 i T
REFME RBAEIED ) since March 2016. He has been
granted several awards including the third prize of Shaanxi
Province Science and Technology Award, the second prize
of Xi’an City Science and Technology Award, the second
prize of Chinese University Science and Technology Award
and the Technology Innovation Award of Heat Treatment
Society.

Mr. Chen Geng (BfEk), aged 51, was appointed as our
Independent Non-executive Director on 15 September
2020 and is also a member of each of the audit committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Chen has
over 17 years of experience in the education industry. He
has been working in the School of Economics and Business
Administration of Chongging University (2 B A2 4875 8 T
5 B B 2 %) successively as associate professor, professor
and master tutor since July 2004 and is mainly responsible
for lecturing and financial, accounting and financial market
research. During such period, he has hosted several
scientific research projects and published academic papers
on reputable journals.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chen is currently an independent director of Chongging
Lummy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (stock code: 300006), a
company being listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, an
independent director of Landai Technology Group Corp.,
Ltd. (stock code: 002765), a company being listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, an independent director
of Fuan Pharmaceutical (Group) Co.,Ltd. (stock code:
300194), a company being listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, and an independent director of Jiutai Mutual
Fund Co., Ltd.

Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor s degree in economics from
Renmin University of China (FE AR AZ)and a master’s
degree in economics from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics (FARM M & AE)in July 1996 and
June 2001 respectively. He obtained a doctor’s degree in
economics from Southwestern University of Finance and
Economics (FARFEF £ K2)in June 2004 and obtained a
post-doctoral certificate in business administration from
National Post-Doctoral Regulatory Committee (£ 18
T®EIEEHEE)in March 2009. Mr. Chen obtained the
qualification as Certified Public Valuer and Certified Public
Accountant both granted by the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in September 2001 and July
2004 respectively.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Hou Jianli ##)), aged 61, is one of the founders
of our Group, our Executive Director, the chairman of
our Board, the chief executive officer and the general
manager of our Group. For further details, please refer to
the paragraph headed “Executive Directors” in this section
above.

Mr. Xu Yunhua (FFE ), aged 47, was our former
Executive Director and the sales director of Xi’an Tianrui.
For further details, please refer to the paragraph headed
“Executive Directors” in this section above. Mr. Xu joined
the Group on September 2010, and resigned on 19 April
2024.
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EFREREERREE

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ip Pui Sum (EiiH#), aged 65, was appointed as
company secretary of our Company on 9 May 2018. Mr. Ip
has been the partner of Sum, Arthur & Co., Certified Public
Accountants since 1999 whose scope of services include
the provision of financial statements audit, accounting and
company secretary services. Mr. Ip has been appointed
as the company secretary of various companies listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange including Tingyi
(Cayman Islands) Holding Group (stock code: 322), Triumph
New Energy Company Limited (stock code: 1108), Beijing
Chunlizhengda Medical Instruments Co., Ltd. (stock code:
1858), Golden Solar New Energy Technology Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1121) and Asiaray Media Group
Limited (stock code: 1993) since January 1996, August
2008, March 2015, April 2017 and June 2017 respectively.

Mr. Ip obtained a higher diploma in accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1982 and
obtained a master’s degree in business administration from
Henley Management College and Brunel University in May
1997. Mr. Ip is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising)
in Hong Kong, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants (United Kingdom) and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the Society of Chinese Accountants
& Auditors, the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants, the Chartered Governance Institute and the
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute.
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Corporate Governance Report

IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE CODE

Our Company has committed to delivering and maintaining
a higher standard of corporate governance to meet
business needs and shareholders’ expectation. Our
Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code set out in Part 2
of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules (the “Corporate
Governance Code”) as the basis of our Company’s
corporate governance practices. The Company has
complied with the Corporate Governance Code for the year
ended 31 December 2024, save for the following deviation:

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the role of chairman and the chief
executive should be segregate and should not be
performed by the same individual. However, Mr. Hou Jianli
currently performs the roles as the chairman and general
manager. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both
chairman and general manager in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within our Group
and enables more efficient overall strategic planning for our
Group. The Board considers that the balance of power and
authority will not be impaired by the present arrangement
and this structure will enable our Company to make and
implement decisions promptly and effectively. After taking
into account the overall circumstances of our Group, the
Board will continue to review and consider whether the
duties of the chairman and general manager should be
separated.
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EEXELRKRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is committed to providing effective and
responsible leadership for the Company. The Directors,
individually and collectively, must act in good faith in the
best interests of the Company and its Shareholders. The
Board has established three Board committees, being the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), and the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
(each a “Board Committee” and collectively the “Board
Committees”), to oversee different areas of the Company’s
affairs. As of the date of this annual report, the composition
of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Hou Jianli (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Yunhua (resigned on 19 April 2024)

Ms. Zhang Jingrong (Appointed on 19 April 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhou Genshu

Mr. Zhu Honggiang

Mr. Chen Geng

Their biographical details are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 15 to 20 in the annual report. A list of the
Directors identifying their role and function and whether
they are independent non-executive Directors are available
on the Company’s website.

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with our Company commencing for a term of three
years unless terminated by either party giving not less than
one month’s notice in writing to the other party.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
entered into an appointment letter with our Company for a
term of three years unless terminated by either party giving
not less than one month’s written notice to the other party.
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Mr. Xu Yunhua, the Executive Director of the Company, is
the nephew-in-law of Mr. Hou Jianli, the Executive Director
and the chairman and general manager of the Group. Other
than that, there is no financial, business or other material/
relevant relationships among members of the Board.

The functions and duties of the Board include but are not
limited to: convening Shareholders’ general meetings and
reporting the Board’s work at the Shareholders’ general
meetings; implementing the resolutions passed at the
Shareholders’ general meetings; determining our business
plans and investment plans; preparing annual budget
proposals and final accounts proposals; preparing plans
for profit distribution and recovery of losses; preparing
plans for the increase or decrease in registered capital; and
exercising other power, functions and duties as conferred
by the Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles
of Association”). Each of our Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company.

The Board is also responsible for developing, reviewing
and monitoring the policies and practices on corporate
governance and legal and regulatory compliance of the
Company, and the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management. The
Board also reviews the disclosures in the Corporate
Governance Report to ensure compliance.

The daily management, administration and operation of
the Group are delegated to the senior management. The
delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically
reviewed by the Board.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are aware of their responsibilities to the
Shareholders and have exercised their duties with
reasonable care, skill and diligence, in pursuit of the
development of the Company. Every newly appointed
Director receives an induction to ensure that he/she has
a proper understanding of the business and operations of
the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his duties
and responsibilities as a director under applicable rules and
requirements.
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The Company has been encouraging the Directors
to enrol in a wide range of professional development
courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of Laws of Hong
Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”) or act and corporate
governance practices organised by professional bodies so
that they can continuously update and further improve their
relevant knowledge and skills. In addition, briefings and
updates on the latest development regarding the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements are
provided to each of the Directors during Board meetings
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of
good corporate governance practices. During the year, the
Directors participated in the following trainings:

AAT—HBMEFRME T EEEDN
BB LR A R R (5B 5E B H622
%) (MR REARLEELRR
RESXUERERBLE CRETSME
37 R e — 5 R 5 B AE RO A R B A o b 91
RESEEHL SESTNEREAMLD
RAREMEREERERTEENMEN
REFAL URRAARRARESHRE
CEEARBNER - NER EFSRT
M

Type of training

Directors £5 1EENEE R
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Hou Jianli BEER] AB
Ms. Zhang Jingrong RER A.B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIFERTESE

Mr. Zhu Honggiang E AL A,B
Mr. Zhou Genshu B 1R A,B
Mr. Chen Geng R Bk A.B

A: Reading materials given by the Company relating to the
Company’s businesses and the regular updates on the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements relevant to
the director’s duties and responsibilities

B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to

economy, environment and social issues or director’s duties
and responsibilities
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INDEPENDENCE OF

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The role of the Independent Non-executive Directors is to
provide independent and objective opinions to the Board,
giving adequate control and balances for the Company to
protect the overall interests of the Shareholders and the
Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, the Company has appointed three Independent
Non-executive Directors, representing more than one-
third of the Board. One of the Independent Non-executive
Directors has the appropriate professional qualifications in
accounting or related financial management expertise as
required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has submitted
confirmation of his independence to the Company. Based
on the contents of such confirmations, the Company
considers that all of the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by a number of committees,
including the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee,
and Remuneration Committee. Each Board Committee has
its defined and written terms of reference approved by
the Board covering its duties, powers and functions. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee are
respectively available on the Company’s website.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties, including access to management
or professional advice if considered necessary.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

QOur Company established the Audit Committee on 18
December 2018 with its written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph D.3 of the Corporate Governance Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among others,
mainly to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and removal of external auditors; review the
financial statements and material advice in respect of
financial reporting; and oversee financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control procedures of our
Company.

Our Audit Committee comprises three members, namely,
Mr. Zhou Genshu, Mr. Chen Geng and Mr. Zhu Honggiang
(each an independent non-executive Director). Mr. Zhou
Genshu is the chairman of our Audit Committee.

During the year, the Audit Committee held one meetings.
The Audit Committee has reviewed, among other things,
the financial statements of the Company for the six months
ended 30 June 2024 and the year ended 31 December
2024, including the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Company, report prepared by the external
auditors covering major findings in the course of the
audit, the risk management and internal control systems
and the overall effectiveness of the Company’s internal
audit function and the accounting and financial reporting
matters, and selection and appointment of the external
auditors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Our Company established the Remuneration Committee
on 18 December 2018 with its written terms of reference
in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph E of the Corporate Governance Code. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are, among
others, to make recommendations to the Board on the
overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
Directors and senior management of our Group; review
performance based remuneration; and ensure none of our
Directors determine their own remuneration.
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During the year, our Remuneration Committee comprises
Mr. Zhu Honggiang (an independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Zhou Genshu (an independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Xu Yunhua (an executive Director) (resigned
on 19 April 2024) and Ms. Zhang Jingrong (appointed on
19 April 2024). Mr. Zhu Honggiang is the chairman of our
Remuneration Committee.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one
meetings. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the
remuneration policy and structure relating to the Directors
and senior management of the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent
procedure for formulating policies on the remuneration of
Directors and senior management of the Group. Details
of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements in this annual report.

The biographies of the senior management are disclosed
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report. The
remuneration of the senior management by band for the
year ended 31 December 2024 is as follows:

Remuneration band (HK$)
#EN4ER CBo)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Our Company established the Nomination Committee on
18 December 2018 with its written terms of reference
in compliance with paragraph B.3 of the Corporate
Governance Code. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee are, among others, to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board on a regular basis; identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
assess the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors; and make recommendations to the Board
on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors.

Our Nomination Committee comprises three members,
namely, Mr. Hou Jianli (an executive Director), Mr. Zhou
Genshu (an independent non-executive Director) and Mr.
Chen Geng (an independent non-executive Director). Mr.
Hou Jianli is the chairman of our Nomination Committee.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held one
meetings. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the
policy for the nomination of Directors, the structure, size
and composition of the Board and assessed independence
of the independent non-executive Directors.

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”). The Nomination Committee will
assess the candidate or incumbent on criteria such
as education background, experience, skill and ability
to commit time and effort to carry out the duties and
responsibilities. The Nomination Committee will monitor the
implementation of the Nomination Policy and report to the
Board when necessary. Also, the Nomination Committee
will review the Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure
the effectiveness of the Nomination Policy and will discuss
any revisions that may be required, and recommend any
such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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The Company has adopted a policy on diversity of Board
(the “Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance. The Board Diversity
Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. With a view to achieving a sustainable and
balanced development, the Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and
its sustainable development. In designing the Board’s
composition, the Company considers diversity of the Board
from a variety of perspectives, including but not limited
to age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All appointments to the Board are made on the
basis of merit, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Our Company and the Nomination Committee regularly
review the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy:

(1) Independence: The Board includes a balanced
composition of executive and non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) so
that there is a strong element of independence in the
Board. Independent non-executive Directors have
sufficient talent and number to provide influential
opinions.

(2) Skills and experience: The Board has balanced skills
that are suitable for the Company’s business needs.
The Directors have a blend of finance, academic and
management backgrounds that taken together provide
the Company with extensive experience in various
business activities.

(3) Age: The Board has members from the 1960s and
1970s, respectively.
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In addition to the above objectives, in order to comply
with the Listing Rules, the Board Diversity Policy has the
following objectives:

(1) at least one-third of members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors; and

(2) at least one of the members of the Board shall
have obtained appropriate professional qualification
or accounting or relevant financial management
expertise.

The Company recognises the importance of gender
diversity and recruits employees at all levels based on
merits and regardless of gender in order to ensure there
is a pipeline of male and female potential successors to
the Board and the senior management. The Company has
appointed Ms. Zhang Jingrong as an executive Director on
19 April 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions
set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code.

The Board developed, reviewed and monitored the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management, and the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of Model Code,
and the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS

The attendance record of each of the current Directors at
the Board and Board committee meetings and the general
meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out in the table below. The Directors
did not authorize any alternate Director to attend the Board
or Board Committee meetings.
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

EEXERBRS

Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Name of Directors Committee Committee Committee Board Meeting
Bty BZZEE HFWNZEE REZEE EEg REAFEKE
Mr. Hou Jianli N/A N/A 2/2 4/4 1/1
ERENLE @R TER
Mr. Xu Yunhua N/A 1/2 N/A 3/4 N/A
FEELRS EA EA ~BER
Mr. Zhu Honggiang 2/2 2/2 N/A 4/4 1/1
KAIRAE TERA
Mr. Zhou Genshu 2/2 2/2 2/2 4/4 1/1
ARk
Mr. Chen Geng 2/2 N/A 2/2 4/4 1/1
BR Bk o 4 TER
Ms. Zhang Jingrong N/A 1/2 N/A 2/4 N/A
RERLL A T T
BOARD MEETINGS EFEEER

Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held regularly
at least four times each year and shall be convened by
the chairman of the Board of Directors. If a Director is
unable to attend a Board meeting, he may appoint another
Director by a written power of attorney to attend on his
behalf. Such a power of attorney shall specify the scope
of authorization. Directors attending Board meetings on
behalf of other directors shall exercise their powers as
directors within their scope of authorization. If a Director
fails to attend a Board meeting and does not appoint an
attorney to attend, the Director is deemed to have waived
his rights to vote at that meeting. Each Director shall have
one vote. Questions arising at any meetings of the Board of
Directors shall be determined by a majority of votes. Where
the numbers of votes cast for and against a resolution
are equal, the chairman shall have the right to cast an
additional vote.
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Board’s Independence

The Company has established the following mechanisms to
ensure independent views and opinions are available to the
Board:

(i) Composition of the Board and Board Committees
° The Board endeavours to ensure the
appointment of at least three and at least one-
third of its members being independent non-
executive Directors (or such higher threshold as
may be required by the Listing Rules from time
to time).

° Apart from complying with the requirements
prescribed by the Listing Rules as to the
composition of certain Board committees,
independent non-executive Directors will be
appointed to other Board committees as far as
practicable to ensure independent views are
available.

(ii) Independence Assessment
° The Nomination Committee must strictly adhere
to the Nomination Policy and the independence
assessment criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules with regard to the nomination and
appointment of independent non-executive
Directors.

o Each independent non-executive Director is
also required to inform the Company as soon as
practicable if there is any change in his/her own
personal particulars that may materially affect
his/her independence.

° The Nomination Committee is authorised
to assess annually the independence of all
independent non-executive Directors by
reference to the independence criteria as set
out in the Listing Rules to ensure that they can
continually exercise independent judgement.
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(iiij Compensation
° No equity-based remuneration (e.g. share
options or grants of shares) with performance
related elements will be granted to independent
non-executive Directors as this may lead to
bias in their decision making and affecting their
objectivity and independence.

(iv) Board Decision Making
o independent non-executive Directors (as other
Directors) are entitled to seek further information
and documentation from the management on
the matters to be discussed at Board meetings.
They can also seek assistance from the
Company Secretary of the Company and, where
necessary, independent advice from external
professional advisers at the Company’s expense.

o independent non-executive Directors (as other
Directors) shall not vote or be counted in the
quorum on any board resolution approving any
contract or arrangement in which such Director
or any of his/her close associates has a material
interest.

° The chairman of the Board shall at least annually
hold meetings with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors to discuss major issues and any
concerns.

The Board will monitor the implementation and
effectiveness of the above mechanisms annually to ensure
the Board has a balance of skills, and that independent
views and opinions are available to the Board.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
as the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’
and employees’ securities transactions. Upon specific
enquiries, all Directors and members of the senior
management confirmed that they have complied with the
relevant provisions of the Model Code throughout the
period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual
report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

To maintain good corporate governance practices and
compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable laws,
the Company appointed Mr. Ip Pui Sum (“Mr. Ip”) as the
company secretary. Mr. Ip confirmed having received no
less than 15 hours’ of professional training.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is aware that it is responsible for monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group
on an ongoing basis and review their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The management of the Group updates and reports the
key risk areas, including any remedial plans, if deemed
necessary or appropriate, to the Audit Committee for
consideration. The identified key risk areas and the
appropriate risk mitigation strategies were reviewed and
commented by the Board at its meeting annually.
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The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted review
on the effectiveness of both design and implementation of
the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024, covering
all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee will report
any material issues to the Board.

The Company has established its enterprise risk
management framework for the year. While the Board
has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound and
effective internal controls are maintained, management
is responsible for designing and implementing an internal
control system to manage all kinds of risks facing by the
Group.

The Group structure with operational management and
controls performed by operations management, coupled
with risk management monitoring carried out by the finance
and compliance team. The Group maintains a risk register
to keep track of all major risks identified by the Group.
The risk register provides the Board, the Audit Committee,
and management with a profile of its major risks and
records management’s action taken to mitigate the relevant
risks. Each risk is assessed at least annually based on its
likelihood of occurrence and potential impact upon the
Group. The risk register is updated by management as
the risk owners with addition of new risks and/or removal
of existing risks, if applicable, at least annually, after the
annual risk evaluation has been performed. This review
process can ensure that the Group proactively manages
the risks faced by it in the sense that all risk owners have
access to the risk register and are aware of and alert to
those risks in their area of responsibility so that they can
take follow-up action in an efficient manner.
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Our risk management activities are performed by
management on an ongoing process. The effectiveness
of our risk management framework will be evaluated at
least annually, and regular management meeting is held to
update the progress of risk monitoring efforts. Management
is committed to ensure that risk management forms part
of the daily business operation processes in order to align
risk management with corporate objective in an effective
manner.

The Company has an internal audit function which primarily
carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems, and reports
their results to the Board on, at least, an annual basis. The
Board is of the view that the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems are adequate and effective
during the year under review.

HANDLING OF INSIDE INFORMATION

With a view to identifying, handling and disseminating
inside information in compliance with the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), procedures including notification of regular blackout
period and securities dealing restrictions to relevant
Directors and employees, identification of project by code
name and dissemination of information to stated purpose
and on a “need-to-know” basis have been implemented
by the Group to guard against possible improper and/or
unauthorised use of inside information within the Group.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

KPMG has been appointed as the external auditor of
the Company. The Audit Committee has been notified of
the nature and the service charges of non-audit services
performed by KPMG and considered that such services
have no adverse effect on the independence of the external
auditor.

The Group was charged RMB2.1 million and RMB50,000
by KPMG for auditing and non-auditing services
respectively for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
non-auditing services mainly consist of scrutineer services.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the

Audit Committee on the selection and appointment of the
external auditor during the year under review.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an
opportunity for communication between the shareholders
and the Board. An annual general meeting of the Company
shall be held in each year and at the place as may be
determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than
an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”).

CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS

AT GENERAL MEETINGS

One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit
of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings, may make a requisition to convene an
extraordinary general meeting and/or add resolutions to
the agenda of a meeting. Such requisition shall be made
in writing to the Board or a secretary for the purpose
of requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the
Company, shareholders may send written enquiries to the
Company by mail to Room 602, 6/F, Kai Yue Commercial
Building, NO. 2C, Argyle Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication
policy, which is subject to annual review to ensure its
implementation and effectiveness. Such policy aims to
ensure that Shareholders will have equal and timely access
to information about the Company, so as to enable them
to exercise their rights in an informed manner and to allow
them to participate actively in the affairs of the Company.

A summary of the Company’s shareholders’ communication
policy is set out below.

The Company provides information to Shareholders through
its financial reports (including interim and annual reports),
circulars, announcements and other disclosures submitted
to the Stock Exchange for publication.

To further promote effective communication, the Company
maintains a website at www.trgcns.com with information
and updates on the Company’s business developments and
operations, financial reports, circulars, announcements and
other information.

Shareholders’ meetings are a primary forum for
communication between the Board and Shareholders.
The Company encourages Shareholders to attend and
participate in general meetings to ensure a high level
of accountability and to keep them informed of the
Company’s objectives and strategies. The Chairman of
the Board, other Board members, and the Chairmen
of all the Board committees, or in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, are available to
answer any questions from Shareholders. Shareholders
are given adequate notice of the meetings, and detailed
voting procedures are included in circulars to Shareholders
accompanying the notices of meetings.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of its shareholders’ communication policy for
the year ended 31 December 2024, including the steps
taken at the general meetings, the handling of queries
received and the multiple communication channels in place.
The Company is of the view that the policy is effective and
has been properly implemented.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Conditionally adopted by a special resolution dated 18
December 2018, the Articles of Association were adopted
with effect from the Listing Date and subsequently
amended by a special resolution on 28 June 2023. As at
the date of this report, save as disclosed above, no change
has been made to the amended Articles of Association.

The Articles of Association are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility
to prepare accounts of the Group and other financial
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and the
Company’s management will provide information and
explanation to the Board to enable it to make informed
assessments of the financial and other decisions.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The statement of the auditors of the Company in respect of
their reporting responsibilities on the Company’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set
out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” contained in this
annual report.
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SUMMARY

This report is the annual environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) report issued by China Tianrui
Automotive Interiors Co., LTD (the “Group” or “we”). This
report covers the work in the financial year from 1 January
2024 to 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

PREPARATION BASIS

The Group prepared the ESG report in accordance with the
ESG Code (the “ESG Code”) of Appendix C2 of the Listing
Rules. The ESG report is intended to provide environmental
performance and social performance of the Group during
the Reporting Period, mainly including the environmental
and social issues related to the sustainable development
of the Group which the stakeholders’ concern, so that
key stakeholders can better understand the Group’s
sustainable development concepts, measures and related
performance, etc.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

Materiality

The ESG factors were thoughtfully selected through an
internal materiality analysis undertaken by us. The first
step entailed identifying potential material topics, with
feedback garnered from relevant stakeholders. After that,
these feedbacks were then prioritised with regards to
their environmental and social impact to the Group and its
stakeholders.

Quantitative

Statistical standards, methodologies, assumptions and/
or calculation methods for qualitative key performance
indicators herein and source of conversion factors are all
explained in the respective subsection of the Report.

Consistency

The statistical methodologies applied to the data disclosed
in this ESG report shall be consistent.
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SCOPE AND EXTENT OF REPORT
Unless specially stated, the policies, statements and data
in this report basically cover the Group and its subsidiaries.

DATA SOURCE AND RELIABILITY ASSURANCE

The data and cases of this report are mainly derived from
the statistics report and related documents of the Group.
There is no false record or misleading statement in this
report and we shall be liable for the authenticity, accuracy
and completeness of the report.

PARTICIPATION AND CONTACT OF STAKEHOLDERS
The Group expects to respond to concerns of different
stakeholders on our performance of environmental
and social responsibilities through the ESG report, and
incorporate the opinions of various stakeholders into the
management of corporate sustainability. If the stakeholders
have any comments on the contents of the Group’s ESG
report, please feel free to send a letter to the Company’s
principal office in Hong Kong to contact the company
secretary of the Company.

CONFIRMATION AND APPROVAL
As confirmed by the management, this report was
approved by the board of directors on 27 March 2025.
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1. KEY ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE PERFORMANCE 1. 20245 ESGHEXMEE T
OF ESG IN 2024
Environment Employees Products
IR BT Em
Investment of over Accumulated Training Hours Development of 386
RMB850,000 41,689 hours assemblies
for environmental improvement Rt 53| 2R E41,689/\FF 3861 E 42 5% 58 2%

BARBBESE TARBENE

Waste water discharge have
reached urban Level 3
discharge standards
BEK BERRIEIEE I 88 = AR BE
MR

Greenhouse gas emission
intensity 4 31% over the last
year

BEREBHEREERL | 31%

Solid waste discharge intensity
1 41% over the last year
BEREEEYHIREER
V41%

Proportion of trainees over
100%
23 A8 1htE100%

Carrying out 5 internal post
competition

R ER 5 515

Promoting 9 employees

R’IMOBLET

0 fatal accident at work

O THERIEEH

Development of 2,502
products (parts)
2,502M@%# E & (B4E%)

103 new projects under
development

103EHMIERRE

0 technical innovations

OIERKMEHN

0 product recall
OxERABE
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ESG CONCEPT OF THE GROUP

The Group formulated the concept o f ESG
development by building the “2+2” two-wheel
driven strategy of “commercial vehicles + passenger
vehicles supply chain”, based on the Group’s core
values of “Integrity, Concentration, Innovation and
Win-win”. Under the guidance of the ESG concept
implemented by the Group through applying the six
modules of the Tianrui Excellent Management System
Project (“TES”), tasks are well done in such aspects
as the “top priority to research and development”,
“quality-oriented”, “supremacy of environment
protection”, “quality services”, “sharing development
with employees”, “giving back to society” and
“performance of social responsibilities”.

To better promote the normalized management of
ESG, implement the ESG strategies and enhance the
ESG related risk control, the Group adopts the three-
level governance structure: the board of directors, the
general manager and ESG working group. The Board
is responsible for implementing the ESG management
in a top-down way, the general manager for directly
managing and supervising, and ESG working group
for specific execution of the same.

INTEGRITY: HONESTY AND

TRUSTWORTHINESS, QUALITY-ORIENTED
Integrity: Honesty and Trustworthiness

The Group strictly abides by relevant national laws
and regulations, advocates a corporate culture of
integrity, and attaches importance to its own integrity
establishment. We promote the stable development
of an enterprise featured by ecologically sustainable
growth and strongly object to monopoly, illegal
competition, destroying of market environment,
violation of competition rules and other unfair
competition methods. During the Reporting Period,
we were not involved in any unfair competition or
corruption related lawsuits.
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3.1.1 Anti-corruption

We have developed the Anti-Corruption Policy and
Whistle-blowing Policy that explicitly requires all of our
employees and other external interested persons to
abide by the anti-corruption laws and regulations of
each jurisdiction, and encourages report the potential
illegal acts of employees, customers, suppliers and
other interested parties. As for the whistle-blowing
process, we have set up a whistle-blowing system
and channels to protect the whistle-blowers from
unfair dismissals, persecution and unnecessary
disciplinary actions.

3.1.2 Training on integrity

The anti-corruption strategy of the Group is based
on prevention, communication and training, regularly
advocating anti-corruption policies and regulations
to all the employees and fostering a sense of
integrity. Meanwhile, we conduct regular training and
knowledge competition for all the employees, regulate
the behavior of employees, maintain an atmosphere of
integrity and dedication, and prevent the occurrence
of intentional fabrication and disclosure of trade
secrets, corruption, misappropriation, embezzlement
and other acts that damage the interests of the
Group. During the Reporting Period, we were not
involved in any corruption related lawsuits.
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3.2 HIE - HEAK
321 E5EEZ

3.2 Integrity: Quality-oriented
3.2.1 Quality concept

The Group has always been practically strengthening
corporate quality management, formulating and
following the quality policy of “Quality First, Customer
First, Optimizing Management, and Sustainable
Development”. According to the deployment of the
Group, its management is divided into six modules:
leaderships, customer relationships, projects R&D,
production and operation, supplier partnerships and
employee incentives. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has established a total of 300 TES documents,
including 1 first-level document, 78 second-level
documents and 221 third-level documents, all of
which are classified by level; and 96 leaderships
documents, 12 customer relations documents,
49 projects R&D documents, 88 production and
operation documents, 16 supplier partnerships
documents and 39 employee incentives documents,
all of which are classified by modules. Based on the
basic principle of customer-oriented, we vigorously
promote the total quality management, as well as
establish 4M change management mechanism,
hierarchical audit mechanism, process discipline
inspection and rapid response mechanism of APU.

We strictly abide by laws and regulations such as
the Product Quality Law, the Standardization Law,
the Metrology Law, the Law on the Protection of
Rights and Interests of Consumers. We carry out
business operations in accordance with laws, abide
by contracts, ensure quality and firmly object to the
production and sale of sub-quality products.
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3.2.2 Control of incoming material quality

During the Reporting Period, we attach importance to
the performance evaluation management of suppliers,
and conduct a comprehensive evaluation from four
dimensions including supply ability, technical skKills,
quality capability and service capability respectively,
and had identified 10 suppliers in the yellow list, 27
suppliers in the green list and 754 suppliers in the red
list. The suppliers in black list will be announced and
the suppliers in yellow list will be warned. The three
suppliers in the black and yellow lists continuously
had been eliminated, thus realizing the adjustment of
the quota for our suppliers. Under this management
mechanism, the willingness of supplier to improve
themselves has become stronger.

Under the guidance of the TES of the Group,
we strictly control the access and assignation of
suppliers, and conduct comprehensive evaluation
by referring to the on-site check results, historical
quality performance, quality system, main customers
and products of suppliers. Meanwhile, we benchmark
the industry supply chain system, and gradually
include the excellent suppliers in the industry into
the supply chain system of the Group. We organize
the suppliers of key materials and components and
parts to carry out technical communication with the
Group for six times, introducing professionals and
advanced technologies. We make comparison in
accordance with the method of “Three Unifications”
(unified standards, unified methods, and unified tools),
with 108 standards unified, and go to the factories as
“households in hardship” for providing on-site support
and guidance simultaneously, so as to improve quality
assurance capability of the suppliers and reduce the
non-performing ratio of incoming goods. During the
Reporting Period, the qualified ratio for the incoming
batches of materials of the Group reached 97%.
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3.2.3In-process quality control 323 BFEEEER

Combined with the benchmark enterprise operation
and management system, the Group conducts overall
planning, step by step development, item by item
implementation of 7QB for production quality based
on production and operation of the Company. 7QB
includes seven basic quality principles: qualified first
piece, error proof verification, self-inspection, final
inspection, red box, rework under control, quick
feedback. During the Reporting Period, 7QB has been
implemented effectively.

Under the guidance of the TES of the Group, we set
up a APU cross-departmental multifunctional team
to rapidly respond to the process quality problems,
quickly curb and promote the rapid improvement
of the process problems, as well as check and
curb the customer complaints at the shipment end,
establish the shipment inspection data according
to the factory division to form the heavy truck
shipment qualified rate, car shipment PPM, statistical
indicators in consistent with the customer, develop
and implement the factory quality agreement. We
carry out 4M change management, which includes
personnel, machinery and equipment, materials
and operation methods. The factory will identify the
change points, observe the operation on the change
points, and jointly conduct the first article assurance
with inspectors to ensure that the 4M changes are
carried out under control and the quality improvement
is remarkable. We establish a hierarchical audit
mechanism, which consists of four layers: team
leader, workshop director, factory director and general
manager. Each layer inspects item by item at the
audit frequency through using an audit table, makes
an action plan for non-conforming items, and verifies
the closure. During the Reporting Period, we signed
326 copies of standard samples, classified them
and established ledger management, compiled and
issued 835 copies of SIP instructions, and achieved
standardized inspection of process quality. We
have established a joint inspection mechanism to
conduct a comprehensive inspection and continuous
improvement of system operation, process discipline
implementation, HSE, etc. Based on the basic
principle of customer-oriented, we use scientific
methods to identify TOP process, after-sales and
customer complaints for analysis and improvement.
During the Reporting Period, the qualified rate of
the Group’s heavy card batches of clients reached
99.80%, a year-on-year increase of 0.1%.
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3.2.4 Quick response to quality issues

In order to ensure quality and rapid response,
the Group has set up an after-sales service team
for heavy trucks and cars, formulated “Customer
Complaint Handling Management Measures”
and “Rapid Response Mechanism” to define job
responsibilities and response time (namely, aftersales
service personnel will arrive at the site within 10
minutes after customer feedback), and ensured the
implementation. Under the guidance of the Group’s
operational guidelines and on the basis of APU
interdepartmental multifunctional team, the Group
sets up an 8D informatization process, during which
the main engineers are responsible for solving quality
problems and dealing with unqualified products, and
the promoters verify the improvement results to form
a closed loop. The team worked together to solve 56
8D problems, solidified and spread horizontally from
the management mechanism and operating standards
to prevent similar problems from recurring.

3.2.5 Continuous improvement in quality

During the Reporting Period, the Group has
comprehensively promoted continuous improvement,
aiming at enhancing customer satisfaction. The Group
unifies material property standards, raw material
technical requirements and experimental standards,
as well as implements mold standardization
rectification to realize rapid mold change and improve
the production efficiency. Through the reasonable
suggestion mechanism, a good atmosphere of
participation and active improvement by all employees
is created.

3.2.6 Quality achievements

During the Reporting Period, under the operation
of the excellent management system, the Group
has completed and passed the on-site audit by its
customers such as BYD, YFPO, Elix, Faurecia South
China, Jifeng Auto Parts, and Lear.

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE
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FOCUS: SUPREMACY OF ENVIRONMENTAL

PROTECTION AND GREEN OPERATION

We focus on environmental management and are
committed to cultivating, protecting and improving
the environment. We incorporate the concept of
green operation into the processes of production and
management, and fulfill our corporate responsibilities
through continuous innovation and improvement. We
have set up an environmental improvement team to
save resources, improve the utilization efficiency of
resources and reduce the impact on environment, so
as to promote green integration and build a better
future together.

The Group strictly abides by the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Environmental Protection, the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Water Pollution, the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Ambient Noise Pollution, the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Atmospheric Pollution, the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention Control
of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes, and other
laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period, we
did not suffer any material fines penalties for violating
any environmental laws or regulations.

IRIZ - B REBHERS
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4.1 SAVE RESOURCES 4.1 EHHNER

4.1.1 Management of water resource 4.1.1 kEFEEE
The Group’s production and operating activities mainly AEEBNEEKRETHITEFRAAK
use tap water. In order to improve the efficiency of K BTRAKERENERBRE > HM
the use of water resources, we will be committed BRODRETHREENRMNE@ET
to implementing various improvement projects for ZEMKREEB BREPRN > KEE
water saving in administration and technological MEKEWT EBFRKERL EFH
improvement. During the Reporting Period, the total 35.18% °

consumption of the Group was as follows, and the
water consumption per output value increased by
35.18% year on year.

2023 2024
Density Density
(consumption (consumption
per RMB1 per RMB1
million million
Total revenue) Total revenue)
BE BE
(588 (C=1=3-
AREE AR
Type Ehill mE  WRHES) WE W@mHEE)
Total water consumption (ton)  4BFE/K £(T) 20,899 85.0 27,908 114.9

Repair of water pipelines K E &

During the Reporting Period, the Group has completed the #R&5HRPY > 2S£ [ 52 A% B Ak B2 58 ~ I B 7S
replacement of a total of 48 pieces of daily consumables % H BiEMEST48HE  FEEFEE2N » 41E
such as faucets and foot valves, the repair of the main L& E2Z > KIFiEE K E B RS @[ o
pipelines for twice, and the repair of the branch pipelines for

twice, so as to avoid the risk of water resource waste in a

timely manner.

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE
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4.1.2 Management of energy 4.1.25EEEE
We will actively strengthen the management of KMEBEmNRmBRENAEE iEH
consumption of electricity, fuel, natural gas and E-AXARKEMERENEE  EHiIE
other resources in all processes to strive to improve BEEITHERFRREHNERERBRE-

employees’ awareness of energy conservation and
environmental protection and the utilization efficiency
of resources.

During the Reporting Period, the consumption of REHAR AEENETEERMEIRHE
major energy and resources by the Group is as EBERTWT
follows:
2023 2024
Density Density
(consumption (consumption
per RMB1 per RMB1
million million
Total revenue) Total revenue)
BE BE
(588 (5E8
AR AR
Type il me Wi HEE) wE W@EEHES)
Consumption of FEBE(KWH) 7,257,382 29,521.6 6,566,795 27,034.8
electricity (kWH)
Consumption of fuel (L) FEHEL) 81,857 333.0 43,546 179.3
Consumption of KRR (M3) 299,553 1,218.7 236,582 974.0

natural gas (M9
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4.1.3 Management of packaging materials

The Group has a wide variety of original tooling
specifications, and there are pain points such as
low tooling loading rate, low versatility and large
footprint. During the Reporting Period, the Group
reduced the development cost of new tooling,
reduced the footprint of tooling, and increased the
loading rate of tooling by restructuring and disusing
tooling, unifying tooling specifications, and developing
general tooling (bag tooling/flat tooling, etc.). The
Group vigorously implemented the tooling reform to
meet the needs of diversified packaging sizes, while
facilitating warehouse management and cost control.
The consumption of packaging materials of the Group
During the Reporting Period is as follows:

1.1.3 LMK EE
AEBRTEARBERSZ  FHEIE
HEXE - BAMBNGHEBEARASER
BoREHAN AEEBERAASERET
HE - THEER BHEERITE (K
RTITHE/ERIESE) SHRE BB
THEBSEMA RO TEEMERE 2
BITREEFR - AEBANRTIENR
FlomESRECEERTEKRNER
BREREE RAEH - REHR
SERBEYHEBROT

2023 2024
Density Density
(consumption (consumption
per RMB1 per RMB1
million million
Total revenue) Total revenue)
BE BE
(BBE8 (BEE
AR AR
Type 5 wE  WaEHES) wE  WHEES)
Packaging material (T) SET) 128 0.5 170 0.7
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4.2 Environmental Management 4.2 IRIREE

Through technological reform and innovation, the
Group constantly improves the technological process
and strives to reduce the environmental impact during
the production and operation process. The Group
increases its investment in environmental governance,
purchases environmental protection equipment to
further reduce wastewater and waste gas emissions,
and strengthens and optimizes the management and
disposal of solid waste. During the Reporting Period,
the Group spent over RMB850,000 for environmental
governance and renovation.

4.2.1 Wastewater discharge

The Group attaches great importance to emissions
and waste management. In the production process,
water is mainly used in the cooling process. Water
from sealed pipe network is used in the cooling of
the injection molding machine and the cooling of the
mould water cutting. Therefore, we do not produce
large amounts of industrial wastewater throughout the
production process. The wastewater discharged by
the Group is mainly employees’ daily life wastewater,
including toilet drainage and wash drainage. Such
wastewater will be discharged into the municipal
sewage pipe network after being treated by the
treatment facilities such as grease traps and septic
tanks, and finally enter the sewage treatment plant.
The plants are equipped with rainwater pipe network,
through which the rainwater is collected and flows
into the municipal rainwater pipe network. During the
Reporting Period, the Group met the standards for
self-inspection and mandatory sampling inspection on
wastewater.

AEBBB XM NEMAIF > A EohE
TERE - BHBRBEEENKEBRES
WEREFZE - AEENMKRRELER
AN BERRREB E—PREEEKM
BERBIBE MM ELEREEZYN
EENRE - REPRN TEBRALB
BesB T ANIRR A EHENGS -

4.2.1 BFEKBEK

FEEREERFBYKRENER 17
TEBREFCKETEANSANIEZ X
AR RS A A AR Bk 1) &1 0% Al B %
BEHEMBEREAKER Eit > £%
BEEBEPEAEEERELXE
Ko AEBMBBKEREBERRERET
B & 5 BE K 0 3 R I PR HE K~ R Bk
Ko DA b BE K ASBRH M s (B3 F R 12
REEEERE  FATBSKER
RBREANSKEER BEREHBRK
EM RERATHRKEM - KREH
7o A 5 R K B AT AR R D 58 I AR
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4.2.2 Exhaust gas emissions

The Group adopts organized emissions on dust
and organic waste gases from different stages of
the production process. The dust generated in the
production process is dedusted by a bag filter, and
a gas collecting hood is set to collect the organic
waste gas generated in the production process, and
then collected and treated by a special exhaust gas
treatment facility by “UV photolysis + activated carbon
adsorption”. After the treatment, dust and organic
waste gas are discharged through a dedicated
exhaust pipe. During the Reporting Period, the Group
met the standards for self-inspection and mandatory
sampling inspection on exhaust gas.

The Group’s emissions of and organic waste gas
during the Reporting Period are as follows:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIE - HEREBHERS

4.2.2 BBt
AEBHEEBRRYTTRABHMESE
MMEMBERERFIRT AN
B-BEEBRTEENNERBRAGAR
BERETHERE REERSHE
EBRTEENAERERETRE K
EREEERBEREESRERBIUV
MR+ EERBM ) ARNETEE BN
ENMEMERCEEARAERESR
BHER - REPR AEEAERBEITR
B E ERmARRR g EE

WEMR AEESERANENERH
BUWE

Main emissions FTEHBRY 2023 2024
Dust (kg) ME (A F) 53.4 53.1
Nitrogen oxide (kg) Katta® () 51.0 50.5
Toluene (kg) B () 58.0 57.0
Xylene (kg) THEX () 62.0 62.5
Non-methane hydrocarbon (kg) JE R BRARIE (R FT) 198.4 199.0
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The greenhouse gas emissions of the Group during BREHAR ZEBEZERNEE R BEE
the Reporting Period are as follows: wr
2023 2024
Density Density
(consumption (consumption
per RMB1 per RMB1
million million
Total revenue) Total revenue)
(5E8 (B8
AR AR
Type of greenhouse gas R E R wme  WERHES) HwE  WEEES)
CO2(T) CO2(T) 26 0.11 28 0.12
The Group insists on continuously improving AEBRBFIEBRERAEELIE BT
production processes and optimizing measures ZePRatEN O EIREN N BB IR E
for pollution prevention. The Group installed a BHERH - -RBEREA - -HERAMBIE
total of 10 environmental protection hosts and 10 T HZEIRFREHI0E > BERE10ME -
exhaust cylinders on the injection molding, molding, WEMEN EE - RE HEEER
foaming, gumming, powder and boiler, which will be RI{Ee

monitored and maintained regularly to jointly promote
environmental protection.
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4.2.3 Treatment of solid waste

The solid waste generated in the production process
of the Group mainly includes domestic garbage,
production solid waste and hazardous solid waste.

Domestic garbage is classified and collected in bags
by garbage bins and then recycled and disposed of
by the qualified sanitation department at the garbage
station.

Production solid waste is mainly the scrap produced
in the production process, such as fiberglass board,
black fabric and leather. After being collected sorted
and packaged, the scrap is temporarily stored in
the temporary storage area for general waste, and
delivered to qualified recycling units through recycling
& comprehensive utilization or regular sales. During
the Reporting Period, the Group’s average scrap
produced monthly decreased by 1.20 tonnes year-on-
year, due to the effective cost control measures.

Hazardous solid waste includes oil-water mixed waste
and oily solid waste, and hazardous solid waste
includes oil-water mixed waste and oily solid waste,
and mainly represent hazardous waste, such as waste
oil, waste activated carbon, used lamp and waste
titanium dioxide photocatalyst plates, etc. Waste oils
and fats are regularly entrusted to qualified disposal
suppliers by the government for safe disposal.
Activated carbon, UV photolysis lamps and titanium
dioxide photocatalyst plates are regularly replaced.
To reduce waste, the hazardous wastes generated
during the production process are collected in special
containers with classification marks and temporarily
stored in the temporary storage for hazardous waste,
and are regularly entrusted to qualified disposal
suppliers by the government for safe disposal.

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE
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During the Reporting Period, data of hazardous and REHRN AEBEEENEEEEYA
nonhazardous waste generated by the Group is as EBEBEEYHREBEUWT .
follows:
2023 2024
Density Density
(consumption (consumption
per RMB1 per RMB1
million million
Total revenue) Total revenue)
BE TE
(588 (5E8
AR AR
Type of solid waste B 8 B W EE R mE  WEHES) HE IKWDZHES)
Domestic waste (T) HEERIR(T) 3.1 0.0126 4.0 0.0165
Production solid waste (T) 4 E&EEE(T) 353 1.4408 384.1 1.5813
Hazardous solid waste (T) &M EEE(T) 3.0 0.0122 54.7 0.2252
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4.2.4 Noise management

4.3

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE

The main noise sources of the Group are air
compressors, fans, injection molding machines,
pulverizers, circulation pumps, cooling towers and
other facilities. The Group selects low-noise device,
rationally plans the layout of the plant area, maintains
the various types of noise equipment indoors or at the
equipment rooms, separates material items with large
noise decibels, or adopts vibration reduction, and at
the same time, puts in place protective facilities to
ensure the safety of employees at work. In addition,
the Group sets greenbelts to reduce noise, thus
reducing the impact on the surrounding environment.

Climate Change

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
repeated its warnings and called for actions from
all walks of life to slow down the rate of global
warming. At the “Climate Action Summit” organized
by the Nations in 2019, governments and businesses
across the world undertook to take active actions to
materialize the development goal of “Zero Emission”
by 2050, and further accelerate the transition to the
low carbon economy. In the face of the increasingly
serious climate change, the Group actively took
measures in building its climate resilience.

424 EEEE

4.3
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4.3.1 Transition Risk and Physical Risks 4.3.1 B2 B fR B A8 L e

As the extreme weather is getting worse nowadays,
mitigating climate change has become a global.
In response to climate change, enterprises will
continue to develop emerging technologies, such
as switching to low-carbon energies, supporting the
shifting to low-carbon economies, which would cause
transitional risks and increase in costs. If changes
are made by governments under the “Paris Climate
Agreement”, and reduction is made to the extraction
of fossil fuel, the fuel price would be on the rise,
which may lead to increase in the production cost
of the Company. In addition, we may face more
frequent and severe extreme weather conditions, such
as floods, drought and rainstorm. Extreme weather
conditions may lead to disruptions to supply chains
and operations.

To mitigate and adapt to climate change, the Group
to explore the use of alternative energies or renewable
energies in operations, and endeavored to reduce
emission by taking effective measures and technical
approaches, such as applying recyclable packaging
appliance and optimizing factory facilities. The Group
is committed to improving the rates of resource
utilization in daily operations and reducing operating
costs by efficient management of energies, water
resources, packing materials and wastes. Meanwhile,
we actively explore in developing long-term goals for
emission reduction.

To adapt to climate change, the Group will
monitor and review the latest development of the
technologies, regulations and policies in relation to
climate change, and enhance the awareness of our
employees on heat stress related diseases.
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4.4 Environmental Achievement 4.4 IRIERCEL

Mould development

During the Reporting Period, the Group was awarded
provincial and national green factories.

INNOVATION: TECHNOLOGICAL PROGRESS

AND CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group emphasized
the management thinking of “Strengthening innovation
and R&D”. It adopted the R&D management
systems recognized by benchmarking enterprises,
and enhanced the basic professional ability of
R&D personnel, aroused their working enthusiasm
and stimulated their competitive spirit, by offering
professional and comprehensive trainings, well
designed incentive programs and “horse racing
mechanism” for talent selection, which fully improved
our R&D capability and innovation level. During the
Reporting Period, we cooperated with benchmarking
enterprises to provide 17 trainings in our technical
center, with 58 training hours in aggregate.

2,505@mER (24) B

103 new projects developed
103 @ExmEameE

R&D capacity
fREERES

0 technological innovations

Omi: i & 37

BARE mamxR#509%
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5.1 Enhancing Customer Experience through 5.1 E#ifEIFIEA TR EE:
Technological Innovation

In accordance with the planning of “focusing on mIEAEE 2428 L TE £ ES
the design and development of heavy trucks and BATI B ENEREMR S
strengthening the design and development of 2 MR ORLED A BRI ENSIE
sedans” under the Group’s “2+2 strategy”, the s Z SIS B ERTEEFD
technical center introduced internationally advanced HNTEES O BRETEENRAS
management system and management standards, TRk WEBEBES UIATEEM
and is currently conducting in-depth cooperation HENANGAGBR AR A0 A
with the leading design companies in the industry. T RIEMHEHIEE o L AR = 5 B
By adhering to the management concept of “quality B N AO3 ) S LA EEEE S
and cost are rooted in design”, and the mission of ERNH T BEEUERAEES
“providing customers with satisfactory interior system W ERBBERAt EERHERESZ
solutions”, we are always committed to creating R HE Y > AN R RO R R A8 A
long-term value for customers. During the Reporting £ 2EHBIBS00E T o

Period, we developed 23 types of vehicle interior
products, involving the fields of interior and exterior
decoration and rearview mirrors of heavy trucks and
dashboards for passenger vehicles, seat plastic parts,
lane departure protection covers, etc. During the
Reporting Period, the Group spent over RMB8 million
in technologies and R&D.

Phase-out of outdated energy-intensive equipment

BRENAERBEAEM

During the reporting period, in alignment with the green factory initiative of “phasing out outdated energy-
intensive equipment”, the Group replaced high energy-consuming electromechanical devices. This
achieved a total power savings of 14.07 KW/h, significantly reducing energy consumption and improving
efficiency.

BREHN AEEERGETIRCERENAEREDL  HERSHEERERBETE AL TN ; KA
KRt EEE14.07KW/H > ERFFESER D > SEFEBRREPR(E -
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Retrofitting of circulating water system in injection molding production

FBEERRKRRIE

The injection molding cooling water circulation system has been upgraded from underground water
pool storage to above-ground water tank storage. The circulation pump power has been optimized
from 90KW to 30KW, achieving significant electricity savings. This improvement ensures stable cooling
water temperatures, substantially reduces production energy consumption, and enhances manufacturing
process quality.

S AMBIRK R4 B3 T KO B ke A it EKFE B K BIR KR E HIOKWEIE A30KW > EI B R A
B SAIKRBE LEREARRE SEIZERERA-

Innovative upgrade of fiberglass board curing process

IR AR Mt T 24 A USRI

During the Reporting Period, the Group implemented oil-assisted contact heating equipment to complete
the innovative upgrade of the fiberglass board baking process. The electrical power consumption of
the entire production line was reduced by 350KW, demonstrating significant energy savings. Process
stability and product quality consistency were markedly improved, while production efficiency substantially
increased. Additionally, heating/baking time decreased, with notable reductions in energy consumption
and labor costs.

BREHAN > AEEKA AW ZEEXMARE ST B REREE TERASUSAIR - BIRGETEINEXRE
{E350KW > BB RAARE , REMMEEREMBEENS FENXR KRR S ~ NI ER BRI B K
AN LA BRREPFE 1K o
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Innovative technological transformation of fully automated headliner production line

EfEEZ BB KMTERH

During the Reporting Period, the Group completed the full automation upgrade of ceiling production by
adopting servo control systems, achieving automated material handling and pressing. The number of
operators required for producing the same product was reduced from 4 to 1, significantly lowering labor

costs.

BREHR cEBTREREEEZBHNE  RARAKREGZRA

BRIEABHANBLERIA RKBEET AIRA-

5.2 Continuous Improvement and Enhancement

The Group implements pragmatic recommendations,
leads and encourages all employees to identify
opportunities for improvement in work. It forms a
team to review pragmatic recommendations and
follow up their implementation, so as to reduce
work cost, increase work efficiency, ensure product
quality and improve operation conditions. During
the Reporting Period, the Group implemented 76
pragmatic recommendations, generating an actual
income of RMB197,900.

5.2

CEBERBNMEBYHKRES EER—Em

FEMSHIREAH
rEBRKBTEMNSEBLRESEZ JIENH
BE2RBE T e TEPNER
ZTHoHREERTESBCESZERTR
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Summary of excellent pragmatic recommendations in 2024

024FBELELES
Type of Commencement Completion Actual Monthly
No. Project Name Improvement Date Date Income (RMB)
Fi ERAB HERY B fa R TR ER BERAKE ()
1 Cycle Time Optimization for a Product Increase production 2024-02-29 2024-02-29 12,500.00
Injection Molding capacity
ErBERHNEL REER
2 Optimization of OA Business Travel Simplify process 2024-02-18 2024-02-28 2,000.00
Reimbursement Form
OALERHEERE BibmE
3 Lower Base Plate Grain Pattern Repair Reduce costs 2024-05-25 2024-06-06 495.83
TRRESERE AR A
4 Lower Accessory Box Body Polishing Reduce costs 2024-05-15 2024-06-06 35417
and Grain Repair
THmBRED RN RAEm A
3 Lower Base Plate Polishing and Grain Reduce costs 2024-03-09 2024-03-13 250.00
Repair
TR A PR AL A
6 F3 Left/Right Instrument Panel Polishing  Reduce costs 2024-02-19 2024-02-20 208.33
and Grain Repair
F3EEB&Im AL AR
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5.3 Carrying out Industry-universities-research
Cooperation Projects

The Group vigorously carries out industry-university
research cooperation projects, introduces high-quality
resources from universities and society, and maintains
the advanced research and development capacity.

Appointment of Dr. Chu Jianjie as the

Chief Expert of Group

Dr. Chu Jianjie, an associate professor of the School of
Mechanical Engineering of Northwestern Polytechnical
University, is mainly engaged in the research of fields
including industrial product design and development,
industrial design of equipment manufacturing, and
ergonomic evaluation technology. Mr. Chu has been the
deputy director of the Key Laboratory of Industrial Design
and Ergonomics of the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of Northwestern Polytechnical University since
2018 and the deputy director of the Shaanxi Industrial
Design and Development Center of Northwestern
Polytechnical University. He has won various awards such
as the second prize of the National Teaching Achievement
Award and the third prize of the Shaanxi Science and
Technology Progress Award.

Dr. Chu Jianjie has been the chief expert of the Group since
2019, focusing on the research of fields including digital
design, product design, simulation of ergonomic design,
and development of new products.

IRIZ - B REBHERS
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Industry-university-research cooperation with the Key
Laboratory of Industrial Design and Ergonomics of
the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of

BRETEARBTEREARINIGEE
ENEREFARERHMSHE

Northwestern Polytechnical University

Northwestern Polytechnical University is the only
multidisciplinary and research-oriented university in China
that is simultaneously developing education and research
programs in the fields of aeronautics, astronautics, and
marine technology engineering. It is now affiliated to the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology. It is one
of the universities of the “211 Project”, “985 Project” and
“First-class Universities” (Class A) in China. As one of the
earliest universities in China to develop talents for modern
industrial design, conduct scientific research and provide
design services, Northwestern Polytechnical University is
a vice-chairman of China Industrial Design Association,
a vice president of Innovation Design Alliance of China
and the Industrial Design Institution of China Mechanical
Engineering Society, and a deputy chairman of the Teaching

Steering Subcommittee of Industrial Design of the Ministry

of Education, and has high status and good reputation in
the domestic industrial design community.

Northwestern Polytechnical University has been devoted
to the research of fields including digital design, product
design, and simulation of ergonomic design and
development of new products. It has undertaken dozens
of major and technological research projects such as the
National 863 Program, the National Science and Technology
Support Plan, the National Natural Science Foundation, the
National Manned Space Project, and the Basic Research on
National Defense.

The Group carried out industry-university-research
cooperation with the Key Laboratory of Industrial Design
and Ergonomics of the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of Northwestern Polytechnical University,

and provided design services and technical support for

developing new products by leveraging the resources of the
Key Laboratory of Industrial Design and Ergonomics of the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, Shaanxi
Industrial Design Engineering Laboratory, Shaanxi Industrial
Design and Development Center and other provincial

platforms, focused on the design of automotive interior

parts in the field of industrial design, and conducted in-
depth research on key common technologies continuously,
so as to maintain the advanced nature of research and
development of key design technologies.

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE
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Cooperation with Xi’an Jiaotong University to Conduct

the “Smart Factory Planning and Development”
Project

Xi’an Jiaotong University is a comprehensive research-
oriented national key university directly under the Ministry
of Education in China as part of the national “Double First-
class Universities”, the “211 Project” and the “985 Project”.
It is also one of the key universities in China during the
“Seventh Five-Year Plan Period” and the “Eighth Five-
Year Plan Period” and is included in the “Everest Plan”, the
“Strengthening Foundation Plan”, the “2011 Plan”, the “111
Plan”, the “Education and Cultivation Plan for Excellent
Engineers”, the “Education and Cultivation Plan for Excellent
Doctors” and the “Education and Cultivation Plan for
Excellent Law Talents”. Besides, it is also the chairman of
China Artificial Intelligence Alliance.

Mr. Sun Xinyu is a professor and doctoral supervisor of
the Industrial Engineering and Operation Management
Department of the Management College of Xi’an Jiaotong
University, senior programmer, member of the “key
laboratory of process control and efficiency engineering” of
the Ministry of Education, member of the young top talent
support plan of Xi’an Jiaotong University, and director of
the Xi’an Jiaotong University — BAYES Data Intelligence
Joint Lab. His research areas include e-commerce operation
management and marketing optimization based on big data,
supply chain and logistics management, measurement and
statistical analysis and operation model optimization. He
has close cooperation relationship with the National Public
Credit Information Center, China UnionPay, China Telecom
and other companies and stable sources of big data, and
has established its own data assets.

The Group collaborated with the Xi'an Jiaotong University
and the Sun Xinyu’s research group to develop the project
of “Planning and Construction of Smart Factory”, which
focused on the overall planning of the factory’s intelligent
production, the design of a standardized production
model, and the analysis and realization of automatic
production requirements and the digital operation and
simulation optimization of Production workshops and the
establishment of digital models, aiming at building the
“Smart Factory, Digital Twin”.

IRIZ - B REBHERS
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Industry-university-research cooperation with Xi’an

BREBEARBHRERMSE

University of Posts & Telecommunications

The purpose of this cooperation is to better combine the
teaching and scientific research of schools with the practical
production of enterprises, to promote the fulfillment of
the talent cultivation goal of higher education and the
technological progress of the production of enterprises, to
fully leverage the advantages of higher education schools
and enterprises in talent resource, scientific research and
production practice, to promote the industrialization of the
technological results of schools, to improve the teaching
and scientific research levels of schools, to enhance the
ability of schools to serve the society and to sharpen the
core competitiveness of enterprises.

The Group has conducted a comprehensive cooperation
with Xi’an University of Posts & Telecommunications
in talent cultivation, scientific research, education and
teaching, and industry university-research cooperation
between school and enterprise, jointly built an off-campus
practice education base for college students, a talent
cultivation base for enterprises and a base for conversion
of scientific research achievements, whereby forming

a landscape of mutual promotion and development of

professions and industries, and strived to achieve “school-
enterprise cooperation and industry-school win-win”.

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE
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5.4 Protection of Intellectual Property Rights 5.4 HMHEERE

The Group has established a three-in-one intellectual
property system of patents, trademarks and
copyrights, and has implemented innovation-oriented
and high-quality development.

The Group has a total of 33 patents, including four
invention patents, one design patent and 28 utility
model patents, and has one trademark. Invention
patents and design patents are applied to the major
products of the Group and are the core process
technology. The utility model patents are mainly used
for the improvement of production equipment and
process methods to realize the purposes of achieving
energy saving and emission reduction, improving
production efficiency, mitigating labor intensity,
eliminating hidden safety hazards and reducing labor
costs. During the Reporting Period, added two new
authorized patents, and applied for three patents
pending approval.

The Group mainly protects its intellectual property
rights through online tracking and rights protection
litigation. Besides, when our sales and R&D staff
discover competitive products or marketing materials
that may infringe the intellectual property rights of
the Group, they will immediately notify the legal
department, which will then follow up and conduct the
investigation.

The Group has established an innovation incentive
mechanism to encourage technical R&D personnel
to boldly innovate, design and develop special
equipment with independent intellectual property
rights by utilizing the advanced process technologies
and equipment in the industry, and quickly transform it
into productive forces and put it into production, thus
promoting the automotive and intelligent production
process.
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6. WIN-WI N: MAKI NG PROGRESS AND 6. HE  EFIE HEXZXEK
BUILDING A BRIGHT FUTURE TOGETHER
6.1 Win-win: Satisfactory Customer Services 6.1 H5F . mEEFTLRT

6.1.1 X FRZEEEFE

6.1.1 Management system for customer services

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued
to strictly implement the site customer service
management systems, standards and regulations
such as the “Guidance on the Management of
Site Customer Emergency” and the “Regulation
on the Processing and Management of Customer
Information”, and strived to provide customers with
quality products and services to meet their diversified
needs.

For after-sales services, we arranged dedicated in-
factory commercial vehicles and passenger vehicles
after-sales service personnel at the customer’s
office, and conducted after-sales interview with
customers through email, WeChat, telephone, face-
to-face interview and other means, with the customer
satisfaction continuously improved. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was honored the title
of “Excellent Supplier with Production Supporting
Services for the Year” from our customer.

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE
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6.1.2 Customer complaints management procedures

We attach great imp

ortance to customer demands

and have established procedures under the
Regulation on the Processing and Management
of Customer Information, which divides customer
complaints into two categories, verbal complaints and
written complaints. After receiving complaints from
customers, we will complete the After-Sales Quality

Tracking Record and
group with relevant

set up WeChat communication
departments to establish an

analysis team as soon as possible. To ensure that
customer complaints are handled in a timely manner,
we have established complete procedures for
processing customer complaint information, as shown

below:

Feedba

ck of problem points
i 8 B R BR

Pre-project problem

A1 HA IR B [ &

Pre-project team
confirmation of diagnosis

GIEREN=RCR ek

Pre-project team evaluation
of repair solutions

AIAAEB A ERES R

. Mass production projects problem ;

BEBRBMAE

Confirmation of diagnosis by

i i after sale team leader or engineer :

ERMRNTEMETZ

: Evaluation of rework solutions by

: after sale team leader or engineer :

ERMRIIEMIGERESTRE

|
Simple Compllca!ted Unmanageable
categories categories categories
after-sales L (external) aid
. . guidance for
onsite repair repair replacement
BE - 5 2 £
. it a2 m
- - 7 45 EiR (&

Closure of problems

i & FA B
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Customer complaints
of the host factory
F B E R

Confirmation of
problem points

] B 3 i 5%

Emergency
containment
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Development of
improvement plans
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Validation of
improvement plans
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Solidification of
! improvement measures :
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Conclusion of lessons
learned
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Closure of the
problems
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During the Reporting Period, we included indicators
such as the timeliness of completion of customer
complaint and customer satisfaction in the
Performance Assessment Form, which stipulated that
the feedback and tracking of customer complaints
must be evidenced by corresponding “Analysis and
Rectification Report of Problem”, and reviewed
the number of customer complaints and timeliness
of completion on a monthly basis. Meanwhile,
we carried out the customer satisfaction survey
on an annual basis according to the “Customer
Satisfaction Evaluation Procedure”, involving 5 project
modules such as quality, delivery, service, price, and
suggestions for improvement. After the completion
of the survey, we investigated and summarized the
items with low individual scores and complaints in
customers’ messages, and discussed improvement
measures, and finally formed the “Analysis Report of
Customer Satisfaction”.

In addition to the management of individual complaint
cases, we also summarized and analyzed customer
complaints every month to identify the source of the
problem, optimized the solution from the source, and
formed the “Monthly Customer Complaint Analysis
Report”, so as to analyze the causes and determine
the responsible person, as well as formulate
corrective measures and track verification results. If
quality problems with potential risk were identified, we
would send a quality alert and follow up to solve the
problem as soon as possible. During the Reporting
Period, the amount of customer complaint issues of
the Group was 163, decreasing by 3.16% year on
year.

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE
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6.1.3F5FZfI7:E

6.1.3 Protection of customer privacy

It is our responsibility and obligation to protect
customer privacy and security of business
information. We strictly comply with the laws
and regulations in relation to the “Confidentiality
Agreement” entered into with customers, and strictly
protect the privacy information of customers.

We are also committed to protecting the privacy and
confidentiality of the personal data of our employees,
customers, suppliers, business partners and other
identifiable parties. For the use of information,
we have restricted the level and authorization of
information available to employees, and require
employees to prudently handle customer data in
accordance with the authorization. Employees
may have access to relevant customer data only
when there is a supportable reason, and the use of
customer data is limited to the purposes as specified
in our contract.

6.2 Win-win: Partnership with Suppliers
6.2.1 Establishing win-win partnership with suppliers

During the Reporting Period, the Group developed
32 new high-quality suppliers under the principal of
establishing win-win partnership with supplier. We
committed to introduce domestic renowned high-
quality suppliers with industrial leading position.
In order to guarantee that the product quality
of the Group can be improved continuously, we
organized several technical exchanges and visiting
study activities with domestic renowned material
enterprises.
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REHRRN ZEEEAEMBHER143
KoHPSERMEFDMAEUTERE
- AESMUT :

During the Reporting Period, the Group had 143
material suppliers, among which 85% of suppliers
were located in the eight provinces as follows:

Distribution of suppliers (Top 8 provinces)
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We maintain close contact with suppliers. During the
Reporting Period, in order to improve the quality of
supplier, we continuously adopted below measures:
unifying standards; conducting performance test
and spot check on the main materials; eliminating
the suppliers appeared in the black list for several
consecutive years based on the performance
documents of suppliers; for suppliers who had quality
problems repeatedly, conducting regular interviews
and training and enhancing the quality awareness
of suppliers. In addition, we have conducted in-
depth exchanges and communication with suppliers
on new technologies and processes for passenger
vehicles and heavy trucks’ interiors, so as to provide
customers with satisfactory products.

We examine in advance and review new suppliers
“Questionnaire of Suppliers’ Qualification”, the
“Guidance on Evaluation and Selection of Potential
Suppliers” and the “Guidance on the Review of
Suppliers of Productive Materials” every year.
After the suppliers passing the review, we conduct
comprehensive performance evaluation on the supply
position of suppliers through procedural documents
such as the “Procedures for Managing and Controlling
Supplies”, the “Guidance on Regular Evaluation of
Suppliers of Productive Materials”, and check the
suppliers on the red list and black list based on the
evaluation results of suppliers’ performance. We will
provide specific assistance and help to suppliers
on the black list for improvement and eliminate
those who still cannot meet the supply requirements
after such guidance in accordance with the “Work
Instruction on Improvement of Suppliers’ Capability”.
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6.2.2Continuing to promote suppliers’ social

responsibilities

While continuously strengthening its own management
of sustainable development, the Group takes the
lead in promoting the ecological management system
for the sustainable development of the entire supply
chain. Suppliers are evaluated from five aspects
according to the Questionnaire of Suppliers’ Social
Responsibilities, namely labor rights, health and
safety, environmental protection, business ethics,
and requirements of management system. For high
quality suppliers with higher ranking of performance,
we will give support through increasing the share
and developing new projects in the same conditions
in accordance with the “Management Rules for
Motivation of Suppliers” and the “Management rules
for Supplier Quota and Switching”; for suppliers
with lower ranking of performance, especially those
who violate relevant requirements, rectification is
required within a time limit, failure to do so, we will
restrict business cooperation opportunities until the
cooperation is terminated.

Meanwhile, we include safety and environment
management and social responsibility related clauses
in the “Purchase Contract” signed with suppliers,
which clearly requires that the products provided
by suppliers must comply with the national laws,
regulations and rules on safety and environment, as
well as meet the operation concept of protection
of employee’s rights and environmental protection.
The Group keeps close contact with suppliers, holds
several exchange meetings with suppliers, and
conducts professional technical communication on
raw materials and packing materials, to jointly pursue
how to apply the new environment-friendly materials
with greener and better sustainable development
functions in our products.
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6.3 Win-win: Share Development Results with 6.3 #F : HETHZTHERE
Employees
6.3.1 Employment overview

6.3.1 EVFHER

The Group pays great attention to the labor rights and
interests of our employees, and strictly complies with
the provisions of the “Labor Contract Law” of China
and other labor laws and regulations. It formulates
other employment terms on working hours, and
holidays, so as to effectively protect the legitimate
and reasonable rights and interests of our employees.
We never permit the use of any forced labor.

We have a fair and transparent staff recruitment and
employment process, forbid to recruit and use child
labor, conduct background investigation for the newly
recruited employees, put an end to illegal employment
of child labor and the phenomenon of forced labor.
We have a highly transparent recruitment process,
and is committed to providing fair employment
opportunities and creating a respectful work
environment for our employees. The Group advocates
anti-discrimination and formulates relevant policies to
treat others with fairness and dignity. Our recruitment
of employees will be based on a range of diversity,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
In the case of dismissal, the Labor Contract of
employees who do not meet the requirements of the
Labor Law will be terminated according to the Labor
Law and the Company’s rules and regulations.

FEEBSBIEIMEANS T#&
mo BB EBTRENCEEB AR E)R
EREMSE TERER  RRREEHt
ERAGRGENINRI -RAGE VB
REEIMNESEIEEEDZ KMTER
BHERGIZINBEREE-

RMPATATERNE I REMNEXE
MR RBIEBBENEREI -BHARA
EETHERASTS MHEETIT -RHST
FEFERRERNEFLE-RARESE
HENEBRERF RORREHATHHM
¥Re RETRAE—MEAERTEEMR
SENTFRBE-FEBANEBERIK
RoWHERBARR ERAF - E&
MHRFMA - KFAEREEU—ZINZ
TEBERSEE GEERERER
FR - XERBIEEFR -BE -FBEEL
BoRE-NBERRBER - THRES
B HANEHEHEIRERANE L
BEBESSHEZNATIREFHERRES D

&R

ANNUAL REPORT %Rk 2024

77



78

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR - HEREBERS

As of 31 December 2024, there were 321 employees

in the Group.

Number of employees by gender

BUENBDETAK

31%

69%

® Male 8 @ Female &

Number of employees by ranking of positions

BEGRIADETAK

7%

5%

22%

66 %

@ Senior %% @ Middle 4R
@ Junior T4k General — &

BE321% -

Number of employees by age

BRERADETIAHK
11%

33%

56%

@® 20-34 years old @ 35-49 years old

205%-345% 355%-495%
@ More than 50 years old
5068 4 £

Number of employees by region
BRHEHSETAH

@ h Shaanxi Province
=

@ Outside Shaanxi Province
PR 78 4 4
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B E2024F12B31H AEBBHES



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR - HERELRERS

During the Reporting Period, Employee turnover by

gender, age group and region as follows:

Turnover of employees by gender

BB EERK

28%

72%

® Male 8 @ Female &

Turnover of employees by ranking of positions

BRBRADEERK
0,
4% 39
21%
1%

@ Senior &% @ Middle F4k

@ Junior F4R General — &

@ 20-34 years old

BopEERALEE - THE :

Turnover of employees by age

BRERBDEERK
6%

41%

52%

@ 35-49 years old

207%-3415% 355%-4975%

@ More than 50 years old

5058 L =

Turnover of employees by region

BRHER DESRE

33%

67%

@ n Shaanxi Province
R =

@ Outside Shaanxi Province
PR & oh
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The remuneration policy of our Group is based
on employees’ performance, qualifications,
competence and rewards to them with reference to
comparable market level. Remuneration package
typically comprises salaries and other benefits,
discretionary bonuses and retirement benefits
scheme contributions. We have established a
scientific and reasonable salary system with market
competitiveness in accordance with the TES system,
and determine the staff salary scales and levels
in accordance with the ranking of positions and
market level based on the present condition of
the Company. Under the “Employee Performance
Management Procedures”, the Group has adopted
a diversified performance evaluation mechanism
covering the personal KPIl assessment results of
employees, the scores given by higher competent
department heads and the completion percentage of
weekly work plan; it regularly adjusts salary scales
and levels and increases employee compensation
and benefits in accordance with the “Management
Measure for Salary Level”, etc.; under the principle of
“openness, fairness, impartiality, equality, competition
and selection”, the Group regularly conducts the
internal competition and employment and the
professional technological sequence assessment
to select those with outstanding performance and
working hard for taking important posts. With the
management concept of “co-creation and win-
win”, the Group continued to establish effective staff
motivation mechanisms including the cost reduction
motivation plan for all staff, the sales motivation plan
for all staff, the budget motivation plan, etc., and
achieved the sharing of the development results of
the Group with staff. During the Reporting Period,
the Group carried out five internal competitive
selections with nine employees promoted, and two
professional technological sequence assessments
with three associate senior engineer and 14 first-
class engineers assessed, which helped the Group
promote the establishment of the talent team and the
organizational development and construction of the
Group while fully enhancing the sense of achievement
and happiness of its employees.

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE
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B —EBEURBRIRNREESEEEN
EIRMN AIBEEFNIFERE R
MEREEIZEREZER/RMNERZ
o BERETZRTENENER

We have been committed to providing diversified and
superior benefits to employees and creating a better
working environment. In addition to statutory benefits,
we have in place a benefit system with diversity.

Statutory benefits ;% & 2518 F
v’ Social insurance and housing fund
HE—%
v/ Statutory holiday
EEERAE
v High temperature leave
=RRE

Diverse benefit
system

AU EN (=

Statutory benefits
EEHEEN

Activity welfare SEEiE@ 7
v Women’s Day
ekeg:i]
v Dragon Boat Festival, Mid-Autumn Festival,

Spring Festival. etc
P E B BRI

P

N

Activity welfare

EBEER

Other welfare

HeE®‘H

Other welfare EE &7l
v Free employee quarters (air conditioner,

&2

e heating, wifi)
NG (o wmETES CEEE-wii)
v' Meal allowance
EI] R ARG
v Employee anniversary
BIRAFLS

Staff welfare
BEIEH

6.3.2 5 TIEHHZE
AEBAMBEETRMEEZHEI > MR
BiEEEE - -MEBUEKR -BET AR
VN EEEN BEEB MR
E-HUBE LEEE -Z24EN
BEZERREE EEBHEITBRT

6.3.2 Staff training and development
The Group provides a variety of trainings for all
employees to improve their comprehensive skills and
meet their needs of positions. Induction trainings
on regulations at group and department level, job
duties, working skills, safety production and career

development program, etc. familiarize our employees
with the Group as soon as practicable and make
them fit in with their respective positions. For on
the-job employees, the Group provides targeted
training tailored to their career development and
encourages employees to participate in job-related
training organized by external organizations, whereby
enriching our employees’ professional knowledge and
comprehensive abilities. In addition, the Group invites
excellent industrial professional personnel to provide
high-quality training contents for employee, enabling
the employees to acquire advanced professional
knowledge and management philosophy.

BAEE BREIFEU-HRERS
T RAEBEHEIEEEEZMHE  RAR
BEEB AEEHEMNRERHBEET
BELEERNEINIRE  REXBE
TR 2 00 & B 5 30 1% 48 4B 480 B9 2 1
UHEBEBEI M ZEBZREH
BATEEXEAEBRETIRHEEER
mns 2B REFXNANMEERE

/E\ ©
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During the Reporting Period, we established our BREMARN AEEEEANNAMZRE A
internal trainer team and developed more than 10 HMHEEI0ORMAFERE ETEWNESTE
courses internally, with an aim to extract outstanding BITERE2EBET -HBEBREG L
practices and impart them to all of our employees. We TEE16818 > P4k 1EEN1,03018 0 &
organized 168 group-level online and offline trainings BB T348 A ZFIlAB 2B #41,689/1
and 1,030 department-level trainings, with 348 B o

employees participated and totally 41,689 training

hours.

The proportion of trainees by gender and the average duration of training

BB D RIEEGIERFIO2HE R

Male Female

Gender 4 A1) 5 ks

Number of trainees EH 1PN 218 98

Headcount @A 223 98

Proportion of trainees 255t 98% 100%

Average training duration (hours) FH2IIER (NE) 112 118

The proportion of trainees by position level and the average duration of training
EES22ZIEEGLERTH2IEER

Senior Middle Junior General

management management management staff

Position level B 4R SREER hREEE MREEE —®kET

Number of trainees EXPN 18 18 79 225

Headcount AR 24 18 79 231

Proportion of trainees  23llM5EE 75% 100% 100% 97%
Average training FH2EE (NE)

duration (hours) 135 121 50 20

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE
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Safety Accident Review and
Summary Training

L2 2 F (0] ARSI

Contract Legal Risk
Prevention Training

BREARE R E

System Training
e =15l

Excel Practical Skills Training
EXCELE Bt & 1553

Information System
Project Training
EREEE EI

System Cutover Process Training
g R EI

6.3.3 Health and safety of employees 6335 THEFENZE

The Group has always attached great importance
to the health and safety of the employees, and
is committed to providing employees with a safe
working environment to avoid occupational hazards.
The Group strictly abides by the “Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases”, the “Safe Production Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Fire Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, and other laws and
regulations.

FEBR-RNEREEREINEBERR
EOBRAREIRHMELZENIFIRE
BRERTIBEMNLCS - FAEEERE
TCPEARLMBEBERBABZE)

(PEAREMBEZEZ2EEE) (PR
EARHAMBEEMZ) FERERNR
Fo

ANNUAL REPORT %Rk 2024

83



84

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIE - HEREBHERS

The Group requires the newly recruited employees to
carry the entry medical examination report and pays five
social insurances and one housing fund (EBE—=) and
commercial insurance for the employees according to the
statutory requirements. In order to enrich the spare-time
life of employees, we establish the staff room equipped
with the facilities including table tennis, badminton,
chess, treadmill and karaoke, enhancing the staff physical
exercise. We attach importance to employee sports and set
up table tennis, basketball and badminton sports venues
and facilities for employees to exercise. We have placed
safety infrastructures and implemented relevant safety
policies in order to ensure equipment safety and prevent
or minimize exposure to hazardous materials. During the
Reporting Period, we have revised more than 10 safety
management documents, including the Safe Production
Responsibility System (ZZ24EEFEH)), the Hidden
Hazards Inspection and Rectification System ({[& =5t
HEAIEHIE )), the Regulations on the Management
of Safety Accidents ((Z2EHMEEHRE)), the Safety
Education System (ZZ#H B HIE)), etc., providing
guidance to employees in maintaining a safe working
environment, and we have assigned responsibility for
maintaining safe work spaces to each department. We have
established the Safety Management Committee consisting
of representatives from management and employees. The
Safety Management Committee ensures that all responsible
departments conduct safety training, report accidents and
implement accident prevention procedures. The Group
also has fire prevention facilities and conducts fire drills
on a regular basis. Production employees receive regular
training on equipment operation and occupational safety
equipment. We have also adopted incident handling
policies, in order to minimize losses and improve our
response time in incident handling.

During the past three years (including the Reporting
Period), the Group did not suffer any significant work-
related injuries or fatalities caused by work. We
have complied with all relevant laws, regulations and
administrative regulations in all major aspects of health
and work safety, and have not received penalties from PRC
regulatory authorities.

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE
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Holiday welfare Annual Occupational Health Examining

BEFEFERA

During the Reporting Period, the Group actively conducted the annual occupational health examining,
regularly reviewed the current status of occupational sanitation, and organized 52 staff at the positions
that would cause occupational diseases for targeted physical examination according to the occupational
sanitation assessment report and the annual occupational health examining.

REHAN AEERBHEREGLFERQ I C MR EFTFRNETTS RRBEGLTERSN
BEBEEERUNE R BM2MBEREME TSRS o

AN AN
for bl
Mfi'...“.;-l-'IQ
6.3.4 Care for Employments 6.345 T 1% e
The Group is committed to create a harmonious, ZIK% B ﬁ:ﬁ% 5T &% ML R &
warm and united working environment for employees, R TFESE KR8 Iﬁ'\]}_ﬁ CE
and cares for every employee from various aspects, ETFSESTEAF MBS U8
including basic necessities of life. We not only I ;&ﬁx%/u%%l 7 38 3
consider employee’s benefit, but also hope to convey HETHRABEEREAMMBERAC

our caring for employees to their family members.

Holiday welfare Annual Occupational Health Examining

EBREEH

During the Reporting Period, the Group provided diversified premium holiday activity welfares, created
holiday atmosphere, warranted the welfares to the employees and enhanced their sense of happiness. The
welfares included “Celebrating the New Year Together: Distributing Spring Festival Care Packages to Warm
Employees’ Hearts”, “Blossoms for Miles, Just Like You: Grand Celebrations for International Women'’s
Day”, “The Fragrance of Zongzi, Tianrui’s Blessings”, “Admiring the Full Moon, Overflowing with Mid-
Autumn Sentiments”.

REHAN AEERHSEEENH AR IHEMN  SEHEARE REBITEN REAB T =@M - EH
MEFEME EWENEBMBRETI O TEATERNMM BREER=/\Bx &, IREHEE > K
ZxalTHERB  BRPMIELTIEEEER -
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6.4 Win-win: Actively Fulfilling Social Responsibility

The Group is keen on the public welfare undertakings
to promote the harmonious development of society.
We have participated in a number of public welfare
activities in the fields of charitable donation,
environmental protection and voluntary services, and
actively exerted its influence to provide women and
children in communities with needed explanation.

As a responsible group, we believe that we can
promote the harmonious development of society by
actively fulfilling the social responsibility of improving
people’s livelihood. The management of the Group
encourages all employees to proactively participate
in community activities and hopes to contribute
efforts to improve and help address the issues
affecting the well-being of local residents through
their personal actions. The Group insists on fulfilling
its own social responsibility, closely cooperates with
the government, hospitals, charities, media and other
organizations to actively participate in public welfare
activities.

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE
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HiE5IRBRSI

Major Categories, Aspects, General Disclosure and Key Performance Indicators

gk . ERBMXFARRE - HEREBRK

Disclosure Section

FTEHB BEEH —RIEEREARERIEE WMEEH

A. Environment

A KiE

ASPECT Af1: General disclosure Information on 4, Focus:
EMISSIONS (@) the policies; and Supremacy of
BEA1 . kY (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Environmental

impact on the issuer relating to air emissions, discharges into water and

land, and generation of hazardous and nonhazardous waste.

—RRE

BREBERNC BRI S - AERESERYNEESHN

(@ % ; &

b) BTHETAEE

KPI A1.1
RSB IEIE A1

KPI'A1.2

RBEBIER A1.2

KPI A1.3
PRSI A1.3

KPI A1.4
PRREMIER A1.4

FENRRIRRRANER -

The types of emissions and respective emissions
data.
HE B R AR R R BUR o

Repealed 1 January 2025
14202551 51 R Mk

Total hazardous waste produced (in tons) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FMEXBEEEMRE CUEE) &k (WER &
WUBEEEN SBEREE)

adt

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tons)

and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FMESREEEMRECEE) RWMER FE
WUSEEEN - SBEREHE)

Protection and
Green Operation
4. FiF:
RIEE L 6L

K
=

4.2 Environmental
Management
42 RIEEHE

4.2.3 Treatment of
solid waste
4.2.3 BERREENRIE

4.2.83 Treatment of
solid waste
4.2.3 BERRBEENRIE
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Major Categories, Aspects, General Disclosure and Key Performance Indicators

TEHR BE —REERMEERIER

Disclosure Section

WEEH

KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps
RISRAENMISIE A1.5  taken to achieve them.
BT U NBINE B R AETIE LB RRHE
R TR

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
RARAENISIE A1.6  wastes are handled and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
W RIBEEERBEEEENMNG E RMIMPIEIZ
R B R R AENE LB RTINS o

ASPECT A2: General disclosure
USE OF RESOURCES Policies on the efficient use of resources including energy, water and other
BEA2 : BRER raw materials.

—Re i

BRERER (BIEER  KREMEME) BEBEK -

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
RASRAEMISIZ A2.1  (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s)
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
RENSSNERERSBEER NE - fZH)
g UTETRESE RBE MUESEEE
i~ BEREEE) o

KPI' A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per

RASEAERIEIZ A2.2  unit of production volume, per facility).
BEKEREE MNMUEESE( BERM
&) o

KPI' A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
RISRAENMISIZ A2.3  and steps taken to achieve them.
BT UNERERaERRAEIIEES
RFTERENAY & B

88  CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD FREIRE:SERERHERAR

4.2 Environmental
Management
42 RIEEHE

4.2.3 Treatment of solid
waste

4.2.3 ERRERYERE

4.1 Save Resources
41 EHNER

4.1.2 Management of
Energy
412 EEREE

4.1.1 Management of
Water Resource
411 KEREIE

4.1 Save Resources

41 EBINBER
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Major Categories, Aspects, General Disclosure and Key Performance Indicators

TEHR BE —REERMEERIER

Disclosure Section

WEEH

ASPECT A3:

THE ENVIRONMENT
AND NATURAL
RESOURCES
BHA3 : RIE R
RARR

ASPECT Ad4:
CLIMATE CHANGES
EBEA4L : Rzt

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in
RISRAEMISIZ A2.4  sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.
it KRBGE R AR LRI B Rl ERE - LUK FrET ILR
Rk B Rk AEDIELE B R REA T 5o

KPI' A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products

RASEAENISIE A2.5  (in tons) and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced.
R RFASEMENEE CUESE) & (W8
R) S84 EEMGEE.

General disclosure

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment

and natural resources.

— IR E

HEBTAHRERRAREREHBEARZENE R -

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities

RASEAENISIE A3.1 on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.
BHEFTHHRRERRABERNEARERE
KNEEERAZENTHo

Repealed 1 January 2025
1202551 B 18 Mk

KPI A4.1 Repealed 1 January 2025
FIREWIEIRA4L 020251 A1 B MR

4.1.1 Management of
Water Resource

411 KERERE

4.1.3 Management

of Packaging
Materials

41.3 BEMEEE

4.2

4.2

4.2

4.2
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Major Categories, Aspects, General Disclosure and Key Performance Indicators Disclosure Section
TEHE -BE-—RIRERBRENIER KB

B. Society

B #g

EMPLOYMENT AND

LABOUR PRACTICES

BlERETER

ASPECT B1: General disclosure. 6.3.1 Employment
EMPLOYMENT Information on: Overview
EEB1 : BfE (a) the policies; and 6.3.1 BIEHR

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare.

—Re i

BRI R R  BEREA  THERE R TERE 20 RIER

UREMEFERERNR

(@ BX; &

(b) BFHETABEATENEMEERRANER

KPI B1.1 Total number of employees by gender, employment  6.3.1 Employment
RASEAENISIE B1.1  type (for example, full- or part-time), age group and Overview
geograthical region. 6.3.1 EBERR

W BERE WEREERR) SR kit
B OHNEEEH-

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and 6.3.1 Employment

RASBAENMISIZ B1.2  geograthical region. Overview
B ERARN R EE DHES RALE. 6.3.1 BE#R

O0  CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD FREIRESERERHERAR
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Major Categories, Aspects, General Disclosure and Key Performance Indicators

TEHR BE —REERMEERIER

Disclosure Section

WEEH

ASPECT B2: General disclosure
HEALTH AND SAFETY Information on:

EEB2: BEH%EZ (a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

—MRIKE

BRRHZEIFRERREREHEHELLEN

(@ B ; &

b) BFHETAEE

KPI B2.1
SR B I51R B2.1

KPI B2.2
PSR E M I51R B2.2

KPI B2.3
SRR IE1R B2.3

FENERERRRANER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred
in each of the past three years including the
reporting year.

BE=F (ORFAEREE) BERAITHPAR
R tEE o

Lost days due to work injury.
ATHEELXTERE-

Describe the occupational health and safety
measures adopted and how they are implemented
and monitored.

TR AN E R EREZ 2 U BERNIT
REERF &

6.3.3 Health and Safety
of Employees
6.3.3 BIRENZE

6.3.3 Health and Safety
of Employees
633 BEIREMZR

6.3.3 Health and Safety
of Employees
633 BEIRENZ2
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Major Categories, Aspects, General Disclosure and Key Performance Indicators
TEHE -BE-—RIRERBRENIER

Disclosure Section

WEEH

ASPECT B3:
DEVELOPMENT AND
TRAINING
[EBEB3 : HREEI

ASPECT B4:

General disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

— IR E

BRRMEERT LFR BN B RN BER - il II7EE

KPI B3.1
RSB NIEIE BS.1

The percentage of employees trained by gender
and employee category (e.g., senior management,
middle management).

RURREERR MNEREEE P REEES)
MR IlEEB -

KPI B3.2
RSB NIS1E B3.2

The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category.
BURIREERRE D 8LEETMRINTI
B 8o

General disclosure

LABOUR STANDARDS Information on:

[ETEB4 . &% T %8|

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.

—RiE

BRI EET @GS TH

(@ HXK; &

(b) BFHETABEATENEREERRANER

KPI B4.1
SR B X151 B4.1

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
i BB E RIS B R E T Rk T o

KPI B4.2
PSR EIE1R B4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered.

BT R RERBREERE BB RATEREN Y
B
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6.3.2 Staff Training and
Development
6.3.2 BTEIIHEER

6.3.2 Staff Training and
Development
6.3.2 BTEIIHEER

6.3.2 Staff Training and
Development
6.3.2 BTEIIHEER

6.3.1 Employment
Overview

6.3.1 EBEHR

6.3.1 Employment
Overview

6.3.1 EEHR

6.3.1 Employment
Overview

6.3.1 EBIRHR



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIZ - B REBHERS

Major Categories, Aspects, General Disclosure and Key Performance Indicators

TEHR BE —REERMEERIER

Disclosure Section

WEEH

OPERATIONAL
PRACTICE
EERA

ASPECT BS5:
SUPPLY CHAIN
MANAGEMENT
[EEBS : ERERE

General disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of supply chain.

—MRIKE

EEHERENRERTERKER

KPI B5.1
FRSR B 151% B5.1

KPI B5.2
PSR E M 151% B5.2

KPI B5.3
PSR AE M 151R B5.3

KPI B5.4
FSRAENIE1R B5.4

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
BB SN HEREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices
are being implemented, how they are implemented
and monitored.

HInEREAMEENEN mERTERIENN
HEBHE - UREMEBANRTRERS -

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

MR BRI RS ERONIRE T G RR
EG > URBREARITRER A %o

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

BT REHEEREELARRERKREN
B U BBRITRER R %

6.2.2 Continuing to
Promote the
Suppliers’ Social
Responsibilities

6.2.2 FFBEBHERD
HEeEE

6.2.1 Establishing Win-

win Partnership

with Suppliers
6.2.1 BUGEHEN

HIEEB %

6.2.1 Establishing Win-

win Partnership

with Suppliers
6.2.1 BUGEHEN

HIEEB A%

6.2.2 Continuing to
Promote the
Suppliers’ Social
Responsibilities

6.2.2 FFBHEEHIER
Hesf

6.2.2 Continuing to
Promote the
Suppliers’ Social
Responsibilities

6.2.2 FHEHEBHER
HEEME
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IRIE - HEREBHERS

Major Categories, Aspects, General Disclosure and Key Performance Indicators

TEHR BE —REERMEERIER

Disclosure Section

WEEH

ASPECT Bé6:
PRODUCT
RESPONSIBILITY
[EEB6 : EmEE

General disclosure

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labeling
and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.

— R E

BRFMREEMNBRBENRENRZS ES RERMEEEURERA

R

(@) B ; &

(b) BFHETABEAXENEMEERRANER

KPI B6.1
SR B XI51% B6.1

Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.

BENEERERBBTREZ2EREERMEA

ENL =Rl
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints
BISRAEMISIZ B6.2  received and how they are dealt with.

RERRERKRBORFUE UREE G-

KPI B6.3
RSB NIS1E B6.3

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

it B A S T RIF A E A RARVIR A

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall
RASBAEMISIE B6.4  procedures.
HtEERTEERERLWER-

KPI B6.5
SRR 151% B6.5

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored.

HIUHBEEBERRERMBEEE W AEREHT
MEERF &
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3.2 Integrity:
Quality-oriented
32 @5 EEAR

3.2.4 Quick Response
to Quality Issues
3.2.4 BERRERE

6.1.2 Customer
Complaints
Management
Procedures

6.1.2 ZHEERE

5.4 Protection of
Intellectual
Property Rights

5.4 FIHERERE

3.2 Integrity:
Quality-oriented
32 MfE:EHEARX

6.1.3 Protection
of Customer
Privacy

6.1.3 EEEFARE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIZ - B REBHERS

Major Categories, Aspects, General Disclosure and Key Performance Indicators

Disclosure Section

TEHR - BEH —REERMREERER REEE
ASPECT B7: General disclosure 3.1 Integrity:
ANTI-CORRUPTION Information on: Honesty and
EBEB7: R&S (a) the policies; and Trustworthiness
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant 3.1 5 : HETE
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
— iR E
BRI SR MEF A REN
(@) BR; &
b) BTHETABERZENHERZERRA
&K
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding 3.1 Integrity:
RASEAENISIZ B7.1  corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its Honesty and
employees during the Reporting Period and the Trustworthiness
outcomes of the cases. 31 HE:WMETE
RERBARETANEESRELEEENE
SRR YN E KGR
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and 3.1 Integrity:
RIRAENMISIE B7.2  whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are Honesty and
implemented and monitored. Trustworthiness
B EER R BERER  UREEARITERERS 31 #iE #ETE

o

KPI B7.3
FSREMIE1R B7.3

Description of the anti-corruption training provided
to chairperson and staff.
BHREERKETIRENREFE

3.1.2 Training on

Integrity

3.1.2 BRZE
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IRIE - HEREBHERS

Major Categories, Aspects, General Disclosure and Key Performance Indicators

Disclosure Section

TERE EEH —RIRERARENISE RESE
COMMUNITY

HE

ASPECT B8: General disclosure 6.4  Win-win: Actively
COMMUNITY Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the Fulfilling Social
INVESTMENT communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take Responsibility

[EEBS : HERE

into consideration the communities’ interests.

—RRIRE

BRMHB2 AR TREESHEHERENRREER ZHTEEHL

& ) AR ©

KPI B8.1
FRSE B 151% B8.1

KPI B8.2
RSB 151% B8.2

Focus areas of contribution (e.g., education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sports).
EIEREE WA BREEE - HFIER R
B X iBH) o

Resources contributed (e.g., money or time) to
the focus area.

HRIHBBAER WMEHAFHE)
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6.4

6.4

6.4

6.4

6.4

HE BBETH
251

Win-win: Actively
Fulfilling Social
Responsibility
HE  BRBTH
ga1t

Win-win: Actively
Fulfilling Social
Responsibility
HE  BRBTH
ga1t



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands and its registered office address is
3-212 Governors Square, 23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue, P.O.
Box 30746, Seven Mile Beach, Grand Cayman KY1-1203,
Cayman lIslands.

The Company is an investment holding company, and
the Company’s subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the research and development, manufacture and sale of
automotive interior decorative components and parts.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business, investment and financial
activities, including a fair review of the business using
financial key performance indicators and an indication of
likely future development in the Group’s business as well
as environmental policies and performance, as required by
Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance, is shown in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 7 to 14 and in the section headed “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 40 to 96 of this
annual report.

POSSIBLE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING
THE COMPANY
Description of possible risks and uncertainties facing the
Company is set out in note 24 to the financial statements in
this annual report.

Directors’ Report
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EFOHRS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate amount of revenue from the Group’s largest
and five largest customers for the year ended 31 December
2024 represented approximately 57.1% (31 December
2023: 65.2%) and 94.7% (31 December 2023: 94.7%),
respectively, of the Group’s total revenue from sales
operations.

The aggregate amount of purchases from the Group’s
largest and five largest suppliers for the year ended 31
December 2024 represented approximately 18.3% (31
December 2023: 10.5%) and 42.5%, respectively (31
December 2023: 32.9%).

So far as is known to our Directors, none of our Directors,
their respective close associates or our Shareholders
who are interested in more than 5% of the issued shares
(excluding treasury shares) of our Company has any
interests in the five largest customers or the five largest
suppliers of our Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,

CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group endeavours to maintain sustainable
development in the long term, continuously create
value for its employees and customers, and foster good
relationships with its suppliers. The Group understands
that employees are its valuable assets, and the realization
and enhancement of employees’ values will facilitate the
achievement of the Group’s overall goals. For the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group provided generous
social security benefits to its employees to motivate
them while heightening their sense of belonging. The
Group also understands the importance of maintaining
good relationships with its suppliers and customers to
the overall development of the Group. The Group places
emphasis on supplier selection and encourages fair and
open competition to foster long-term relationships with
quality suppliers on the basis of mutual trust. To maintain
the competitiveness of its brand and products, the Group
abides by the principles of honesty and trustworthiness and
commits itself to consistently provide quality products to
establish a reliable service environment for its customers.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
significant and material dispute between the Group and its
suppliers and/or customers.

CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXIH/SEANMFERAE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set
out on page 4 of this annual report.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the Company’s securities.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 23 to the financial
statements in this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group is committed to contributing to the
sustainability of the environment and aims to become
an environmentally-friendly corporation that pays close
attention to conserving natural resources. We strive to
minimize our environmental impact by conserving electricity
and water and encouraging the recycling of office supplies
and other materials.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND

REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, as far as the
Company is aware, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the
Group that has a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.

BANKING FACILITIES AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Details of the borrowings are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual
report and note 19 to the financial statements in this annual
report.

Directors’ Report
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EFOHRS

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in properties, plants and equipment
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note
11 to the financial statements in this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution amounted to RMB97.8 million.

RESERVES
Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in note 23 to the financial statements in this
annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company seeks to maintain a balance between
meeting shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy. The
Company’s dividend policy aims to allow shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profit and for the Company
to retain adequate reserves for future development. When
considering the dividend payment, the Board shall take
into account the factors including but not limited to the
Company’s operations and earnings, capital requirements
and surplus, general financial condition, contractual
restrictions, capital expenditure and future development
requirements, shareholders’ interests and other factors that
the Board considers relevant.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED

SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this annual report, neither our Company, nor its
subsidiaries have purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities.
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SUFFICIENCY OF THE PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the directors of the Company,
as of the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules at any time up to the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE

As permitted by the Articles of Association, every Director
or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets and profit of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her
office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officer’s liability coverage for the Directors and officers of
the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

There were no equity-linked agreements entered into by
the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December
2024.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report
are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hou Jianli (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Yunhua (Resigned on 19 April 2024)

Ms. Zhang Jingrong (Appointed on 19 April 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhu Honggiang

Mr. Zhou Genshu

Mr. Chen Geng

Ms. Zhang Jingrong has obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 18 April 2024, and
confirmed that she understood her obligations as a director
of a listed issuer.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT NON-

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors a confirmation of his independence,
and considers that all the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.

Directors’ Report
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EFOHRS

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group as at the date of this annual
report are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 15
to 20 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with our Company for a term of three years unless
terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s
notice in writing to the other party.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
entered into an appointment letter with our Company for a
term of three years unless terminated by either party giving
not less than one month’s written notice to the other party.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has entered into a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT
OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH DIRECTORS AND

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance (as
defined under Notes 16.1 and 16.2 of Appendix D2 to the
Listing Rules) has been entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December
2024.

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance (as
defined under Notes 15.2 and 15.3 of Appendix D2 to the
Listing Rules) which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as to the service contracts with the Directors, no
contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the Year.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors of the
Company and five highest paid individuals of the Company
are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements
in this annual report. The emoluments of the Directors
is determined by reference to the relevant Directors’
experience, responsibility, workload and the time devoted
to our Group.

SHARE SCHEMES

The Group has not adopted any share schemes (as defined
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules) between the Listing
Date and the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ COMPETING INTERESTS

None of our Directors and their respective close associates
are interested in any business which competes or is likely
to compete with that of our Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Details of corporate governance practice adopted by
the Company are set out in the section of “Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report.

Directors’ Report
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EFOHRS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at the date of this annual report, the interests or short
positions of each of our Directors and chief executive
of our Company in our Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of our Company and our associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of Laws of
Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) which, were required to be notified
to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions in which any of them was taken or
deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein or which
were required to be notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

(@) Interest in our Company

ESRERTHRAESRRKRG - HARKREG
REEENEDZRXE

REAERAH RPAEEARESRATDETETH
ANEZBERAREREEHKEZIE (EXRE
HREBEBEFEXVI) WIRM 8RR M X
BREETHEEREESR(ESRIBERKA)
(BB EREES71E) (TSFOU) EXVELE7
RESDBEME A AT RN ER R
XE (BERESESRPERINKEXER
HEWSERRIEEBNEZIXA) TR
BERERPEGHEI52K A A Z KAt
NELSMPRBEZETABENE XA T
RN ERERKEFNT

(a) MEATWED

Number of

Shares Percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest (Note 1) shareholding
EEN4 Bt E RH&B (M) FRBEaL
Mr. Hou Jianli Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,500,000,000 (L) 75%
EERMTE REGEEED (5E2)
Notes: MI5E ©
1. The letter “L” denotes our Directors’ long position (as defined 1. FHTILIERMPEENZSEROHNEE (EER

under Part XV of the SFO) in such Shares.

2. The entire issued share capital of H&C Group Holding Limited
is beneficially and legally owned as to 60% and 40% by Mr.
Hou Jianli and Ms. Chen Bierui respectively. By virtue of the
SFO, each of Mr. Hou Jianli and Ms. Chen Bierui is deemed
to be interested in the same number of Shares held by H&C
Group Holding Limited.
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855 R HIE AR BIBXVER) ©

2. H&C Group Holding LimitedAy % &f 2 2517 A8 2=
DRAHERFAEERRANRZTERZREE
HEH60%R40% - IRIEFHRBERG  ZE
M ERBRBIR L THWRABRH&C Group
Holding LimitedFTi5BYMHEI BB IR (5 R #

<5

Im



(b) Interests in our associated corporations

Directors’ Report

EFEHRS

(b) MHEBEEE RS

Name of Name of associated Number of Shares Percentage
Director corporation Nature of interest (Note 1) of shareholding
BE5R HEBEER RS BEME RHE8E (1) RIEE DL
Mr. Hou Jianli H&C Group Holding Limited  Beneficial owner 60 (L) 60%
R L H&C Group Holding Limited EB&H#EE A

Notes: P EE

1. The letter “L” denotes the long position (as defined under Part 1. FHRILIIERZERMHNGTE (EERESH KRS

XV of the SFO) in such shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual
report, none of the Directors or the chief executive of our
Company has any interests or short positions in our shares,
underlying shares or debentures of our Company and
our associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions in which any of them was taken or deemed to
have taken under such provisions of the SFO) or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein or which were
required to be notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

ERBIEXVED) °

BREXIKBEN REAERAH BELR
BEFHTHABIN AT RAEMBHEE
(EERBFABERMBXVED) BIRM
BEARNMNESTHEERBEE S KB ERK
PIEXVERE 7R ESDE BN G X R T KBk
P (B 15 1R 15 58 35 K B3 & 1% A1) B9 1% SR 4R
EWEFHABRFEANRTIKR) NRE
B RAIE R B B 35218 A 5C A X IR P B9
EEMARRERETIANGEAT K

X FTAYEm SK A o
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EFOHRS

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at the date of this annual report, the persons or
corporations who has an interest or short position in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which
were required to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FERRRRONBMRRKRGCFHFERTOE
mERE

REFHERBH REZFRPEHERHEXV
BE2RFEINDWARAEARDKREAREE
SRAGRAEI6HFABFHNECMATE
B THALTZEBER AR B RKD AEE
RPPEENEDTIXEDNT

Name of Number of Shares Percentage of
Shareholder Nature of interest (Note 1) shareholding
RRLE HEME BB (M) FRESL
H&C Group Holding Beneficial owner 1,500,000,000 (L) 75%
Limited
BHEEAA
Mr. Hou JianLi Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,500,000,000 (L) 75%
EERNEE REGEEED (e 2)
Ms. Chen Bierui Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,500,000,000 (L) 75%

BRAIR %+ TEGEEER (W5 2)
Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the long position (as defined under Part

XV of the SFO) in such shares.

2. The entire issued share capital of H&C Group Holding Limited
is beneficially and legally owned as to 60% and 40% by Mr.
Hou Jianli and Ms. Chen Bierui respectively. By virtue of the
SFO, each of Mr. Hou Jianli and Ms. Chen Bierui is deemed
to be interested in the same number of shares held by H&C
Group Holding Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual
report, the directors were not aware of any other person or
corporation having an interest or short position in shares
and underlying shares of the Company which were required
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept under section
336 of the SFO.
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e KRB Z TR A H&C Group
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR

DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 or the
period following 31 December 2024 up to the date of this
annual report, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or holding company or any of the subsidiaries of the
Company’s holding company a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company or their respective associates to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate and none of the
Directors and chief executive, or their spouse and children
under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the
securities of the Company, or had exercised any such right
during such period.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement
benefit plan managed by the PRC local government
authorities for the Group’s eligible employees in the
PRC, and operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. Particulars of
these retirement plans are set out in note 6 to the financial
statements in this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024, which did not
constitute connected transactions under chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules, are set out in note 27 of the financial
statements in this annual report.

Directors’ Report

EFEHRS

ESWEROABEEZNOER

KABIHETAHBRBENREE20245F12
B31HLEEEAMNRFEMET LTAZH
REEFTERBAATRTAEMEER
PWERMEEEMER MEBE20245F12
B3 1HIEFE EF -HENERBI18E U
THFLBEREEXRTETARBELRQE
EHWREF o

BIAEF 5 E
AEERTEEGERNTEEEZAD
B #h 75 BT BF P E IR A9 E 2R M TR K18 A
SECAREBEEFEBEARFIMELARESHERAS
HiREEERAKRARBRE ZEEKRILBH
MABEE - ARILZIRASINFIEH
RAEFRYBRERM TS o

RBAE XS

B E2024F12B31HIEEE  AEEHR]
BARS (FEM LELTRAUFI4AZTE T2
FEBAERS) 2H2BHNAERTHFIRE
BfisE27 o
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EFOHRS

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The Company has received the written confirmation from
each of H&C Group Holding Limited, Mr. Hou Jianli,
Ms. Chen Bierui (the “Covenantors”) in respect of the
compliance with the terms of the non-compete undertaking
(the “Non-compete Undertaking”), entered into between
the Covenantors and the Company as set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders
— Non-Competition Undertakings From Our Controlling
Shareholders” of the prospectus of the Company dated 31
December 2018. Each of the Covenantors has confirmed
and declared that he/she/it had strictly complied with the
Non-compete Undertaking without any breach thereof. All
the Independent Non-executive Directors had reviewed the
matters relating to the enforcement of the Non-compete
Undertaking and consider that the terms of the Non-
compete Undertaking have been complied with by each of
the Covenantors for the year ended 31 December 2024.

AUDITORS

The Company appointed KPMG as auditors of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. There
was no change in the Company‘s auditors in the past three
years.

On behalf of the Board

China Tianrui Automotive Interiors Co., LTD
Hou Jianli

Chairman

Xi’an, the PRC, 27 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
China Tianrui Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of China Tianrui Automotive Interiors Co., LTD (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 118 to 212, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended and notes, comprising
material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”) together with any ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

BIZBMERS

RPEXESEAMGEBERABDRRENE
I % BT IR
(RESHESEMAILIERAE)

BER
HMFBE118E21 2B HPTE XIGAER
MEERAR (TERR)) REWBAE (4
BISEE) NEaWBERRETET > Z
EHHERAIER2024F12831HMNES
FHERAR BEEZHLEFENGEER
R ixeBERRREMNEZERER Lo E
GEHEREGEERERER UREEVH
RERMMT BREEASFBRBFE-

HEMBA ZERVERREREEHE S
STENEBEESEEMNBEREERS S HE
HEEAFTFRMEEENHNG S T HR
MAEBEZBIEFEERN2024F 1283148
EMBERRERGEERERE T EERES
NEEAIREREETRRE

EREE
ZPEERBEEBEHMLAERHHNERSE
SAEAETES - RAEZFER TREN
ERXEETRERAUMMF] RS HBER
KREHNEF—DPEE-—DTBEL - RIE
ERESMAERMNEXESHMBERT
Al (TPR) REKMBSFHERENRS
MEBREERNENERRAE MBI
R OEBEEECTERBRTHEFEREKRTHHRH
HthEXEBEEE-HMAEG RAMER
WESEEERXERBEM S K FBE S
EREHER-
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BIZHEMERS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that,

in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,

EEER
HRBFFTESRBEHRMANEXAE B
HEAHMGRaUBRENBEFIRAEENS
R-EEZRERRMBFAERGEH TR
KREAERFETREN -HMAFTTHE
EERRHEBNER -

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide

a separate opinion on these matters.

B R REFEREEERER

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables

2(h)(i) and 2(k).

Refer to Notes 14 and 24(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Notes

R S ISR NG 147124 (a) % M1 522(h) (i) F12(k) B9 & 51 B 7 ©

The Key Audit Matter
FREER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BT EHEM AR

At 31 December 2024, the Group had a significant
balance of gross trade receivables which amounted
to RMB197,395,000 representing approximately
31.66% of the Group’s total assets at that date,
against which an allowance of RMB6,553,000 for
expected credit losses (“ECLs") was recorded.
1R2024F12A31H EEENEZRINRIBRES
AR #197,395,000 0 hEEBENRZHAEERE
B{E#I31.66% MRS TEHAE HIBK(ELCs)ZEHE A
K 6,553,0007T ©

The Group’s trade receivables mainly arose from
sales to heavy truck and passenger vehicle
manufacturers.
EEENBZRUABTITERBELE RERFKAS
BliEmH o

Our audit procedures to assess the ECL allowance
for trade receivables included the following:

T ETEACRHABREEERANSESHEFBEREUT
BIE .

o Obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of management’s key internal
controls relating to credit control, debt
collection and estimate of credit loss
allowances;

s THKIEHEEEEEEZESN EHBWME
EEEERMGSARNBEEANISEZENZS
B R EFEMML ;

° evaluating the Group’s policy for estimating
the credit loss allowance with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

e ZRRTEFAFENER FEEAEBRNER
BREFHEMETEES ;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Bz AEMER S

FAEESEIE @)

BEERBRERRGEEHRERER

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables

2(h)(i) and 2(K).

Refer to Notes 14 and 24(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Notes

R HAE S ISR LM 5E 147124(a) % B 522(h) () F12 (k)Y & 51 B0 7 ©

The Key Audit Matter
FREEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B FHM AR

Management measures loss allowance at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL of the trade receivables which
is based on ageing of the receivables and expected
loss rate for each category of trade receivables
grouped according to the shared credit risk
characteristics. The estimated loss rates take into
account the ageing of trade receivable balances, the
repayment history of the Group’s customers, current
market conditions, and forward-looking information.
Such assessment involves significant management
judgement and estimation.
EEERRURRNEDBRBERERBXRESS
BREER BURANEBRABRRERBRAEER
BREKGHRIENRE U R SARBERR BEEEHR
BB OME) NERBAXFE - RRBAXNEE
HAECHERUBRREGRIRE EETRNEMTE
SR SRR MAT RS - ERETEIREANE
2 g A BR A fd 51 o

We identified the ECL allowance for trade
receivables as a key audit matter because
determining the level of loss allowance is inherently
subjective which requires significant management
judgement.
BEMREBRFNTBERERABLAEGIEAHHRSE
SEENREZ  BRERKTHNEEREALANT
BNy REXEREH o BT EE S RINRIER
REGBEBNESEFEEUATEE

° assessing whether items in the trade
receivables ageing report were categorised
in the appropriate ageing bracket by
comparing a sample of individual items
with the underlying goods delivery notes,
sales invoices and other relevant underlying
documentation;

e BEHWMEBLEANEEREHENEEE HE
BEMAE MR X > 5T ARTRREC IR S
HFMIEEESE B RRE D ;

° assessing the appropriateness of
management’s estimates of ECL allowance
for trade receivables by examining the
information used by management to derive
such estimates, including testing the
accuracy of the historical default data and
evaluating whether the historical loss rates
are appropriately adjusted based on latest
financial information of major customers,
current economic conditions and forward-
looking information; and

s BREBEXREEEAUGERWIRARNIERER
BAREFEENER  AFAEAELRIBHEN
ERMNTLEREEBAXEZEEERIERTRHN
B AT B 75 B ~ 2 A AR AR 0 AN A B M BB
TEERAE ILEEEGEHENSEY ;
)4

° re-performing the calculation of the loss
allowance as at 31 December 2024 based on
the Group’s credit loss allowance policies.

e BREEENGHBAREERR EMER
2024F 12831 BB R ERH o
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BIZHEMERS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

RARESEIE @)

Timing of revenue recognition

W A B 5T s

BRI BE IR 4R M 522(r)B) & 51 B 5 ©

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2(r).

The Key Audit Matter
MRESFEER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B FHEM AR

Revenue from sales of automotive interior and
exterior decorative products RMB237,055,000
which accounted for 97.59% of the Group’s
total revenue for the year ended at 31 December
2024 is recognised when products are delivered
at the customers’ premises, the customers
take possession of and accept the products,
which is taken to be the point in time when the
Group transfers control over the products to the
customers.

B E2024F 12831 H L FE » A B A IMNEH ZE miH
EWAEBARK237,055,0007T > (HAEBAEURA B
97.59%  BEEYMNBERIBHMN  BERIGE RIEWNE
mE B EAARTEERREEmNEFEEETZ
ERNE—ERNER HESEANIIRGERZIA
TSR AR ©

We identified the timing of revenue recognition
as a key audit matter because revenue is a key
performance indicator of the Group which increases
the risk that the timing of revenue recognition may
be manipulated to meet financial expectations or
targets.

BPHFRAESDSESEARESEE BABAR
?’:%@—Iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%ff@’iDDH&U\T@E%? LU

ERY AR B RNERE -

Our audit procedures to assess the timing of
recognition of revenue included the following:
BFBRAERIFHBANESEFEEUTS
=

° obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of management’s key internal
controls in relation to revenue recognition;

o THERTLEIERE R A M B YRR A A
ERIERYER BT B REERUM

° inspecting customer contracts, on a sample
basis, to identify terms and conditions relating
to goods acceptance and assessing the
Group’s revenue recognition policies with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

e HWMEBRAEERNGL UHMNEAGYRAA
R BV R A R 5 > W ARARIRIT 5t ZERIBARE
L EERENRARESRR ;

° comparing, on a sample basis, specific
revenue transactions recorded before
and after the financial year end date with
underlying documentation, which included
goods acceptance notes, to assess
whether the revenue had been recognised
in accordance with the terms of the sales
contracts and in the appropriate financial
periods;

e REBEREARLE ERNURFEELSEHAIRR
BHETEWARZ EERXE (BEEYE IR
B) U HKRAZRS ERBHEE SARRN
B B EAE R
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Bz AEMER S

FAEESEIE @)

Timing of revenue recognition

U A B 5T s

BEGR S B IREN 4R M 2B & 51 B ©

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2(r).

The Key Audit Matter
R EtEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Bt FEM AR

inspecting underlying documentation for
manual journal entries relating to revenue
which were recorded during the year and
which met other specific risk-based criteria;
and

1% B8 B AF PO B 1S I A AE R e R & HLAt AT TE AL R
HENFIEstoaNEEAXH ; &

obtaining external confirmation of, on a
sample basis, transaction amounts for the
year and debtor balances as at the financial
year end directly with customers.
RREARE BERERNZRERNFERZ T
MBEFHFERE 5 EUIRIBRENHF
K o

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S

REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

MEMBRRRGBEMKSUIER

EFANHMBENABES -HMENSEHN
FHERANFABEER EFAERGEEHHFRE
EAEERER QR =

RMBGEEMHFRENER I AR EH M
B BT AHZETEMENERETMAT
ANHERER o

EEHMABRGEMBRERNES HANE
EARBEMEN  FILBRED  ZEHEM
EERRRGEMBREAARMERTA
RAMTHREOBREEEABENEMUTF
FEERERRAOBR
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L% ST iR

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S

REPORT THEREON (Continued)

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as
issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT

OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Bz AEMER S

REMMEBEAGEMBRRAKENTE

HANER RHEGMBERERERS A
FEARRFAERMERNERERR
MRS EERE THABSERMERNZ
MBS -ABEERAET (FRHER) &
SRR KRERNEAEMBEN - HMA
EREAREATAEMEMALTE L3
AEERAEE-

BEREERKTHNRIE  BEAEREZR
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BR 4t 77 7 B5 48 BE 35 3R o S8 5R PR &t BT LA A HRBF
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Independent Auditor’s Report
L% ST iR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

- Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Hui Sau Yee, Jenny.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

27 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

AR mR

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”)) (XA B # 2/ 7))

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
IS AREFT AEBTT
Revenue WA 4 242,902 245,833
Cost of sales iHE A (198,967) (198,714)
Gross profit EF 4(b) 43,935 47,119
Other income Halg A 5 3,973 4,101
Selling and distribution expenses HE & (2,757) (2,764)
Administrative expenses THHAX (32,183) (35,558)
Impairment losses on trade and other B 5 EW R EEE
receivables 24(a) (4,118) (231)
Profit from operations R 8,850 12,667
Finance costs B 75 BY A< 6(a) (7,473) (9,351)
Profit before taxation ERIR EiE A 6 1,377 3,316
Income tax g 7(a) 589 430
Profit attributable to equity ATERRRELERN
shareholders of the Company for &%
the year 1,966 3,746
Earnings per share SKREF
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) EAKREE (ARESD) 10 0.10 0.19

F126FE212B 2B A B HRERN —
EBD o BT F A A B HE = I R E AL N im A
ZREWNFEIBEH N E23(C) °

The notes on pages 126 to 212 form part of these
financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for
the year are set out in Note 23(c).
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FeRmkHEMEEK DR

For The year ended 31 December 2024 &, £ 2024F 12831 H L FE
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”) (WX A EE B 51/ 7)

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARMETFIT

Profit for the year FERiEF 1,966 3,746

Other comprehensive income for the year EREMZEUA

(after tax): (30pRIRIE®R) :
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently to  FIfEFMER EHHES
profit or loss: BmIER
- Exchange differences on translation into —MEAAEEZES
presentation currency of the Group EMHNERER 186 134

Total comprehensive income attributable to AT #EZEREEEER
equity shareholders of the Company for 2HEAEWMA
the year 2,152 3,880

The notes on pages 126 to 212 form part of these financial 5 126ZF 2128 2 M st B Bl A B F5R R B9 —
statements. B o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A MBI AR

At 31 December 2024 & Z£2024%F12831H
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”)) (XA B # 2/ 7))

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & ARBTT AR®BETT

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment MBS E 11 179,028 164,989
Intangible assets BT EE 848 1,198
Prepayments for acquisitions of BEME - BERREZ

property, plant and equipment T I8 15(a) 12,577 9,443
Deferred tax assets FEERIBE E 21(b) 8,898 7,521
______________________________________________________________ 201,351 183,151
Current assets MENEE
Inventories 578 13 53,145 60,607
Trade and bills receivables B 5 FE W TE R e I 2= 4% 14 204,890 167,045
Prepayments and other receivables EAmEREMEWEIE  15() 21,916 25,527
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHEIRE 16 142,260 92,603

,,,,, 422,211 345,782

Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and bills payables B 5B RIE N ENEE 17 131,137 141,437
Accrued expenses and other payables FEstF S K& H &S IE 18 64,770 33,542
Bank and other loans RITREMERR 19 135,541 87,286
Lease liabilities HEAE 20 4,441 1,395
Current taxation BNHAFR 18 21(a) 2,053 1,251
______________________________________________________________ 337,942 264,911
Netcurrentassets = #®AEF® 84,269 80,871
Total assets less current liabilities BB ERREAE 285,620 264,022

The notes on pages 126 to 212 form part of these financial S 126ZE212E Z M sE B B A B F5 R T B —
statements. B o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A MBI AR

At 31 December 2024 & £2024F12831H
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”) (WX A EE B 51/ 7)

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 AREFT ARMETFIT
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Bank and other loans IRITREMERR 19 28,148 14,803
Lease liabilities HEaE 20 7,551 715
Deferred income 4R JE YT A 22 2,323 3,058
_______________________________________________________________ 38,022 18,576
NET ASSETS BEEFE 247,598 245,446
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B RKGEE 23
Share capital RN 17,522 17,522
Reserves HE 230,076 227,924
TOTAL EQUITY R 4EEE 247,598 245,446

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 27 March 2025.

Hou Jianli
=ERN
Chairman

ZE

The notes on pages 126 to 212 form part of these financial

statements.

EEEN2025F3827HIL E M IBHEEIT o

Zhang Jingrong

REE

Director

EF

FI126FE21 2B Z WEBMR M BIR KT —

B e
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HEEHDZEHR

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”)) (XA B # 2/ 7))

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FAAREREMEL
Share Other Statutory Exchange Retained
Share capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
R R EE Hitfite EERE ER REER @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFR AREFR AREFT AREFT AREFTR AREFR AREFR
(Note 23(b)  (Note 23(d)(i)  (Note 23(d)(ii))  (Note 23(d)ii})  (Note 23(d)(iv))
(Ms23b))  (WeE23(d)i)  (OWE23(d)i)  (WE23(d)ii)  (HEE23(d)(iv)

Balance at 1 January 2024 122024%1F1H 17,522 96,854 (17,500) 26,784 1,431 120,355 245,446

Changes in equity for ~ EZ2024F128318 1

the year ended EEZEGED.

31 December 2024:
Profit for the year ERg - - - - - 1,966 1,966
Other comprehensive income EAEMBEUA

for the year - - - - 186 - 186

Total comprehensive income A2 EA A

S/ S, | _ o R R T % %6 _____ 2152
Appropriation to reserve AR ZEHE - - - 254 - (254) -
_____________________________ o T ™ % wme AR
Balance at 120245128318

31 December 2024 17,522 96,854 (17,500) 27,038 1,617 122,067 247,598

The notes on pages 126 to 212 form part of these financial 5 126E212B 2 W B A FE R K —
statements. B 53 o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HEEDZE2HR

For The year ended 31 December 2024 &, £ 2024F 12831 H L FE
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”)) (X A B #& 51 77)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FARRERREL
Share Other Statutory Exchange Retained
Share capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
R A EE Rkt EEfRE ER G R &R @i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFTR AREFR AREFR AREFT ARBFT ARBFR AREFR
(Note 23(b)  (Note 23(d)(i)  (Note 23(d)(ii))  (Note 23(d)ii}) (Note 23(d)(iv))
(M23b))  (WsEa3(d)i)  (WEE23(d)ii)  (WE23(d)ii)  (HE28(d)(iv)

Balance at 1 January 2023 1%2023%1F1H 17,522 96,854 (17,500) 25,784 1,207 117,609 241,566

Changes in equity for £ Z2023F128318 1t

the year ended 31 EEZELGED.

December 2023:
Profit for the year ERiEd - = = = - 3,746 3,746
Other comprehensive income EREMBEUA

for the year - - = = 134 s 134

Total comprehensive income £ A2 EH A

B L o L P [ S gl
Appropriation to reserve AR ZEEE - - - 1,000 - (1,000 -
_____________________________ B SRR .
Balance at 120235128318

31 December 2023 17,522 96,854 (17,500) 26,784 1,431 120,355 245,446

The notes on pages 126 to 212 form part of these financial $F126FE212B B AP FHHRE W —
statements. BB o
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
EFERERER

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”)) (XA B # 2/ 7))

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & ARBTT AR®BETT

Operating activities RETEE
Profit before taxation FRA% A& A 1,377 3,316
Adjustments for: MU TZIEEHAE :
Depreciation and amortisation T EE e M 6(c) 30,487 34,042
Net profit on disposal of property, HEYZE BEKRRZE
plant and equipment W P B8 5 (679) (154)
Net loss on disposal of a subsidiary E&FATEE 5 995 9
Finance costs 2R )7 6(a) 7,473 9,351
Interest income ] EUA 5 (130) (265)
Amortisation of deferred income 45 SEUS A 31 22 (735) (735)
Changes in working capital: SEETEH .
Decrease/(increase) in inventories EERL 7 GEm) 7,462 (7,414)
Increase in trade and B2 BB K
bills receivables FE U 22 % 3% 0 (37,845) (41,745)
Decrease in prepayments and T8 7RI K E A FE UK
other receivables FRIE R D 801 1,730
(Increase)/decrease in restricted (1g1n) /= REIERIT
bank deposits FRORD (21,642) 2,868
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B3 MENZEHRN
bills payables CRiZb) /180 (10,300) 43,632
Increase in accrued expenses FEEHFE 2 ;e L FE
and other payables I FRIEIE N 24,880 2,680
Cash generated from operations fE&EFFREBHEE 2,144 47,315
Income tax refunded/(paid) FIiStEM, (@) 21(a) 14 (16)
Net cash generated from R EHRSIREREE
operating activites 2,158 A: 7_?99_
Investing activities KREEE
Payments for purchase of property, BEYE - BE - REXK
plant and equipment and intangible  EFEBEZ X
assets (33,040) (21,422)
Proceeds from disposal of HEVE BEKRRIREZ
property,plant and equipment Frig s 18 6,123 1,405
Interest received BUH B 130 265
Net cash used in KREZHFARE S
investing activities (26,787) (19,752)

The notes on pages 126 to 212 form part of these financial 5 126E212B 2 W B A FE R K —
statements. B 53 o
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

& A, e 1 —1
l%l\ = iﬁﬁllllgﬁ
For The year ended 31 December 2024 &, £ 2024F 12831 H L FE
(Expressed in Renminbi (‘RMB”) (X A £ #%/ 75)

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & ARBTT ARBETT

Financing activities RLE RS

Proceeds from bank and other loans RITREMERFAETIE  16(b) 134,780 90,650
Repayment of bank and other loans ERERITKREMER 16(b) (73,180) (119,042)
Interest paid BEHE 16(b) (6,946) (9,296)
Capital element of lease rentals paid HE& fﬁzlifé 2R IE 16(b) (1,485) (825)
Interest element of lease rentals paid FHE&GF BEENIE 16(b) (527) (55)

Net cash generated from/(used in) REIE;EEEL  (FEFMH)
investing activities REFEE 52,642 (38,568)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash RERIREEEWEM

and cash equivalents SRR ER 28,013 (11,021)
Cash and cash equivalents FNRERREEEBY
at the beginning of the year 16(a) 67,475 78,495

Effect of foreign exchange rate SEEXREHTE

changes 2 1
Cash and cash equivalents FRRERIREEEY
at the end of the year 16(a) 95,490 67,475

The notes on pages 126 to 212 form part of these financial 5 126E 2128 2 M sE B A B R K —
statements. BB o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

1

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Tianrui Automotive Interiors Co., LTD (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 27 April 2017 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands, as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time. The shares of the
Company were listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 15 January 2019. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the manufacture and sale of automotive
interior and exterior decorative components and
parts.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards
as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
Material accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments
to IFRS Accounting Standards that are first
effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group.
Note 2(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the
current accounting period reflected in these
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024 comprise the
Group.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards
requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of IFRS Accounting Standards
that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies
The Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the IASB to these financial statements
for the current accounting period:

° Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current (“2020
amendments”) and amendments to IAS 1,
Presentation of financial statements — Non-
current liabilities with covenants (2022
amendments”)

° Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases — Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to |IAS 7, Statement
of cash flows and |IFRS 7, Financial
instruments. Disclosures — Supplier finance
arrangements

The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period. Impacts of the
adoption of the amended IFRS Accounting
Standards are discussed below:

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements (the 2020 and 2022
amendments, collectively the “IAS 1
amendments”)

The IAS 1 amendments impact the classification
of a liability as current or non-current, and have
been applied retrospectively as a package.

128 CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD FREIXESE R EIRAT

FESZHHEK @

BHBEEH
AEBEHUTIASBEMBIFRS
@ 5t % B 5 5T P8 A R A 0 3t 8
RS B0 BT RS 4R 5%

o HIAS 1 (HBEHEZHZHK)
NE —FEESHESTE
BEDGIFFTHEE (T2020F
B:T1) URHIAS 1 (%R
FHIZ ) NIEBT A Z
A FE B E & (T 2022 F &
ET1)

e H(EKRMBREERF16
S HE)NES —ER&LH
FHHEEE R

e H(HMRESERETH : H
EREX)M(BERMBRS
HRETR M THE K
BE-MREBEREZH)NES]

FAEBEAFKBEANHER G
HBEETENNRENRE-
TEN® T RBESTENIFRSE
SFEANEE !

HIAS 1 (HFEHEEXHZE)
ST (2020F 2022 F
BT - HBATIAS 116371)

IAS 1HNESIHERNOEBRAER
HFERMEETE LEFH—
BFoEENER-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 &, £ 2024F 12831 H L FE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & >+ B & 5} » LN B #317T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements (the 2020 and 2022
amendments, collectively the “IAS 1
amendments”) (Continued)

The 2020 amendments primarily clarify the
classification of a liability that can be settled
in its own equity instruments. If the terms of a
liability could, at the option of the counterparty,
result in its settlement by the transfer of
the entity’s own equity instruments and that
conversion option is accounted for as an
equity instrument, these terms do not affect
the classification of the liability as current or
non-current. Otherwise, the transfer of equity
instruments would constitute settlement of the
liability and impact classification.

The 2022 amendments specify that conditions
with which an entity must comply after the
reporting date do not affect the classification of
a liability as current or non-current. However, the
entity is required to disclose information about
non-current liabilities subject to such conditions.

Upon the adoption of the IAS 1 amendments,
the Group has reassessed the classification of
its liabilities as current or non-current, and has
made no reclassifications.

The amendments have no effect on the Group’s
consolidated statement of profit or loss, cash
flows and earnings per share.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (55 & £ BH& S » B UN B #E37T)
FEEFHE®

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases - Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

The amendments clarify how an entity accounts
for a sale and leaseback after the date of the
transaction. The amendments require the seller-
lessee to apply the general requirements for
subsequent accounting of the lease liability
in such a way that it does not recognise any
gain or loss relating to the right of use it
retains. A seller-lessee is required to apply
the amendments retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the
date of initial application. The amendments do
not have a material impact on these financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash
flows and IFRS 7, Financial instruments:
disclosures — Supplier finance arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure
requirements to enhance transparency of
supplier finance arrangements and their
effects on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk. The Group has no such
arrangements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control
commences until the date on which control
ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for
foreign currency transaction gains or losses)
arising from intra-group transactions, are
eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests (“NCI”) either at fair value or at the
NCl’'s proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in
the consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company. NCI
in the results of the Group are presented on the
face of the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between NCI
and the equity shareholders of the Company.
Loans from holders of NCI and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented
as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance
with Notes 2(m) or 2(n) depending on the nature
of the liability.
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)
FEEHHR @

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it derecognises the assets and liabilities of
the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interests
retained in that former subsidiary is measured at
fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost
less impairment losses (see Note 2(h)(ii)), unless
it is classified as held-for-sale.

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and
equipment are stated at cost, which includes
capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses (see Note 2(h)(ii)):

= right-of-use assets arising from leases over
freehold or leasehold properties where the
Group is not the registered owner of the
property interest;

- buildings situated on leasehold properties;
and

- items of plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets arising from leases of
underlying plant and equipment (see Note

2(g)).

If significant parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives, then
they are accounted for as separate items (major
components).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 FEETHHE ®

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is recognised in
profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment less
their estimated residual values, if any, using the
straight line method over their estimated useful
lives, and is generally recognised in profit or
loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

Estimated
useful lives

Plant and buildings 10-40 years
Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
Moulds 4-5 years
Motor vehicles and other 5-10 years
equipment
Right-of-use assets:
— Land-use-right leased for Over the
own use unexpired term
of lease
— Plant and buildings Over the
unexpired term
of lease

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed annually and adjusted if
appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)
FEEHHR @

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Intangible assets

Expenditure on research activities is recognised
in profit or loss as incurred. Development
expenditure is capitalised only if the expenditure
can be measured reliably, the product or
process is technically and commercially feasible,
future economic benefits are probable and the
Group intends to and has sufficient resources
to complete development and to use or sell
the resulting asset. Otherwise, it is recognised
in profit or loss as incurred. Capitalised
development expenditure is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
and have finite useful lives are measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses (see Note 2(h)

(if)).

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost
of intangible assets less their estimated residual
values using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives, if any, and is generally
recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

Estimated
useful lives

Software 5 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed annually and adjusted if
appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease.
This is the case if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified
asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(9)

(i)

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability, except for leases that have
a short lease term of 12 months or less,
and leases of low-value items. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value item, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. If not capitalised, the associated
lease payments are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the lease
term.
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() HEEE ®

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leased assets (Continued)

(9)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is recognised using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the
lease liability, and are charged to profit or
loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which it is located, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see Notes 2(e) and 2(h)(ii)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted
for separately from the right-of-use assets
in accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in non-equity
securities carried at amortised cost (see
Notes 2(r)(ii)(a) and 2(h)(i)). Any excess
of the nominal value over the initial fair
value of the deposits is accounted for as
additional lease payments made and is
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments
arising from a change in an index or rate,
if there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee, or if the
Group changes its assessment of whether
it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured
when there is a lease modification, which
means a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract,
if such modification is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case, the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leased assets (Continued)

(9)

(i)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term
lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.

As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or
an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee. Otherwise, the lease is classified as
an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income
from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with Note 2(r)(ii)(c).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor,
the sub-leases are classified as a finance
lease or as an operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease. If the head lease is
a short-term lease to which the Group
applies the exemption described in Note
2(g)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-
lease as an operating lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (“ECL” s) on
financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
and trade and other receivables) and
contract assets (see Note 2(j)).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Generally, credit losses
are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls between the
contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are
discounted using the following rates if the
effect is material:

- trade and other receivables and
contract assets: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)
ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are the portion
of ECLs that result from default events
that are possible within the 12 months
after the reporting date (or a shorter
period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months);
and

- lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that
result from all possible default events
over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk
of a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition
and when measuring ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information
and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit
assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if
it is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
in default when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or

- the financial asset is 90 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial instrument
to have low credit risk when its credit
risk rating is equivalent to the globally
understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

2 FEETHHE ®
(h) EEEBEREERE @)

(i)

KEEMITRREHEENIG
BE5R (1|

5B BB A58
TRETHMIENERRAR
B ERIAUREEEES
MU KRESERBEES
BR -r&EEEEEHEEE
BREBZHARNE HEIAE
BHEENAIXENER -
EEEERNATERELLER
MAMBEERIEHNEEME
MEEMIN  HEhEER
EEER-

AEERRBRRBABHEIOKRD

i e

ETANBEBRT  ZEBRBA
RETHEEEN

- WREEBASHRIWET
ER (WFEEAER)
ETH BEHEATKRA
EEEXNTHEHETER
WEE&EF; o

- ZEMEEEBHEO
x5

Ex® T ENGERERRFTR
ERANERADN TRE R
EER ZEERIRZEZ R
TEEARERRAR-

ANNUAL REPORT %R 2024

141



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount
is recognised as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following observable
events:

- significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a
default being more than 90 days past
due;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance
by the Group on terms that the Group
would not consider otherwise; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments

and contract assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

- it is probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market
for a security because of financial
difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset or contract asset is written off to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when
the Group determines that the debtor does
not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in
the period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets
At each reporting date, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its non-financial
assets (inventories and other contract
costs, contract assets and deferred
tax assets) to determine whether there
is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped
together into the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows from continuing
use that are largely independent of the
cash inflows of other assets or cash-
generating units (“CGU”s).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

The recoverable amount of an asset or
GCU is the greater of its value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal. Value in
use is based on the estimated future cash
flows, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset
or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the
carrying amount of an asset or CGU
exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit
or loss. They are allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of the assets in the CGU
on a pro rata basis.

Interim financial reporting and
impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with IAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of
the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of
the financial year (see Note 2(h)(i)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) Inventories and other contract costs

(i)

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value as follows:

Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost formula and comprises all
costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and
condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= A, =
FeMBERRMEE
For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (55 & £ BH& S » B UN B #E37T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 FEEHHE ®

(i) Inventories and other contract costs (i) FEREMEHRE (&)
(Continued)
(ij) Other contract costs (i) BM&E#RZE

Other contract costs are either the
incremental costs of obtaining a
contract with a customer or the costs
to fulfil a contract with a customer
which are not capitalised as inventory
(see Note 2(i)(i)), property, plant
and equipment (see Note 2(e)) or
intangible assets (see Note 2(f)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a
contract e.g. sales commission,
are capitalised if the costs relate to
revenue which will be recognised in a
future reporting period and the costs
are expected to be recovered. Other
costs of obtaining a contract are
expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are
capitalised if the costs relate directly
to an existing contract or to a
specifically identifiable anticipated
contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide
goods or services in the future;
and are expected to be recovered.
Otherwise costs of fulfilling a contract,
which are not capitalised as inventory,
property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as
incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Amortisation
of capitalised contract costs is
recognised in profit or loss when the
revenue to which the asset relates is
recognised (see Note 2(r)(i)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(1)

(k)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see Note 2(r)(i)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration
under the terms in the contract. Contract assets
are assessed for ECLs (see Note 2(h)(i) and are
reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration becomes unconditional (see Note
2(k)).

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see Note 2(r)(i)). A contract liability is also
recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue.
In such latter cases, a corresponding receivable
is also recognised (see Note 2(k)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration
and only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component are initially
measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. All
receivables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost (see Note 2(h)(i)).
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)
FEEHHR @

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

(m)

(n)

(o)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and other
short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECL (see Note 2(h)

(i)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition,
trade and other payables are stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at
invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised
initially at fair value less transaction costs.
Subsequently, these borrowings are stated
at amortised cost, using an effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with Note 2(t).

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans
Short-term employee benefits are expensed
as the related service is provided. A liability
is recognised for the amount expected to
be paid if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount
as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be
estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans are expensed
as the related service is provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are expensed at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises costs for a
restructuring.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business
combination, or items recognised directly in
equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable
or receivable on the taxable income or loss for
the year and any adjustment to tax payable or
receivable in respect of previous years. The
amount of current tax payable or receivable is
the best estimate of the tax amount expected to
be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty
related to income taxes. It is measured using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax
arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)
FEEHHR @

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used
for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for:

= temporary differences on the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in
a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment
in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future; and

- those related to the income taxes arising
from tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted to implement the Pillar Two model
rules published by the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and

deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

(a)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which they can be used.
Future taxable profits are determined based
on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary
differences, are considered, based on the
business plans for individual subsidiaries in the
Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are
reversed when the probability of future taxable
profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only
if certain criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Generally provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessment of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when
the underlying products or services are sold,
based on historical warranty data and a
weighting of possible outcomes against their
associated probabilities.
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)
FEEHHR @

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)
A provision for onerous contracts is measured
at the present value of the lower of the
expected cost of terminating the contract and
the expected net cost of continuing with the
contract, which is determined based on the
incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation under
that contract and an allocation of other costs
directly related to fulfilling that contract. Before
a provision is established, the Group recognises
any impairment loss on the assets associated
with that contract (see Note 2(h)(ii)).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount
of the provision.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 FEETHHE ®

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

()

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group is the principal for its revenue
transactions and recognises revenue
on a gross basis, including the sale of
automotive interior and exterior decorative
components and parts that are sourced
externally. In determining whether the
Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it
considers whether it obtains control of the
products before they are transferred to the
customers. Control refers to the Group’s
ability to direct the use of and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits
from the products.

Revenue is recognised when control over
a product is transferred to the customer at
the amount of promised consideration to
which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties such as value added
tax or other sales taxes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(r) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)
(a) Sale of automotive interior and exterior
decorative components and parts

Revenue is recognised when goods
are delivered at the customers’
premises, the customers take
possession of and accept the
products, which is taken to be the
point in time when the Group transfers
control over the products to the
customers. If the products are a
partial fulfilment of a contract covering
other goods, then the amount of
revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction
price under the contract, allocated
between all the goods promised under
the contract on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

(b) Development and sale of moulds

Revenue arising development and
sale of automative related moulds are
recognised progressively over time if
the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. Progress is measured
using input method, i.e. based on the
proportion of the actual costs incurred
relative to the estimated total costs.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at
a point in time when the customers
obtains control over the products,
which generally is when the customer
takes possession of and accepts the
products.

154 CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEIXRIHAENEHHARAR

FESZHHEK @
(r) WEKREMUKEA &)
(i) BHEFHE @)

(a)

(b)

FTEE RSN R 1R A 1 2
=

=

BWAEEMXRATERFR
BE BERPERIER
EmBES EWRER
EERERERESE
MEPRPNEZ - MR E
mEGRPEME R
B0 FE 17 0 B HEEE BY IR
ATHEEERBR S E
BN BELLLR  RHEYH
BILEBOEMLGRF
AEBFFAEE M-

WAL XN E

MREBNERERSE
HEREFPEFNNEE
B o B & B fE B IR &
SHRKEBFHIAE
FEANREMFE R
A EEBBEBRAZES
B HREE RN
RSB BRI A

GRCMAEEFRER
EmEGREER B
FREEFNBIEER
7E B o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(r) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(il Revenue from other sources and other
income

(a)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using
the effective interest method. The
“effective interest rate” is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset
to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset. In calculating
interest income, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset
is not credit-impaired). However, for
financial assets that have become
credit-impaired subsequent to initial
recognition, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset. If the asset is
no longer credit-impaired, then the
calculation of interest income reverts
to the gross basis.
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 FEEHEE @
() Revenue and other income (Continued) () WmKREMUA (&)

(il Revenue from other sources and other
income (Continued)

(i) HMEKFEUAREMBPA (&)

(b)  Government grants (b) EfFiEE
Government grants are recognised B & IEFRE A W ELE
in the statement of financial position KT 8 Bh > T 4s & B & ¥
initially when there is reasonable & BAT 75 Bh B B9 7 1K
assurance that they will be received > B BURT #8 Bh A& 40 &
and that the Group will comply with Rk R AR ©
the conditions attaching to them.
Grants that compensate the Group BESEBMEERS
for expenses incurred are recognised ZHBREEHRSZZE
as other income in profit or loss on a —HEBERAMNER
systematic basis in the same periods WA EMULA o
in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group BEEREEMRAS R
for the cost of an asset are deducted MR EERBEE+RN
from the carrying amount of the asset BRoRLLEBEENE AR
and consequently are effectively Sl B8 E
recognised in profit or loss over the EEZRAMBEMERAIE
useful life of the asset by way of o
reduced depreciation expense.

(c) Rental income from operating leases (c) HMEHEMTHUA

Rental income from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. Lease incentives granted are
recognised as an integral part of the
total rental income, over the term of
the lease. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are
earned.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the respective functional currencies of
Group companies at the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate at
the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured based on historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated at the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

®

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including fair value adjustments arising on
acquisition, are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates at the reporting date. The
income and expenses of foreign operations are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange reserve.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its
entirety or partially such that control is lost,
the cumulative amount in the exchange reserve
related to that foreign operation is reclassified
to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal. On disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to
that foreign operation that have been attributed
to the NCI shall be derecognised, but shall not
be reclassified to profit or loss. If the Group
disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but
retains control, then the relevant proportion of
the cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of
an asset which necessarily takes a substantial
period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that
asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 &, £ 2024F 12831 H L FE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & >+ B & 5} » LN B #317T)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u)

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(b)

(1)

(if)

(i)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of the
Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

(1)

(if)

(vi)

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

2
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)
FEEHHR @

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u)

(v)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any
of the following conditions applies:
(Continued)

(vij A person identified in (a) (i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person
are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that individual in their dealings with the
entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products,
and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 24 contains information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to fair value of financial
instruments. Other key sources of estimation
uncertainty are as follows:

(a

Impairment losses for non-current assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of a non-current asset may not be
recoverable, the asset may be considered
‘impaired”, and an impairment loss may be
recognised in accordance with accounting
policy for impairment of non-current assets
as described in Note 2(h)(ii). These assets are
tested for impairment whenever the events
or changes in circumstances indicate that
their recorded carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. When such a decline has occurred,
the carrying amount is reduced to recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the greater
of the fair value less costs of disposal and
the value in use. In determining the value in
use, expected future cash flows generated
by the asset are discounted to their present
value, which requires significant judgement
relating to the level of revenue and amount of
operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount
that is a reasonable approximation of the
recoverable amount, including estimates based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions
and projections of the level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. Changes in these
estimates could have a significant impact on
the recoverable amount of the assets and could
result in additional impairment charge or reversal
of impairment in future years.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)
5t F K (k5 @

3

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 3

(Continued)
Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit loss allowance for trade receivables
Loss allowance for trade receivables is based
on assumptions about the expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
expected credit loss estimation, based on the
Group’s past history, existing market conditions
as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Changes in these
assumptions and estimates could materially
affect the result of the assessment and it may be
necessary to make additional impairment charge
to profit or loss.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of the assets, after taking into account
the estimated residual values, if any. The
Group reviews the estimated useful lives and
residual values, if any, of the property, plant and
equipment regularly in order to determine the
amount of depreciation expense to be recorded
during any reporting period. The determination
of the useful lives and residual values, if any,
are based on historical experience with similar
assets after taking into account the anticipated
changes on how such assets are to be deployed
in the future. The depreciation expense for
future periods is adjusted if there are significant
changes from previous estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

4 WBWARDEHRS

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a)

Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of automotive interior
and exterior decorative components and parts.
Further details regarding the Group’s principal
activities are disclosed in Note 4(b).

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by major products is as follows:

(a)

WA

FEBITERFAEANINEHT
BHERERBFE-EREAERE
BEBNE-—THFBERMHE4L(D)

K EE o

REIZEERHERAENZHAE
oWE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AEBTT

Revenue from contracts with E IR A RS IR S 2R
customers within the scope of BISRHEBERNEETR
IFRS 15 FEITEHZWA

Disaggregated by major products: BETEBERDE .

- Sales of heavy trucks’ decorative = —$HEEARI K
components and parts 45 5 Z B 14 191,469 224,354
— Sales of passenger vehicles’ — i & SR B B AL
decorative components and T E A R AERAE A
parts, and related moulds 51,433 21,479
242,902 245,833

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by the timing of revenue recognition
and by geographic markets is disclosed in Notes
4(b)(i) and 4(b)(iii) respectively.

¥ UK A B 5B B 25 AN it 5 T 35 0 48
HEERB]EHHZWA DR
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)
WARDBHRS (@)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue (Continued) (a) WA (&)
The Group’s customers with which transactions AEBEZXIZ BB ANERKA
have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue are 10%EF A #IMT .
set out below:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF ARETT
Customer A ZEEA 138,797 160,313
Customer B %FB 45,093 50,722
Customer C =EBC 34,317 *
* The revenue from relevant customer does not * HEEEPHNWARGEEEREFE

account for 10% or more of the total revenue of
the Group during the corresponding year.

Details of concentration of credit risk rising from
the Group’s customers are set out in Note 24(a).

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by products.
In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has presented the
following two reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the
following reportable segments.

- Heavy trucks’ decorative components and
parts: this segment includes primarily the
research, development, manufacture and
sale of decorative components and parts to
be installed in heavy trucks.

- Passenger vehicles’ decorative
components and parts: this segment
includes primarily the research,
development, manufacture and sale of
decorative components and parts to be
installed in passenger vehicles, and related
moulds.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4
(Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

WARDEHERS (@

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

()

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources
between segments, the Group’s most
senior executive management monitors
the results attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
and revenue generated by those segments
and direct expenses incurred by those
segments. The measure and revenue used
for reporting segment result is gross profit.
No inter-segment sales have occurred for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and
20283. Assistance provided by one segment
to another, including sharing of assets and
technical know-how, is not measured.

The Group’s other operating expenses,
including other loss/income, selling and
distribution expenses, administration
expenses and finance costs, and assets
and liabilities are not measured under
individual segments. Accordingly, neither
information on segment assets and
liabilities nor information concerning capital
expenditure, interest income and interest
expenses is presented.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers by the timing of revenue
recognition, as well as information
regarding the Group’s reportable segments
as provided to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 is set out
below.

(b) DEIE (@)

()

DEBEE BERERE
RAEOMEBREDEZ
BoEkEER A&EEBRS1T
HEEERUTEERE
AE2ERDWE/EES !

WARBRZ2RZEDBE
CHHEHERZEDBELEDN
EERT 2REEATERD
Zo 23D IBELEUERN G
Ho#H E2024F K20235F12
B1HIESEE I & H I8
DEHEHE - —E@H IS
—EnERENHE (B1F
HEE=ZEEWAREMA#H)
I et = o

FEENHEMEESER &
BHEHMBL W HEM
NHER EEERNMMS
REUREENGBRATEE
BROBEEERN - FILE
ITHEENEBRNER UK
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

4 WARSHBHRS @

(b) AHW|WRSE (@)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities () DEEE BEREE B
(Continued)
2024
Passenger
vehicles’
Heavy decorative
trucks’ components
decorative and parts,
components and related
and parts moulds Total
Ik P B 8 Hff
ERKHE =HH
2L 8 2B 14 HHEER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBFT AREFT AREFT
Revenue recognised EE R E RS
at a point in time from KRB/ EE S
external customers Z WA 191,469 45,586 237,055
Revenue recognised EE—REES
over time from REINEE
external customers Z WA - 5,847 5,847
191,469 51,433 242,902
Reportable segment AI2|WHHAEN
gross profit 36,739 7,196 43,935
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FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4

WARDEHERS (@

(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) DEHRS (&)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities () REEE BEREE B
(Continued)
2023
Heavy Passenger
trucks’ vehicles’
decorative decorative
components  components
and parts and parts Total
Eogith o) FRE
ST 5 6 Z 2B 4 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETF T ARET T AREF T
Revenue recognised at 7£ & — B 5] Bh FE 23
a point in time from KEIIHE S
external customers Z WA 224,354 21,479 245,833
Reportable segment AE2RDHBEF
gross profit 46,744 J7B 47,119
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For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARERSBHRE @)

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b)

(i) Reconciliation of reportable segment
profit or loss

Total reportable segment gross A 2 8 4 & & 7| 42 2B

SERER & ()

(i)

B 2 8 77EF 1R i Z #1 AR
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBT T

profit 43,935 47,119
Other income H g A 3,973 4,101
Selling and distribution expenses & & FF (2,757) (2,764)
Administrative expenses THRX (32,183) (35,558)
Impairment losses on trade B SRR EEE

and other receivables (4,118) (231)
Finance costs AR (7,473) (9,351)
Consolidated profit before R E BRI AR T

taxation 1,377 3,316

(iii) Geographic information

The Group’s revenue is substantially
generated from the sales of automotive
interior and exterior decorative components
and parts in the PRC. The Group’s
business is substantially conducted in the
PRC. Accordingly, no segment analysis
based on geographical locations of the
customers and assets is provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER INCOME

= A, =
AR RMEE
For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

5 HfthiltA

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT T

Government grants (including amortisation T Eh (#2254

of deferred income in Note 22) 405 JIE UK 2 B9 2 5) 3,977 3,112
Net gain on sales of scrap materials IHERBEERBELER
Y 7 % 2 208 571
Interest income B WA 130 265
Net profit on disposal of property, HEVE BERKEBZ
plant and equipment W a5 R 679 154
Net loss on disposal of a subsidiary BEETABFER (995) 9)
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains R (B518) W iFEE (26) 8
3,973 4,101
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6 [MRMRAIEF

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

(a)

Finance costs

BRRAERM T ROBFEUTEERE Y
(a) HMBERZA
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AEBTT

Interests on bank and other loans BT REMEZRFE 6,946 9,296
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEFE 527 55
7,473 9,351

No borrowing costs have been capitalised during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

B E20245F12831H 20234
12B31HMNEERN ) KB EME
E DA NIT= g N
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 6 MEMEIEMN @
(b) Staff costs* (b) E IRz
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, wages and other benefits ¥~ T & K EHMEF]
Contributions to defined contribution 57 f£FUR tR 5t 2l (=X

retirement plan

ARBTT ARBT T

38,737 36,625
3,235 3,140
41,972 39,765

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group
established in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong)
participate in the defined contribution retirement
benefit plan managed by the local government
authority, whereby the subsidiaries are required
to contribute to the scheme at a rate of 16% of
the employees’ basic salaries. Employees of the
subsidiaries are entitled to retirement benefits,
calculated based on a percentage of the average
salaries level in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong),
from the above-mentioned retirement plan at
their normal retirement age.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of Hong Kong
Dollars (“HK$”) 30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

The Group has no further material obligation for
payment of other retirement benefits beyond the
above contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 6 MEMREIEAN @
(c) Other items (c) HfhiaHg
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

Amortisation cost of intangible assets* & Ji2 & £ B9 # 4 Al 7 491 444
Depreciation charge* (Note 11) EZH (FYsE11)
- owned property, plant and —BEYME -BEARKRE

equipment 27,535 32,433
— right-of-use assets —FRAEEE 2,461 1,165

30,487 34,042

Auditors’ remuneration 1% SEM B =
— audit service — B IRTE 2,100 2,100
Research and development costs Bt 3% B 4 8,581 12,608
Cost of inventories” (Note 13(b)) FERA (MsE13(b)) 198,967 198,714
# Cost of inventories includes RMB51,601,000 g FERABERRME TIM A ITE

(2023: RMB49,055,000) relating to staff costs, and
depreciation and amortisation expenses, which
amount is also included in the respective total
amounts disclosed separately above or in Note
6(b) for each of these types of expenses.

B EH A B9 A R #551,601,0007
(20234 : AER#49,055,0007T) °
BEREBENAALXYXBSTREZS
BHAESENME6b)ZZERER
R o
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 & £ 852 5) » ¥ LA B ¥ 5l )

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 #Z&EZXRANFRE
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) ZEETERANMIEE :
profit or loss represents:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT

Current taxation (Note 21(a)): BNHEAFRIE (MizE21(a)) :
Provision for the year  ___________FR#EE 88 . 707
Deferred taxation (Note 21(b)): IRIERIA (M sE21(b)) -
— Origination and reversal of — B B = KB IY E A K O]
temporary differences (1,377) (1,137)
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INCOME TAX

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 #Z5EZXRANFRER @)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) BRERAMREAENRNEEREGS
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: FEZERAR -

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before taxation

ARETR AR®ETT

iR Al E Al 1,377 3,316

Expected tax on profit before taxation,
calculated at the rates applicable to
profits in the jurisdictions concerned

HBRRAEREAEERMNZ
MEAEZBRRAERNZ
TEHAFRIE (BT sE() ~ (i) Bz (iii))

(Notes (i), (i) and (i) 344 829
Tax effect of non-deductible items ARNNEE 2 RMIBERE 311 1,631
Tax effect on preferential tax rate BERXZMREBELE

(Notes (iv) and (v)) (B EE(iv) ~ (v)) 1,068 230
Tax effect on bonus deduction of HfER A 2 MetiENz

research and development costs MRIERZ (I 5E(vi)

(Note (vi)) (2,131) (3,135)
Tax effect of (used)/unused tax losses KEERBH (BEER) RERB

not recognised RUNEENRBEE (181) 15
Income tax BRRIEMZ (589) (430)
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 & £ 852 5) » ¥ LA B ¥ 5l )

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation between actual tax expense
and accounting profit/(loss) at applicable tax

rates: (Continued)
Notes:

(i) The Company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and the subsidiary of the Group incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) are not
subject to any income tax pursuant to the rules
and regulations of their respective countries of
incorporation.

(ii) The subsidiary of the Group incorporated in Hong
Kong is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax rate
of 16.5% for the year ended 31 December 2024
(20283: 16.5%). The entity did not have assessable
profits which is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

(i)~ The subsidiaries of the Group established in the
PRC (excluding Hong Kong) are subject to PRC
Corporate Income Tax rate at 25% for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 25%).

(iv)  The PRC Corporate Income Tax Law allows
enterprises to apply for certificate of “High and
New Technology Enterprise” (“HNTE”) which
entitles the qualified companies to a preferential
income tax rate of 15%, subject to fulfilment of
the recognition criteria. Xi'an Tianrui Automotive
Interiors Co., Ltd. (“Xi’an Tianrui’), a subsidiary
of the Group, is qualified as a HNTE and the
qualification is valid for three years from 2022 to
2025.

(v) Baoji Ruitong Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd.,
established in the PRC obtained approvals from
the tax bureaux in 2021 that they are entitled to
tax benefits applicable to entities under the Third
Phase of the Western Region Development Plan of
the PRC, and enjoy a preferential PRC Corporate
Income Tax rate of 15% for the calendar years
from 2021 to 2030.

(v According to the relevant tax rules in the PRC,
qualified research and development costs, are
allowed for bonus deduction for income tax
purpose, i.e. an additional 100% (2023: 100%) of
such expenses could be deemed as deductible
expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(c) Pillar Two income taxes
The Group operates in the PRC and has several
investment holding companies in the Cayman
Islands and Hong Kong, which has enacted new
tax laws to implement the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. Pillar Two income
taxes does not have a significant impact on the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section

7 EEEERABNFER ¢

(c) B_ZHMIER
AEBETHERNAEES I

EHENENESREETRE
QAT B QT B A
AREBRABAGNE -S4

BARMW LS EMBMGT HERIE-
F_XEMEREEEBRREE
AEH-

8 EEM=E
REEEB AT IFH HE383(1 ){IQ&’&E

383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and (BEEEZMNaEN) RAF2HKE
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information MWEEZ=FHFMOT :
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
2024
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Directors’ fees in-kind bonuses  contributions Total
A 1Y
EzNg BNERN METEL  BAHEIEE M
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETR AEEFR AEETR AEETR AEEFR
Executive directors RITER
Mr. Hou Jianli RERNRE 180 - 220 29 429
Mr Xu Yunhua FEERE (F2024F
(resigned on 19 April 2024) 4519A 1) 20 - 17 5 42
Ms Zhang Jingrong REALL (K004
(appointed on 19 April 2024) 4519A 1) 135 62 26 223
Independent non-executive directors BIUJFHTESR
Mr. Zhu Honggiang PGk 80 - 80
Mr. Zhou Genshu BRELE 80 - 80
Mr. Chen Geng BREEE 80 - 80
575 - 299 60 934
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 & £ 852 5) » ¥ LA B ¥ 5l )

8 EEM=E @

8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

2023
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits Discretionary scheme
Directors’ fees in-kind bonuses contributions Total
A=)
ESHg BNEA HETL  RAGEIER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NS AEBTT AEBTR AEBFT AEBTR
Executive directors HTESR
Mr. Hou Jianli RERRE 180 - 72 62 314
Mr Xu Yunhua HEERE 30 - 122 27 179
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
Mr. Zhu Honggiang RBEE 80 - 80
Mr. Zhou Genshu BRELE 80 - 80
Mr. Chen Geng BHEE 80 - 80
450 - 194 89 733
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FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 9
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,
two (2023: two) are directors whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments

in respect of the other three (2023: three) individuals

are as follows:

RE#MAL
ExEReEFALTRORAEMSB (2023
F MR EF HW=FBEHRERN
MeEg-MNiETECEHIE > HEg=%
(2023%F ! =%) AL B#HBMABREN
o

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT

Salaries and other emoluments e R H M= 707 540
Retirement scheme contributions RORETEHE =R 66 69
773 609

The emoluments of the individuals who are not
directors and who are amongst the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are within the following band:

FEBRLLREHALTPRLEIFESEH
ALBFMARUTEERN :

Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) Nil to ZTHE £ 21,000,000 70

HK$1,000,000

2024 2023
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

AE AE

3 3
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

10 ERER

10 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share for
year ended 31 December 2024 is based on
the earnings attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company of RMB1,966,000 (2023:
RMB3,746,000) and the weighted average of
2,000,000,000 (2023: 2,000,000,000) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings per share
There were no dilutive potential shares
outstanding during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2028.
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(b)
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11

(a)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 NE-BERRE
Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) BREEHIE
Land-use-right Motor vehicles
Plant and leased for  Machingry and and other ~ Gonstruction in
buildings 0Wn Use equipment Moulds equipment progress Total
ffrREn
FRRET  tHERE  BERRE BE HEREMRE FRIR 3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTn  AREfn  ABEBTn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETn

Cost: k.
At 1 January 2023 JR2023E1E1R 72490 9,486 75,607 164,422 11,183 1450 325,268
Additions HE 2,451 - 181 2,070 1211 3,542 10,05
Transfer inffout) g)/ (&) - - - 1,666 - (1,666) -
Disposals i3 = = (2.818) (9,326) (2,950) = (15,094)
At 31 December 2023 12003128918 T4941 9486 BED 1486 10044 36 9
Accumulated depreciation: 2ithg:
At 1 January 2023 R2023%151H (16,053) 824) (31,969) (74,120) (7.068) . (130,048)
Cherge for the year ERg [2.567) (20g) (6,601) 22370) (1.854) = (3359
Writen back on disposals HERED - - 1,109 5,89 1582 - 8,386
At 31 December 2023 12023E 127318 (18,620) (1,030) (37,475 (90,7%) (7,340) = (155,260)
Carrying amount; REf.
At 31 December 2023 120235128318 56,321 8,456 36,145 58,087 2,104 3,326 164,989
Cost: is:
At 1 January 2024 R4EIR1R 74,941 9,486 73,620 148,832 10,044 3,326 320,249
Additions RE 9,803 . 4,200 2,701 1 29,561 46,992
Transfer in/{out] g)/ (&) 642 . 4,051 1 (4754 .
Disposals e (2,638) (5,199) (149) (2,638) . (10818)
At 31 December 2024 R04E128318 82,548 9,486 1600 165,43 8194 18 3648
Accumulated depreciation: BiE:
At 1 January 2024 Ro024%151H (18,620) (1,030) (37475 (90,798) (7,340) (165,260)
Cherge for the year ERSH (3,781) (206) (5,004) (19.223) #76) (29,996)
Written back on disposals HENER 2,838 . 2,964 44 2,015 7,861
At 31 December 2024 HO04EIER1 (19,569) (1,236) (0415 (109,974 (6.20) (177,399)
Carrying amount; REE:
At 31 December 2024 120245125318 62,979 8,250 32,212 45,461 1,093 26,133 179,028

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 11 Y2 -BERHRE @)

(b) Right-of-use assets (b) FERHEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use RERMBEERNE D Z2FERES
assets by class of underlying asset is as follows: ER@FEDTAOT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBT T

Land-use-right leased for own use FEE B ARy - th 5 A 8,250 8,456
Plant and buildings B K iEF 11,894 2,255
20,144 10,711
The analysis of expense items in relation to HEREREENEEREANES
leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows: BESMWT :
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

Depreciation charge of right-of-use  ZtHRAE Z48 58 9 HY
assets by class of underlying asset: fERAEEEFELH !

Land-use-right leased for own use FH1E B By iR R 206 206
Plant and buildings B K iEF 2,255 959
2,461 1,165

Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6(a)) HE&EF S (MizE6(a)) 527 55
Expense relating to short-term leases 12 HA7H & & H th 78 & 18 B8

and other leases ) 661 51
Details of the maturity analysis of lease liabilities EHABEEEaENIHEEHS T2
are set out in Note 20. B A 2R EE200
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FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

12 RBARNKE

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of
subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares

held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Name of subsidiaries
KEAALHE

Baoji Qinrui Automotive Interiors
Co., Ltd. (BERIR BN
BRAR)"

BERRENGEERAR

Xi'an Tianrui Automotive Interiors
Co., Ltd. (BZXTRSERN{E
BRAT) *
BRXEAENHEERAT"

Baoji Ruitong Automotive Interiors
Co., Ltd. (BERBABREH
BRAR) *

BRREAENHHERAT

Henan Ruiming Auto Parts Co., Ltd.
(Wmid ET R ERAR)"

ABREERRERL R

Qingdao Ruihui Auto Parts Co., Ltd.
(BERBREZHEERAT)"

ERIREREEBHERAT

Hefei Ruihui Auto Parts Co., Ltd.

(FERBAEEREERAR)"

SEREAETHAERAT

Ryford Holding Limited **

Ryford Holding Limited **

Tianrui International Holdings
Limited **
R ERERERAT

Place and date of
establishment/
incorporation/operation
L/
ReHRAS

The PRC
24 July 2019

e
20197A248

The PRC
22 May 2009

ek
200955228

The PRC
24 September 2020

lc]
20209248

The PRC
§ May 2024

il
2024%5A8H

The PRC
30 July 2024

HE
2024578308

The PRC
2 March 2023

lc]
2023%E3A28

BV
5 May 2017

RERUBE
201755058

Hong Kong
13 June 2017
&3
2017468138

Particulars of
registered/issued and
paid-up capital
ith/E¥k
HREKHRE

RMB20,000,000

AR 20,000,000

RMB100,000,000

K 100,000,007

RMB20,000,000

AR 20,000,007

RMB2,000,000

AE 2,000,007

RMB2,000,000

AE 2,000,007

RMB2,000,000

AR#2,000,00070

United States Dollars
(USD") 100, 100 shares
of USD 1 each

EnI0RERARIZRD

ki
1,000 shares

1,000 &3

WTFERBEAE

ENEBRNWNBARFE RIFS AR
BoFFENRODENSEER-

Percentage of ownership interest

FEREAN

The Group's
effective

Held by Held by
interest the Company a subsidiary

B[

RRiEx 408KF KELREE
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% 100%
100% - 100%
100% 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% 100%

100% 100% =
100% - 100%
100% - 100%

Principal activities

IREH

Manufacture and sale of automotive interior
and exterior decorative components and
parts

RERNEHTHREREE

Manufacture and sale of automotive interior
and exterior decorative components and
parts

AERNRHTH I RERAE

Manufacture and sale of automotive interior
and exterior decorative components and
parts

RERNEHTBHEREE

Manufacture and sale of automotive interior
and exterior decorative components and
parts

RERNRHTHRERBE

Manufacture and sale of automotive interior
and exterior decorative components and
parts

AERNRHTH I RERAE

Manufacture and sale of automotive interior
and exterior decorative components and
parts

RERNEHTHIHEREE

Investment holding

REZR

Investment holding
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

w5 55 I R M 5

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 & £ 852 5) » ¥ LA B ¥ 5l )

12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 12 ﬁ" MEBABNKE @

The English translation of the name is for identification
only. The official name of the entity is in Chinese. This
entity is registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise
in the PRC.

*k *k

These companies are limited liability companies

E;

J

Z

BEEL BTEAPN > HXEEXEHH
ZEERRTEEMBIIEEERZE-

ENREREREIHEIIEMALNAR

incorporated outside of the PRC. NS
13 INVENTORIES 13 #&
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of (a) EEHBERRARTINEEEEUT
financial position comprise: £I8 :
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BF T ARETFIT
Raw materials and consumables R AR K 5 5 R 8,469 9,193
Work in progress T8 5 7,391 6,398
Finished goods % o 37,285 45,016
53,145 60,607
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories (b) ERPABAIZILFAGESERTRN
recognised as an expense and included in the FESHEANWT :
consolidated statement of profit or loss is as
follows:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR T
Carrying amount of inventories sold B HEHFSMEREE 198,967 198,849
Write down of inventories FEHNEER - (135)
198,967 198,714
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

14 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 14 BS5RKRRIEREKRER
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance B 5 e W IE

(HOBRES B ) 190,842 125,502
Bills receivables FE IS ZE 4% 14,048 41,643
204,890 167,045
All of the trade and bills receivables, net of loss FMEEBESEWMIERERRZ®E KR
allowance for doubtful debts (if any), are expected to IREE (NA)) Bt —FRKE-eo
be recovered within one year.
(a) Ageing analysis (a) BREZ A
At the end of reporting period, the ageing RBEHARERZTERR (WA
analysis of trade and bills receivables, based on BB EH (W®RE)) K30k &8 5
the invoice date (or date of revenue recognition, BENEZRERUREREREZERR
if earlier) and net of loss allowance, is as follows: BomaT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBT T

Less than 3 months Y (ER=IY 99,747 137,323
3 to 6 months Y EVSEENE 49,081 16,205
6 to 12 months 618 8 E1218 B 56,062 13,517
204,890 167,045
Further details on the Group’s credit policy and ERAEECEERRAKREZER
credit risk arising from trade and bills receivables TENERNEEREEENEERRE
are set out in Note 24(a). BE—FTEFBETLHNRHEFE24(a)©
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

14 BRI ARERERKRERE @)

14 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b)

Transfer of financial assets

The Group receives short-term bank acceptance
notes from its customers as a method of
settlement of goods sold. These notes entitle
the Group to receive the full face values from
the issuing banks upon the maturities of these
notes, which generally range from 3 to 6 months
from the dates of issuance.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had
discounted certain of the bank acceptance notes
and endorsed certain of the bank acceptance
notes to its suppliers and other creditors for
settlement of the Group’s trade and other
payables on a full recourse basis. Upon the
above discounting or endorsement, the Group
has derecognised the bills receivables in their
entity. These derecognised bank acceptance
notes have maturity dates of less than six
months from the end of the reporting period.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of these
notes and has discharged its obligation of the
payables to its suppliers and other creditors.
The Group assessed that the discounted and
endorsed bank acceptance notes were issued
by highly-rated issuing banks, the credit risks
were relatively insignificant and the Group was
not exposed to the relative interest risk. At 31
December 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure
to loss and undiscounted cash outflow should
the issuing banks fail to settle the bills on
maturity dates amounted to RMB86,408,000
(2023: RMB96,267,000).
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(b)

HETmEE
FEBBHZT R WEERIERT A
TEERFSEERRN —EEE
BAE-BZERERTAEEEF
URZEREIHEKRIAZIR
THE2EEE 2FRE KA
MEHBES2HAIER E6E
=

R2024F12B31H  xEERE
FTHROTOAREZET TR I
mMEMEEREMEEASESSE
FTHRTARTEZ URTE2ER
BEEGEEAERNE ZENR
B EMENRIE - F U LRt
BEFBFER AEEBBEE2IR
IERBEWRER ZEBEWHK L
BMEBNETARTEZNIHHSF
REWRESFTARBAEA o AR
BEERA LAEEECHEBEZSE
EENFEENEBAISDER M
Bl %k > W B B 17T H H E R Kk E i
BERANNNREE e AEB TG
EMREEREHRERTEAREEZH
ST ANBEERTET EER
Sl o NS 5 i ST
BE A= @ bR o 132024 F 12831
H>WRAZEHRTHREEHREELS
EERCAAEENRABLER
AERBERAERERBARIERES A
E#86,408,00075% (20234 : A
R #96,267,0007T) °©



15 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

Prepayments for acquisitions of property, (a)
plant and equipment

At 31 December 2024, the amount represents
prepayments for the Group’s contracted
procurement of moulds and machinery.

15 FAMRERHEMEKRE

BEVME -BERRXBEOAMNKE

R2024F12B31HMRIBEIERAE
BT UG BEREENIKBENTE
T FRIE °

Prepayments and other receivables (b) FE{FFRIE R E thFE U =R I8
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
Advances to staff [ 8 TE® 3,624 659
Receivables for disposal of property, EWEEBEWE -KER
plant and equipment R ERIE 3,356 6,166
Others HAth 851 562
Financial assets measured at BB HB AT ENEREE
amortised cost 7,831 7,387
Prepayments for purchase of raw REREME AN RIE
materials 8,104 13,661
Other miscellaneous prepayments HMEIBEMNR 4,814 3,378
Value-added tax to be deducted FHILNLER 1,167 1,101
14,085 18,140
21,916 25,527

All of the above prepayments and other
receivables as at 31 December 2024 are
expected to be recovered or recognised as
expenses within one year.

B E2024F12831 0 L Fr B
T8 19 I8 A H At fE W R IE TR 5T R
—FRoWE-ERBERZRE

BEED -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 & £ 852 5) » ¥ LA B ¥ 5l )

16 CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND AND OTHER 16 H{TERFHERESUREMREESHRE

CASH FLOW INFORMATION =
(a) Cash at bank and on hand comprise: (a) BITKFEHREEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T ARET T
Cash at bank and on hand RITARFEREE 95,490 67,475
Restricted bank deposits (Note) ZIREIIRITER (HIsE) 46,770 25,128
Cash at bank and on hand in the REREMBRRERVIEITR
consolidated statement of financial FHERE®
position 142,260 92,603
Less: restricted bank deposits (Note) A ZIREIIRITESR () (46,770) (25,128)
Cash and cash equivalents in the RieReERERNRER
consolidated cash flow statement RBEEEY 95,490 67,475
The Group’s operation in the PRC (excluding AEBEFHERN (FEESTE)
Hong Kong) conducted its business in RMB. HEBUARKET ARER
RMB is not a freely convertible currency and the =EHZBREE  {PHEIEAN (F
remittance of funds out of the PRC (excluding BIEEA) BEHESBETHEIK
Hong Kong) is subject to the exchange FF & i RY SN BE B I 57 7€ o

restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

Note: At the end of the reporting period, bank Misk © EREHLE R BITER)ES
deposits (i) pledged as guarantees for bank £ B 22 1T BU SR 1T A 6 PR 28 Y 4 (R
acceptance bills issued by the Group amounted +% 5 AR 1528,249,00075(2023
to RMB28,249,000 (2023: RMB20,128,000); £ AR#20,128,0007%) ;(ii)fE
(i) pledged against the bank loans amounted AETESMIKFSEAS AR
to RMB10,880,000 (2023: RMB5,000,000); 10,880,0007% (20234 : AR &
and (iii) seized by the court order amounted to 5,000,0007%) 5 LA R (i) 4 5 B 30 40
RMB7,641,000 (2023: RMB Nil). SRS AR H7,641,00078(2023

F:ARBET) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

16 CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
assets and liabilities from financing activities,
including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future

16

TRFEREUKREMRERE

'8 @

(b) RMEEFBEENERNHALD

TERFLFEEREZIMFTE
ErRGBENES GFEREERIF
RE8H -MEZHATERD
RERBEARKREERERN K
EENGERERNERTDES

cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s MEESHMEBRERENEGE
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows
from financing activities.
Liabilities
&f
Bank and Interest Lease
other loans payable liabilities Total
#TR
HtE® E7E HEAR fat
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT  AREFR ARETRT ARETR
(Note 19) (Note 20)
(It&19) (GEZ
At 1 January 2024 #2024E1R1H 102,089 - 2,110 104,199
Changes from financing cash flows: MERERELY.
Proceeds from bank and other loans ROREMERFER 134,780 - - 134,780
Repayment of bank and other loans T’“tiﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁyﬂ (73,180) - - (73,180)
Capital element of lease rentals paid REaBEARENE - - (1,485) (1,485)
Interest element of lease rentals paid HE&EREEENE - - (527) (527)
Interest paid EHE - (6,946) - (6,946)
Total changes from financing cash flows HERETESLHER 61,600 (6,946) (2,012) 52,642
Other changes: Hiti2s
Finance costs (Note 6(a)) FBRA (Hiz6(a) - 6,946 527 7,473
Increase in lease liabilities from entering intonew ~ ENMMNEEEE
leases during the period - - 11,367 11,367
Total other changes B HAEE - 6,946 11,894 18,840
At 31 December 2024 #2024%E12H31H 163,689 - 11,992 175,681
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w5 55 I R M 5

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 & £ 852 5) » ¥ LA B ¥ 5l )

16 CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND AND OTHER 16 ST RFHEREUKHEHMBEERE
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) B @
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) RIEETBHELENEENREES (&)
financing activities (Continued)

Liabilities
=6
Bank and Interest Lease
other loans payable liabilities Total
RITR
HtER EfFIS HE&E M5t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETn ARET: ARETn

(Note 19) (Note 20)
(Kizk19) (GEZ))
At 1 January 2023 #2023%1R1H 130,481 - 539 131,020
Changes from financing cash flows: MERENELE:
Proceeds from bank and other loans ROREMERFETE 90,650 - - 90,650
Repayment of bank and other loans 1 iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂfﬁ%’ﬂ (119,042) = = (119,042)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERGEABENE - - (825) (825)
Interest element of lease rentals paid Eia%' BENE - - (55) (55)
Interest paid ﬁ‘ b - (9,296) - (9,296)
Total changes from financing cash flows HERETSLHER (28,392) (9,296) (880) (38,568)
Other change: Hiti2s
Finance costs (Note 6(a)) BB (iz6(a) - 9,296 Gh 9,351
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into BNNEESR
new leases during the period - - 2,396 2,396
Total other changes Hith 4% - 9,296 2,451 11,747
At 31 December 2023 120234128318 102,089 s 2,110 104,199
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FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

16 CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND AND OTHER 16 #H{TERFHERESUREMREESHRE

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) B @
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) EMMEERE ML
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBT T
Within operating cash flows REEREREN

— Lease rentals paid relating to short- —E 58I E R EBESE
term leases and leases of low-value- EHESEREMBENEES

assets A= 661 51

17 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 17 BE5REARIBERENEZER
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBT T

Trade payables B ENHRIE 97,314 100,716
Bills payable e R 33,823 40,721
131,137 141,437
All of the trade and bills payables are expected to be FMEESENARERENMEEREGTR
settled within one year or are repayable on demand. —FREERREREER-
At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of RESHARERZZHHENEZTEN
trade and bills payables, based on the invoice date, is TERENEENREDMUT :
as follows:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

Less than 3 months 3MEA URN 72,966 66,821
3 to 6 months 3E B 6@ 3 29,663 39,558
6 to 12 months 6EABZE12{8H 15,322 29,734
Over 1 year 1E 13,186 B @24

131,137 141,437
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

18 ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER PAYABLES 18 [EitB X R HME ([ HIE
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT T

Payables for staff related costs B T A B4 e 18 6,692 1,582
Payables for acquisitions of property, BEVE BEAXE

plant and equipment FET FRIE 19,020 13,686
Payables for other taxes H iR IEFE (T RIE 99,00 10,581
Payable in relation to the bills discounting  Z= 4% 8% I8 48 B8 A9 & (< R 1E 19,398 =
Deposits Re8 & 50 474
Others Hth 9,710 7,219

64,770 33,542

All of the accrued expenses and other payables FTERSTHIREMENREBEREGTR
are expected to be settled within one year or are —FRNEERREREER-

repayable on demand.
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FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

19 BANK AND OTHER LOANS

19 RITREMEMR

(a) The Group’s short-term bank and other loans (a) "EFEHRTREMERSIE .
comprise:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT AR T T
Bank loans: IRITEM !
— Secured by trade and bills —HAEEE S EWRIE
receivables of the Group Bz & W ZE 5 $E48
(Note 19(d)) (FFs%19(d)) 6,096 298
— Secured by trade and bills —HAEBERAERS M
receivables of the Group and B 5 e WA TE K FE U
guaranteed by the ultimate ZHRIEE (My5E19(d)
controlling party of the Company M sE27 (b))
(Note 19(d) and Note 27(b)) 8,000 -
— Secured by property, plant and —HEAEEME - -BEX
equipment of the Group R EIEE (fy5E19(d))
(Note 19(d)) 20,000 20,000
- Guaranteed by a subsidiary of the —HF A F#R
Company 28,000 30,000
— Guaranteed by the ultimate —HRAER S IER
controlling party of the Company (fFsx27(b))
(Note 27(b)) 29,920 -
— Secured by restricted deposits — FA BR 1 77 FRIE 1R
(Note 19(d)) (FFs%19(d)) 14,850 10,000
106,866 60,298
Add: current portion of long-term e REBIRTT REMEM
bank and other loans B9 BPHA &6 7
(Note 19(b)) (FF5E19(p)) 28,675 26,988
135,541 87,286
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 & £ 852 5) » ¥ LA B ¥ 5l )

19 BANK AND OTHER LOANS (Continued) 19 |MITRHEMER @
(b) The Group’s long-term bank and other loans (b) *EBERAEFEITREMERTIE .
comprise:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBEFT ARETT

Bank loans: IRITER
— Guaranteed by a third party and the —HE=ZFNREERS
ultimate controlling party of the R (M EE27 (b))
Company (Note 27(b)) 10,000 8,000
— Guaranteed by the ultimate controlling  —HR&ERR 5 ER
party of the Company (Note 27(b)) (F£27 (b)) 10,000 -
— Guaranteed by a subsidiary of the —HFREMREZERS
Company and the ultimate controlling R FF3E27(b))
party of the Company (Note 27(b)) 14,100 9,500
Other loans: HMEMR :
— Secured by property, plant and —HEAEEWE - BE K&
equipment of the Group R AEIEIE (MEE19(d))
(Note 19(d)) 22,723 24,291
56,823 41,791
Less: current portion of long-term B RERTRAEMERBN
bank and other loans (Note 19(a)) BIEAER > (M 5E19(a)) (28,675) (26,988)
28,148 14,803
(c) The Group’s long-term bank and other loans (c) *EEHEEERARITREMER
are repayable as follows: mF
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF ARETT
Within 1 year or on demand 1ERNFIZER 28,675 26,988
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FEBER2ER 22,168 14,803
After 2 years but within 3 years 2FEBENIFERN 5,980 -

56,823 41,791
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FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

19 BANK AND OTHER LOANS (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Certain of the Group’s bank and other loans

19 R1T

(d)

REMER @)
FEENETFROTREMEHAS

are secured by the following assets of the EEMNUATEEEER .
Group:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ABEFT
Carrying value of secured assets: EREEMNIREE
Property, plant and equipment Y E NN =YL 85,071 109,855
Trade and bills receivables B EWRIBEREREE 14,096 298
Cash at bank $R1TE K 10,880 5,000
110,047 115,153
Certain of the Group’s bank and other loans are (e) AEBETROTRAEMERE A

subject to the fulfilment of covenants commonly
found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group were to breach the
covenants, the loans would become repayable
on demand. The Group regularly monitors its
compliance with these covenants. Further details
of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are
set out in Note 24(b). At 31 December 2024,
none of the covenants relating to the bank and
other loans had been breached (2023: None).

ERHESRMEERNEETHEDBE
BN RFE o MAERERZ
FOAZEERRAAEEKRE
B AEBETHERAEBTZSE
LENBR- BREAEBRRHE
TRAREBZE—THEBHNLK
5£24(b)° 122024%F 128318 » #
EENBRBTRAEMEDRN R
# (20234 : £#) o
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 & £ 852 5) » ¥ LA B ¥ 5l )

20 LEASE LIABILITIES 20 #HE&®E
The following table shows the remaining contractual AEBHEEERNAREHRRERE
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of WREHBARUKRREEZE H KR
the current and previous reporting periods to IFRS 16: LEAF16RHANRGSANEEEH
Lo( S
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARET T

Within 1 year 1MW hant 1888
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FBER2FERN 2,857 715
After 2 year but within 5 years 2FBENER 4,694 -
____________________________________________________________ 7,551 _
11,992 2,110

21 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 21 RZFAMBRRAERNFEFAEFR
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Movements of current taxation in the (a) MEESMBKRROEIPRIEEH
consolidated statement of financial position B}IWTF :
are set out below:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT

At the beginning of the year =) 1,251 560
Provision for the year (Note 7(a)) FEREHE (EE7(a) 788 707
Income tax refunded/(paid) FR8MER,/ (| R 14 (16)
At the end of the year REXR 2,053 1,251
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FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 21 WEAHMBERARMNFAER @
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets recognised: (b) IREMRMIEEEEIWNT :
The components of deferred tax assets REEEEHITBENRRTEAER
recognised in the consolidated statement of HREIEREBEELARB D REH
financial position and the movements during the wmr
year are as follows:
Government
grantsand  Impairment  Impairment
subsequent loss on plant losson  Credit loss Right-of-use Lease
amortisation and machinery inventory allowance Accruals assets liabilities ~ Tax losses Total
HRHER EREE
Rl HEBX #AAER% GEFRES EHER FREEE fgaf ille:t it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETz ARETR ARETR  ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2023 202351518 570 33 20 331 74 (114) 187 5,283 6,384
(Charged)/credit to the (BREEERNK) /
consolidated statement of FAREERER
profit o loss (Note 7(a)) (W37() (110) - (20) 3 362 (430) 316 994 1,137
At 31 December 2023 and 1 12023%12B318 K
January 2024 02451518 460 3 - 366 426 (544) 503 6,277 7,521
(Charged)/credit to the (BREEERNK) /
consolidated statement of FAREERER
profit or loss (Note 7(a)) (M37() (110) - - 617 (386) (1,645) 1,643 1,258 1317
At 31 December 2024 12004128318 350 3 93 40 (2,189) 2,146 7,63 8,098
(c) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (c) HMAERHEERIEER

Taxable temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of the subsidiaries of the
Group established in the PRC amounted to
RMB118,819,000 at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB116,853,000), where deferred tax liabilities
in respect of the PRC Withholding Tax that would
be payable on the distributions of these profits,
have not been recognised as the Company
controls the dividend policy of the subsidiaries
and it has been determined that it is probable
that such profits will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future.

R2024F 12331 HAEREREH
BB B A B B & Dk E A A
BHNERREMEEREAARK
118,819,0007T (20234 : A R
116,853,0007c) » HFPEBEM=ZE
A D KBS R E AN R A B Y
RIERMBEEHARR BREZR
ANBEGNBADNRKRE KR
BHEREZSEar R BRKRR
AEFAEDIK
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For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

22 DEFERRED INCOME 22 EEWA
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREBTT
At the beginning of the year B E ) 3,058 3,793
Credited to the consolidated statement of st A4F & BT
profit or loss (735) (735)
At the end of the year RER 2,323 3,058
Deferred income represents government grants FIEWAERERZAERME -HER
received in connection with the construction of the XENEWBAHE MmN EREE
Group’s property, plant and equipment. The grants B BT f6F B EE HE o 31 o AR SE UR A EE 10
are being amortised over the useful lives of the related GEBE@mRNTEMBAIF AR
assets. Amortisation of deferred income is included in
“other income” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.
23 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 23 EXfHERESR
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) HEmIBHAVEE
The reconciliation between the opening and REBRGFEEZS TN EYH
closing balances of each component of the FRGEGENHEHEN GO KR E
Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the EIEI

consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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23 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 23 EB#Xx-f#BERBE @&

(Continued)

(@) Movements in components of equity (Continued)
Details of the changes of the Company’s
individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out

(a) HEmBABNES (B)
ARBERDBORENEER
BHESFBEHINUT :

below:
Share Share Exchange Retained
capital premium reserve profits Total
R RiiEE ER RERH aEs
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  AREFR  ARETRT  ARETR  AE%Tx
MNote 23b)  (Note 23(d)i)  (Note 23(d)i)
(Mskos) (23 (P &E23(0)(v)
At 1 January 2023 1*20235181R 17,622 96,854 5,837 2,266 122,479
Changes in equity for the year B Z2023E12B31HLERE
ended 31 December 2023; BHEy.
Loss for the year rERER (924) (924)
Other comprehensive income EREMZARA
for the year 905 905
To comprehensve income____ EMEERMA ot . w_____ (e2d)______(9)
At 31 December 2023 and 2023128318 &
1 January 2024 2024E1B1A 17,522 96,854 6,742 1,342 122,460
Changes in equity for the year ~ EF2024F12B31A Lk
ended 31 December 2024; Engs.
Loss for the year KEER (390) (390)
Other comprehensive income EREMEERA
for the year 1,371 - 1,311
Totel comprehensve income_____ FARERMN o ___o____ . M0 B0)______ %1
Balance at 31 December 2024 12024128310 17,522 96,854 8,113 952 123,441

ANNUAL REPORT £3§ 2024 197



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

23 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 23 EB#Xx-f#EBKERBEE @&

(Continued)
(b) Share capital (b) BRZ
2024 2023
No. of shares No. of shares
RHHE K82
'000 HK$°000 '000 HK$'000
T BETT i BT
Authorised: B
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each  &REE0.01ETHNSER 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000
2024 2023
No. of Shares RMB'000  No. of Shares RMB’000
ROYE ARETT Rn#E ARETT
Ordinary shares, issued and BETRBENEER
fully paid:
At 1 January and 31 December ~ #1B1HK12831H 2,000,000,000 17,522 2,000,000,000 17,522
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23 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 23 EB#Xx-f#BERBE @&

(Continued)

(c) Dividends

()

(i)

Dividends payable to equity shareholders
of the Company attributable to the year
The directors of the Company do not
recommend the payment of a dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB Nil).

Dividends payable to equity shareholders
of the Company attributable to the
previous financial year, approved and
paid/payable during the year

The directors of the Company did not
declare a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: RMB Nil).

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

Share premium

The application of the share premium
account is governed by the Companies
Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands as
amended, consolidated or supplemented
from time to time.

Other reserve

The other reserve at 1 January 2017
represented the paid-in capital of a PRC
subsidiary of the Group, namely Xi’an
Tianrui.

In 2017, Xi’an Tianrui reduced its paid-
up in capital from RMB100,000,000 to
RMB50,000,000. The reduction of capital
was used to set-off the amounts due from
the controlling shareholders.

Pursuant to the Reorganisation completed
on 14 November 2017, the Company
became the holding company of the
companies now comprising the Group
and accordingly, the paid-in capital of
the PRC subsidiary of the Group was
eliminated against the consideration of
RMB67,500,000 when preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

(c) BE

()

(ii)

FERAETE DT BRFEL R
B
EFEfEZIINEE2024
FE12HB31BLEEEMNRKRE
(2023 : AR#EZ 7¢) o

TR EE— 1AM EFEES
MR RRIGRE  B#
BUEFEZFEZ T

NBEEFTESEIREE2023
F12B31HIEFEE R RHR
B (2022F : A\RH¥EZ ) o

(d) HENEEREDN

(i)

(i)

BR17EE

B EBERZERBSIERNK
B - GEaABTNEESE
ERTE (BT RE-

B
R2017FE1B1EHBE Mt H
EAEE—FRTEKNBAFT
(BPAZ X)) NEBRKA -

20175 > AL KInBIE &
A~ AR #100,000,000
THEAR®50,000,000
TC o 3 IR A B9 R D B RS I 8H
JE U 22 RS AR BR Rk I o

BER2017FE11814H 5%
MHEH ARABRBELE
EREEETSATIZERA
B AL 2 & F@ R o R B
NENEBELBEERE LG
EFFREFEABMLALEA
R #67,500,0007T M #Y o
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23 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 23 EB#Xx-f#EBKERBEE @&
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iiij) Statutory reserve
In accordance with the relevant PRC laws
and regulations, the Group’s subsidiary
established in the PRC is required to
transfer 10% of its net profit each year
to the statutory reserve until the reserve
reaches 50% of the registered capital.
The transfer to this reserve must be made
before distributions to equity holders.
This reserve can be utilised in setting off
accumulated losses or increase capital
of the subsidiary and is non-distributable
other than in liquidation.

(iv) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
the companies comprising the Group into
the Group’s presentation currency. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in Note 2(s).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a
balance between the higher shareholder returns
that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

200 CHINA TIANRUI AUTOMOTIVE INTERIORS CO., LTD HEXI#SENEHAIRAS

(d)

(e)

HEENMEERB (@)

(iii)

(iv)

ARG
RIFEBRTBERRER
AEBRRPEKILNE L
BABEMEEREBEH
MFR10%  EEHBEED
HEMEARME0% M & H
BRERARDERZFEEADIK
AIfFH - Z A ARIEE
MEARDMNRSEENIEE
BRAEBEIINFRETDIK-

ERHRE

ERREELERBERERE
EEZABHNUHERERAR
MEEBEEREKELEZF
BOMNE = 88 o & R IR 1% MY
FE2(s)FTE 2 Bt BRI -

BEFrERE

FEEEEBEAZTEZENER
EAEEENREFECEEE
ME > EMEBARRERER
WERKRHAMA AR E U MR
REBARBUBRBEARRAE -

FEBRTHENERAKREERSA
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23 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 23
(Continued)

24

(e)

Capital management (Continued)

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
are subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s
business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial
risk management policies and practices used by the
Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade and other receivables. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and
cash equivalents and bills receivables is limited
because the counterparties are banks and
financial institutions with high credit standings,
for which the Group considers to have low credit
risk.

The Group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk.

24

BEX -RHEERRE @

(e) EXER (@
ARBHEEAMBEBLTAHESR
RICIINAREMBOEERFRE ©

BHERBEEREMIAQARE

FEE-RIME - MNEXNEEARESE
BHNESEZBRERELE-

rEBFEENEERRBUKREER
HEEEEREBMEBNMBREARE
BRRMIEM W TP -

(a) EERK
ERERREXSZHFERES
EE%F SRNEEFBRERINE
o AEBNEERREEZRA
B RAEMEBBMRE - ZEEE
RehkREFEYRERZEM
AXNEERABRER AAXRS
HFRRTOKEREE HEEH
FhEs FEERXSEGCERR
& o

FEBTRHRBEAEEBEEE
ERBIERHEMER-
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MERGEEREMIAARE

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry in which the
customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At 31 December 2024, 67.5% (2023:
57.3%) of the total trade and bills receivables,
was due from the Group’s largest debtor, and
95.3% (2023: 97.5%) of the total trade and bills
receivables was due from the Group’s five largest
debtors, respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days
from the date of billing. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using
a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based
on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.
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24

(&)

(a)

EERRE (&)
AEEBBRNGEERBEES R
EEHNENBERFAFZE MIER
PREMMEMNIITE> AL EKX
ErN EERBEITERAEE@TR
BRAZEAHNERABRES P
2024%F12831H B 5 E WA
REWERBE 267.5% ((2023
& 157.83%) 5295.3% (20234 :
97.5%) DRl AEWAERRAE
BARAKRBEHBEAZRIE

AEBHRNBEREEBRE-—ETHE
WRREZERGETHEHRE&F
o RETEETRELRBER
1 B B3 R0IE 2 58 &k K 3R B 4 RS
BENURERERIETRFNARE
MREEREEMEMONEER
EAERNEN BZEBKMER
HEHHEBI0EIOHRIIH - &
EE-—RAWRENEZERERSG-

FEERBSTNACAFHNRE
HEEBERZZRFEEZRK
MERGNEEGRER B#H
TENDERREFEERAERSH-
HRAEBRELFEBRERT
BETIARMIERERE LR
AHNBREREEZEE BALER
BFAREEFERABERRARE
—SPENAEBRBRTENE P B
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FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

MERAREEREMIRARE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following table provides information about
the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs
for trade receivables at 31 December 2024 and

(&)

(a) =ERAK @
E 5 EWIE (8)
TRIEHRBBAAEEN2024F &
2023F12H31HE RN E & & &
REZREWMIENTEREEEE

2023: ZE R
2024
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHAESE =X AR E BiEEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBFTRT ARETT
Ageing analysis of B S EURFRIEERES 24T :
trade receivables:

Less than 3 months 31E B LA 1.3% 93,778 (1,192)
3 to 6 months 3E6ME A 4.6% 44,217 (2,023)
6 to 12 months 6E1218H 4.6% 58,750 (2,688)
Over 1 year 1L E 100.0% 650 (650)
Total #act 197,395 (6,533)
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 24 BI#EREGEERESHIAEAE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (48)

(Continued)
(@) Credit risk (Continued)

(a) EERRKE &

Trade receivables (Continued) B ZEIIE (&)
2023
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TERART I = AR E(E BEER
% RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR®TRT

Ageing analysis of B 5 EUFRIERES 24T ¢
trade receivables:

Less than 3 months 31E B A 0.5% 96,261 (481)
3 to 6 months 3E6ME A 3.0% 16,706 (501)
6 to 12 months 6ZE121E A 5.0% 14,228 (711)
Over 1 year 1EM 100.0% 742 (742)
Total st 127,937 (2,435)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss BHEBEBXDERBELENE
experience over the past recent years. These BEELSRBTESE ZEMX
rates are adjusted to reflect differences between A DA BR UL & FE SR B HR
economic conditions during the period over H&ERT - ERIAR TR ARE
which the historic data has been collected, HEKRBERAFANLEAR R
current conditions and the Group’s view of NEZZENER-

economic conditions over the expected lives of

the receivables.
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MERREEREMIAQAAE

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 24
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)
(@) Credit risk (Continued)

(&)

(a)

FERRE (&

Trade receivables (Continued) B ZEIIE (&)
Movements in the loss allowance account in FNEHREZENRZEBENEE®G
respect of trade receivables during the year are IR ES) B R T
as follows:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EFT AEBEFT
Balance at 1 January ®1 81848 2,435 2,204
Impairment losses recognised ERRIRERK 4,118 231
Balance at 31 December 12831 B A 6,553 2,435
(b) Liquidity risk (b) FEIEEEMRE

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

AEBNEREEHERRABE
TERREBETFTEEZEHEBER
BREAEBERFZANRE R
BOUAREIBETHEBNEE
M AERERE > mEHE
HARRARBHESETE K-
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 24 BHMEEKEBEERERIAAARE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (#8)
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REEEZEE (&)

The following table shows the remaining TRETNTAEBRETESHRE

contractual maturities at the end of the reporting BERSHERENRGRENI

period of the Group’s non-derivative financial BB HEHiEs

liabilities, which are based on:

- contractual undiscounted cash flows - EaRFMRBEER (BEFER
(including interest payments computed ERMEXFENHNE LA
using contractual rates or, if floating, HEFZHMNEBRT  ER
based on rates current at the end of the REBHARPRTHE) UK
reporting period) and the date the Group EERESREREZMNHNA
is contractually required to pay, or if the B HEBURRGHFFE
counterparty has the choice of when the BEESNER (BEmES
amount should be paid (irrespective of the BT THAETR) »EEA R
fulfilment of covenants), the earliest dates WERIZNNWREHE; &
the Group can be required to pay; and

- expected undiscounted cash flows — PEHREHAEEBREIEA
provided to the Group’s key management ENRTIRBERE N A
personnel and the date the Group is (B WRIRE R
expected to pay, shown as adjustments to M,/ HEEREERITER
the contractual undiscounted cash flows BEmRABR ERAHS
if the timing and/or amount to the cash FIRFTRBTROFE -
flows are expected to be different from the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

2024 2023
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
THRERRSRE STHFERRER
More than ~ More than ~ More than More than ~ More than
Within 1 year 2 years 3 years Within 1 year 2 years
1 year but less but less but less 1 year but less but less
oron than than than Carrying oron than than Carrying
demand 2 years 3 years 5 years Total amount demand 2 years 3 years Total amount
1ERE  BB1E B BESE 1ERE BB Bk
BEX LR EORIE  BOMSE fh REE REX  EORE  BORSE &3t REf
RMBO0D  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO0O
ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ABETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET:

Bank and other loans BOREMER 138,416 22,748 6,136 - 167,300 163,689 88,625 15,005 - 103630 102,89

Lease liabilties HESE 4,388 3,152 2,483 2,480 13,003 11,992 1,435 749 - 2,184 2,110

Trade and bills payables REHRAGEN

measured at amortised cost  ZREMFHER
LGS 131,187 - - -3 130T 141497 5 B TRk AR VAW

Accrued expenses and REHERATEN

other payables measured EHEREM
at amortised cost I8 54,870 - - - 54,870 54,870 22,961 - - 22,961 22,961
320311 25900 8,619 2480 366310 361688 254458 15754 - 20212 268597
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 24

MERREEREMIAQAAE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (#&)
(Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) F=ERE
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily AEBNMNEXRBREZRBEFE
from interest-bearing borrowings. Borrowings BE - BENRIDMNEIRETE
issued at variable rates and at fixed rates expose FMEER SAEED B KT
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair FREMNEXEREAADENEXR
value interest rate risk respectively. % o
The following table details the interest rate TRIFAEBNRRSHERNRL
profile of the Group’s total borrowings at the end BEMNEXBEEFE
of the reporting period:
2024 2023
Effective Effective
interest rate Amounts interest rate Amounts
BIRFE E ] L TilES i 0]
% RMB’000 % RMB'000
ARBTR AEETR
Fixed rate borrowings EIEHEEE
- Lease liabilities -fHE&RE 2.09-6.00% 11,992 6.00-8.10% 2,110
- Bank loans —RITER 2.75-6.00% 140,966 3.75-7.50% 77,798
- Other loans —HEER 2.80-5.81% 22,723 5.67-11.97% 24,291
Total borrowings HREETE 175,681 104,199
Fixed rate borrowings as a BEFXEELABENE DL
percentage of total borrowings 100% 100%
(d) Currency risk (d) SRS
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily AEBFEHE 2EBERAREER
through receivables and cash balances that BUSNE MR EB2EHE 2
are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a MEBEBUIIZE) JEZEBES
currency other than the functional currency of FEWHIEBE RIS F o5 HILE
the operations to which the transactions relate. BE2EBTFTEABARE HN&
The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily FHFX > AEBEMERR R TR
RMB. At the end of the reporting period, the EKXo
related risk of the Group is not material.
(e) Fair value measurement (e) ARfEEFE

Fair values of financial instruments carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are
not materially different from their fair values at 31
December 2024 and 2028.

FTHEAAREIIRHEHBTRAALE

20244 K%2023FE12H31H » &
EEERARBHBRETENS
MTEANEEEREQAFTEL &
BAER
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

25

26

27

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 25 EERE
During the reporting period, the Group has complied REHRN REBETIHEANINERERE
with domestic and overseas laws and regulatory Ko BEGFE—LEEMBENRAURE
requirements. Notwithstanding certain insignificant MR RFR BEBEEEAHLEEEDN
lawsuits as well as other proceedings outstanding, BEFREHAEBNMBRRAEELEEKR
management believes that any resulting liabilities will AT Lo
not have a material adverse effect on the financial
position of the Group.
COMMITMENTS 26 &Ik
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December R2024F12H31HELZ S M B ®RK
2024 not provided for in the consolidated financial FEBENARENERERBEDOT @
statements were as follows:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREBTT
Commitments in respect of purchase of EHEEME - BEK
property, plant and equipment R R R IR
— Contracted for — B354 25,504 22,377
MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27 EXBABMAERS
In addition to the balances disclosed elsewhere in BRAGEUBRREMBOMITEDN
these consolidated financial statements, the Group EERIN REBREARNST LU TR S
entered into below related party transactions during R e
the year.
(a) Key management personnel remuneration (a) EEEEASHMN
Remuneration for key management personnel AEBFTEEEBEAEHFHNEEE
of the Group, including amounts paid to the NAERRBEZSHRIE (N ES
Company’s directors as disclosed in Note 8 Fiig®) RENE TR HMNES
and certain of the highest paid employees as TIE (G UM sEOFT IR ER) Wl R -
disclosed in Note 9, is as follows:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBTT
Short-term employee benefits EHEERT 1,581 1,184
Post-employment benefits BAREBEF 126 158
1,707 1,342

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs”
(see Note 6(b)).
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27 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27 Z= AR AR S &)
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions with related party

(b)

R Bk 32 52

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT

Guarantees provided by the ultimate Hizk IR ARIZERR HIRHEH

controlling party of the Company at 1% (:1819)

end of the year (Note 19)

72,020 17,500

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

None of the above related party transactions
for the year ended 31 December 2024 falls
under the definition of connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(c)

ERABXBZz EmRNZERM

HE2024F12831HIEFE £t
A SHES A EmREE
UABEFTATHEB S A FER

BRXENERES -
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A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (5 & F85& 5) » ¥ XN B ¥ 517T)

28 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 28 ARE@mMZHMBERRIR
POSITION
2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M 5E AR® T ARETFIT
Non-current asset ERFEE
Investment in a subsidiary ~ KHMEBABZKRE 2o 67,456 | 67,456 _
Current assets REEE
Amount due from a subsidiary EW—EM B AR ZIE 55,693 54,332
Cash at bank and on hand RITkFHERES 292 672
Net currentassets ~  wHEEF&E 00 55985 | 55,004
NET ASSETS BEEFEH 123,441 122,460
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARRKGEE 23
Share capital RN 17,522 17,522
Reserves B 105,919 104,938
TOTAL EQUITY WS 4E%E 123,441 122,460

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 27 March 2025.

EEZN2025FE3H27TH M E W IR

ER

Hou Jianli Zhang Jingrong
FZEA REES

Chairman Director

zE BE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBmRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F12831H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 B F B5& S » ¥ LU N B 51 7T)

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING

PARTY

The directors of the Company consider the immediate
holding company of the Company at 31 December
2024 to be H&C Group Holding Limited, which is
incorporated in the BVI, and the ultimate controlling
party of the Company at 31 December 2024 to be Mr.
Hou Jianli and Ms. Chen Bierui. H&C Group Holding
Limited does not produce financial statements
available for public use.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR

ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the IASB has issued a number of new or amended
standards, which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

29

30

ERRREERS

KRB EEBRDA > RN2024F12831
BEARBAMNBEEESFAREBEX
BEEEMAIIMH&C Group Holding
Limited o 22024512831 H & A &
BRAER D ABERRNSLE RBRB R Z
+ cH&C Group Holding Limitedil £
RETHERRBEARER o

8, F£2024F12H31HLLFEECHE
HEMREMNETA  FEL K
REMNTIRETE

HEAMBRERTERQR HEEHE
AIEEEEEMLS BRI A - ELEEA
EHE2024F12831HNEEHKE
Mo BEEAREAMBREPHEB-HE
ETS A AERAE B BRE ¢
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBHRRME

For The year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H IEFEE
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (b5 & £ 852 5) » ¥ LA B ¥ 5l )

30 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 30 # ZE2024F12831HLEEBEME

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED R REMIETA ~ FTEER K
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR 2EBNAEEE @

ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (Continued)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RTIBEBAHZE
B E AR ER

Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange
rates — Lack of exchangeability 1 January 2025
BIPR S st ERFE2158 — I EEFE I ZE © h= A B IREAIEET 2025%1H1H
Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments and IFRS 7, Financial 1 January 2026

instruments: disclosures — Amendments to the classification and
measurement of financial instruments

BRI SR E R FEOR (2 LA REEYFERZERETTE 2026%F1H1H
(EHITH: KE-THITAZERGE) FIEFT

Annual improvements to IFRSs — Volume 11 1 January 2026
BRM B RS ENFELE-—F11E 2026%F181H
IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027
PR BA 75 3R 55 ZE B 551855 — A7 5 #R & -0 B9 51 FR AL % 2F 20271818
IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027
BRI SR EERFE19R —FE AR EEF L BRI E 20271 81H
The Group is in the process of making an assessment KEFEIENEZEME] R EL B
of what the impact of these developments is expected REXRERBHENEE - 2S5 2EH
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has RO FERAZEEITIRMENTRNKARES
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to GEVMBRRERNEAZE -

have a significant impact on the consolidated financial

statements.
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